
PLANNING COMMITTEE

10.00 AM - TUESDAY, 23 FEBRUARY 2021

REMOTELY VIA TEAMS

ALL MOBILE TELEPHONES TO BE SWITCHED TO SILENT FOR THE 
DURATION OF THE MEETING

PART 1

1. Declarations of Interest  

2. Minutes of the Previous Meeting  (Pages 5 - 6)

3. To Request Site Visit(s) from the Applications Presented  

Report/s of the Head of Planning and Public Protection

Section A - Matters for Decision

Planning Applications Recommended for Approval

4. Application No. P2020/0992 - Bevin Avenue, Sandfields  
(Pages 7 - 48)
Refurbishment of the existing 69 no. 2 bed flats, conversion of 3 no. 
2 bed flats to 3 no. new 1 bed flats and the construction of an 
additional 1 no. 2 bed and 54 no. 1 bed flats, with associated car 
parking, landscaping and infrastructure works, at land North of 
Bevin Avenue, Sandfields, Port Talbot.

5. Application No. P2020/1071 - Land at Heol Tabor, Cwmafan  
(Pages 49 - 68)
Construction of 4 x detached bungalows and 2 x semi-detached 
dwellings (Outline application with all matters reserved) at land at 
Heol Tabor, Cwmafan, Port Talbot.

AGENDA



6. Application No. P2020/1041 - 45 Victoria Road, Sandfields  
(Pages 69 - 86)
Change of use from Convenience Store (Use Class A1) and 
associated 4-Bed Flat (Use Class C3) into 8-Bed House of Multiple 
Occupation (Sui Generis Use Class), including installation of new 
windows, at 45 Victoria Road, Sandfields, Port Talbot.

7. Enforcement - Non-Expediency Report - Goshen Park Access, 
Skewen  (Pages 87 - 90)

8. Urgent Items  
Any urgent items at the discretion of the Chairman pursuant to 
Section 100B(4)(b) of the Local Government Act 1972.

K.Jones
Chief Executive

Civic Centre
Port Talbot Monday 15 February 2021

Committee Membership: 

Chairperson: Councillor S.Paddison

Vice 
Chairperson:

Councillor S.Pursey

Members: Councillors C.J.Jones, D.Keogh, R.Mizen, 
S.Bamsey, R.Davies, S.K.Hunt, A.N.Woolcock, 
C.Williams, S.Renkes and M.Protheroe

Cabinet 
UDP/LDP 
Member:

Councillor A.Wingrave



Requesting to Speak at Planning Committee

The public have a right to attend the meeting and address the Committee 
in accordance with the Council’s approved procedure  which is available 
at www.npt.gov.uk/planning.

If you would like to speak at Planning Committee on an application 
reported to this Committee you must:

 Contact Democratic Services in writing at : Civic Centre, Port Talbot 
SA13 1PJ, preferably by email: democratic.services@npt.gov.uk. 

 Ensure your request to speak is made no later than two working 
days prior to the meeting date (by 2 pm on the preceding Friday 
based on a usual Tuesday meeting), 

 Clearly indicate the item number or application number on which 
you wish to speak and confirm whether you are supporting or 
objecting to the application.

 Give your name and address (which will be publicly available unless 
there are particular reasons for confidentiality)

Please note that only one person is able to speak for each ‘category’ 
(objector; supporter; applicant/agent; Town/Community Council for each 
application.  Full details are available in the Council’s approved 
procedure.

In addition, if an objector registers to speak, the Applicant/Agent will be 
notified by the Council.

Should you wish to discuss any aspect of public speaking, please contact 
the Democratic Services Team on 01639 763713.

Commenting on planning applications which are to be reported to 
Committee

Should you wish to submit representations on an application presented to 
this Planning Committee, please note that these must be received by the 
Planning department no later than 2.00p.m. on the Friday before 
Committee (based on the usual Tuesday meeting).  If the meeting is not 
on a Tuesday, these should be received no later than 2.00pm on the 
penultimate working day immediately preceding the Planning Committee. 

http://www.npt.gov.uk/pdf/procedure_note_for_new_%20planning_cttee_arrangments_final_version.pdf
http://www.npt.gov.uk/planning
mailto:democratic.services@npt.gov.uk
http://www.npt.gov.uk/pdf/procedure_note_for_new_%20planning_cttee_arrangments_final_version.pdf
http://www.npt.gov.uk/pdf/procedure_note_for_new_%20planning_cttee_arrangments_final_version.pdf


Please note that representations received in accordance with the 
Council’s protocol are summarised and, where necessary, commented 
upon in the form of an Amendment Sheet, which is circulated to Members 
of the Planning Committee by email on the evening before Committee, 
and re-distributed prior to the commencement of the meeting.



PLANNING COMMITTEE

(REMOTELY VIA TEAMS)

Members Present: 2 February 2021

Chairperson: Councillor S.Paddison

Vice Chairperson: Councillor S.Pursey

Councillors: D.Keogh, R.Mizen, A.N.Woolcock, C.Williams, 
S.Renkes, M.Protheroe, S.K.Hunt and 
C.J.Jones

UDP/LDP Member: Councillor A.Wingrave

Local Members: Councillor J.Hale (Bryncoch South)

Officers In 
Attendance:

C.Morris, S.Ball, M.Shaw, R.MacGregor, 
D.Thomas, J.Griffiths, S.Jenkins, L.Morgan and 
T.Davies

1. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

The following Member made a declaration of interest at the 
commencement of the meeting:

Councillor 
C.Williams 

Re: Agenda Item 4, Planning Application 
No. P2019/5304, Aldi, Neath Abbey, as he 
is an employee of Tesco Stores Ltd. He did 
not consider his interest as prejudicial so 
was able to vote and speak.

2. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING 

RESOLVED: That the minutes of the previous meeting held 
on 15 December, 2020 be approved.

Page 5

Agenda Item 2



20221

3. TO REQUEST SITE VISIT(S) FROM THE APPLICATIONS 
PRESENTED 

That no site visits be held on the applications before committee 
today.

4. AMENDMENT SHEET 

Note: Two amendment sheets in relation to Application Number: 
P2019/5304, were circulated prior to the meeting, on which the 
Chairperson had allowed sufficient time for Members to read, in 
respect of the application item on the published agenda, the 
Chairperson had permitted urgent circulation/consideration thereof at 
today’s meeting, the particular reasons and circumstances being not 
wanting to defer any applications and to ensure that Members take all 
extra relevant information into account before coming to any decision 
at the meeting.

5. APPLICATION NO. P2019/5304 - ALDI, NEATH ABBEY 

Officers made a presentation to the Planning Committee on this 
Application (Erection of a Class A1 foodstore (Aldi Stores Ltd) (1,899 
sqm gross floor area) with associated access, car parking and 
landscaping (amended red line to facilitate improved access and 
visibility splays) at land adjacent to CSN Precision Engineering, 
Neath Abbey Road, Neath, SA10 7BR) as detailed in the circulated 
report.

The local ward members were present to give their representations, 
as well as a registered speaker against the application, and the 
applicant, who exercised his right of reply.

RESOLVED: That in accordance with Officers’ 
recommendations, and subject to the 
conditions detailed in the circulated report, 
Application No. P2019/5304 be approved.

CHAIRPERSON

Page 6



SECTION A – MATTERS FOR DECISION 
 
Planning Applications Recommended For Approval 

 

APPLICATION NO: P2020/0992 DATE: 25/11/2020 

PROPOSAL: Refurbishment of the existing 69 no. 2 bed flats, conversion of 3 
no. 2 bed flats to 3 no. new 1 bed flats and the construction of an 
additional 1 no. 2 bed and 54 no. 1 bed flats, with associated car 
parking, landscaping and infrastructure works 

LOCATION: Land North of Bevin Avenue 

APPLICANT: Tai Tarian 

TYPE: Full Plans 

WARD: Sandfields East 

 
BACKGROUND 
 
This application is brought before Members for a decision as a ‘major’ application of 
wider public interest. 
 
SITE AND CONTEXT 
 
The application site is approximately 2.4 hectares in size, and currently comprises 6 
blocks of three storey flats (69 no.) which lie to the south-west of Moorland Road, 
east of Dalton Road, and to the north and east of Bevin Avenue.  
 

 
Figure 1 Site Location Plan 

 
The existing 6 blocks of flats are 3 stories high, finished in golden spa dash and 
painted render and have traditional tiled pitched roofs; they are set at a 90o to Bevin 
Avenue and Moorlands with intervening areas for parking and amenity space. An 
aerial photo is shown on figure 2 below. 

Page 7

Agenda Item 4



 

.  
Figure 2: Aerial photo of existing flats 

 
To the south-west of Bevin Way is the New Sandfields and Aberavon Sustainable 
Regeneration Centre, and directly to the east are sports facilities which include an 
indoor bowls centre, together with an all-weather pitch, and the Afan Lido football 
ground. To the rear of the regeneration centre is the Aberavon Leisure Centre and 
adjacent Reel Cinema. 
 
The remainder of the area is residential; parts of the site are run down and in great 
need of modernisation with some flats boarded up. The photographs below show how 
the site currently looks. 
 

   

 
Figure 3: photographs of the existing site 

 

Page 8



It should be noted that the site is in close proximity to Aberavon beach and the 
promenade which are considered to be one of the main tourist attractions within 
Neath Port Talbot, attracting people from all over the county and further afield. 
 
Over the years there has been expanding development of a number of uses, including 
cafes, play facilities, care homes and residential dwellings along the beach frontage.  
The promenade acts as a shared pedestrian and cycle route, with National Cycle 
Network (NCN) Route 887 running along the promenade and linking back up at both 
ends with NCN Route 4.  
 
DESCRIPTION OF DEVELOPMENT 
 
The development proposes the refurbishment of the existing 72 no. 2 bed flats, 
including the conversion of 3 no. 2 bed flats to 3 no. new 1 bed flats and the 
construction of an additional 55 units (1 no. 2 bed and 54 no. 1 bed flats) all of which 
will be affordable housing.  
 
The new build will (in summary) comprise the addition of a mix of 2, 3 and 4-storey 
‘end blocks’ to the six existing blocks, plus one of 5-storeys on the south-western 
corner linking blocks 5 and 6.  Central linking blocks are also proposed between 1 
and 2, and 3 and 4. 
 

 
Figure 4: Concept Masterplan 

 
The proposal also includes significant enhancement to the existing blocks through 
‘retrofitting’, including replacement dark grey monopitch roofs with PV panels, 
insulating the buildings to highest standards, making them airtight and installing 
External Wall Insulation (EWI) and efficient heating systems, plus new anthracite 
uPVC windows and aluminium louvres and box cladding. 
 
 

Page 9



The existing car parking provision at the site is very informal in nature (3 areas 
between blocks 1/2, 3/4, and 5/6), with spaces not demarcated. The development will 
formalise and increase the site car parking allocation to 92 spaces (which will be 
spread over 4 car parking areas and 2 small areas off Bevin Avenue).  In addition, it 
will enhance the remaining 2 amenity areas including a variety of landscaping, plus 
additional landscaped areas throughout the site, and the provision of cycle and bin 
storage areas. 
 
The applicant has advised that the development is seeking grant funding from Welsh 
Government as part of their innovative housing programme  
 
All plans / documents submitted in respect of this application can be viewed on the 
Council’s online register.  
 
NEGOTIATIONS 
 
Officers have, prior to statutory pre-application consultation, engaged in extensive 
dialogue over the development especially in terms of design, scale and massing. 
 
PRE-APPLICATION CONSULTATION  
 
In accordance with the Town and Country Planning (Development Management 
Procedure) (Wales) (Amendment) Order 2016, statutory Pre-Application Consultation 
(PAC) was carried out by the developer.  
 
The consultation exercise took place between 24th Aug 2020 and the 22nd Sept 2020. 
The consultation involved notifying local residents within the surrounding area, 
together with Ward members, and specialist consultees.  
 
23 representations were received at PAC stage (4 neutral, 19 objecting), which raised 
issues concerning residential amenity, scale/ visual amenity and highway and 
pedestrian safety. However, these raised no fundamental issues, with the applicant 
having sought to address many of these issues during this process. 
 
PLANNING HISTORY 
 
The application site has the following relevant planning history: - 
 

 P1989/7412 – Section 53 application for a satellite dish. Decided 18/11/89.  

 
CONSULTATIONS 
 
Head of Engineering and Transport, (Highways): No objection subject to 
conditions 
 
Head of Engineering and Transport, (Drainage): No objection subject to SAB. 
 
Biodiversity Unit: No objection subject to conditions. 
 
Natural Resources Wales: No objection subject to condition and informative. 

Page 10

http://appsportal.npt.gov.uk/ords/idocs12/f?p=Planning:2:0::NO::P2_REFERENCE:P2020/0992


 
Contaminated land: No objection subject to conditions. 
 
Welsh Water: no objection subject to SAB and informative. 
 
Fire and Rescue Service: The developer should consider the need to provide 
adequate water supplies for firefighting purposes on the site. 
 
Wales and West Utilities: Provided standard comments in respect for the need for 
developers to get a copy of their up-to-date gas plans and general conditions before 
commencing any work. 
 
Environmental Health (Noise): No objection subject to conditions 
 
Environmental Health (Air Quality): No objection subject to conditions 
 
Crime Prevention Design Advisor: No objection, and has made comments, with a 
view to the development achieving the Secured by Design (SBD) Gold Award which 
it is required to achieve, under the Welsh Government’s Development Quality 
Requirements (DQR) for grant funded social housing projects. 
 
Housing Officer: has advised that the redevelopment is in the Welsh Government 
Social Housing Grant programme and will comprise affordable housing. 
 
REPRESENTATIONS 
 
The neighbouring properties were consulted on 26/11/2020 and 05/02/2021.  A site 
notice was displayed on 26/11/2020 and 05/02/2021 with the application also 
advertised in the press on 28/11/2020. 
 
In response, to date 3 no. representations have been received (although 
subsequently one of the objectors withdrew their objection). A summary of the 
remaining two objectors are as follows: -  
 

 A block of flats is to be built directly adjacent to my bathroom window, the 
building across this will block light into my kitchen and bathroom. I will have no 
privacy at all. 

 An objector’s shed will be taken away to accommodate a proposed block. 

 Why can't the car park go out the front, if you live in a house you park your car 
out front, gardens are out the back. 

 The communal gardens are out the front of the flats, where there is a busy 
road, so not safe for our children and grandchildren to play, also anyone can 
walk across the proposed garden’s, so not private at all.  

 Moorland road is like a race track of an evening. 

 Works will cause disruption and loss of our community is at stake. 

 The green area which is the extension of the pavement is providing safe walk 
for children going to school, beach or other activities, parents with push chairs, 
people on wheelchairs, dog walkers, etc. The opposite pavement is used for 
cars pulling in and out of their driveways. 

Page 11



 Moorland Road particularly between Dalton Rd and the Red Dragon restaurant 
is already congested with parked cars (people have several cars per 
household). Buses going through it makes it even more challenging and 
awkward. The area is already over built and driving through it is not an easy 
job particularly in the morning, school time and rush hours. 

 There are plenty of blind spots in this area and extending the existing building 
line up to the road will create several potential accident spots because of the 
obscured vision for the cars coming out of these buildings.  

 The houses on the other side of the proposed buildings get the sunlight from 
this direction only. Therefore, to build high rising flats closer to them will no 
doubt deprive them from it  

 The proposed plan is actually taking away the green part of it which should be 
protected and even promoted by the council.  

 Increasing the number of existing accommodation is obviously full of risks. 
Therefore, the existing building line must be protected in this area. 
 

REPORT 
 
The Well-being of Future Generations Act (Wales) 2015 places a duty on the Council 
to take reasonable steps in exercising its functions to meet its sustainable 
development (or wellbeing) objectives. This report has been prepared in 
consideration of the Council’s duty and the “sustainable development principle”, as 
set out in the 2015 Act. In reaching the recommendation set out below, the Council 
has sought to ensure that the needs of the present are met without compromising the 
ability of future generations to meet their own needs. 
 
National Planning Policy: 
 
Planning Policy Wales (Edition 10) was extensively revised and restructured at the 
end of 2018 to take into account the themes and approaches set out in the Well-being 
of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015, and to deliver the vision for Wales that is 
set out therein.  
 
PPW10 takes the seven Well-being Goals and the five Ways of Working as 
overarching themes and embodies a placemaking approach throughout, with the aim 
of delivering Active and Social Places, Productive and Enterprising Places and 
Distinctive and Natural Places. It also identifies the planning system as one of the 
main tools to create sustainable places, and that placemaking principles are a tool to 
achieving this through both plan making and the decision making process. 
 
Paragraph 4.2.23 states ‘Development plans must include clear policy criteria against 
which applications for housing development on unallocated sites will be considered. 
Infill and windfall sites can make a useful contribution to the delivery of housing. 
Proposals for housing on infill and windfall sites within settlements should be 
supported where they accord with the national sustainable place making outcomes 
 
PPW is supported by a series of more detailed Technical Advice Notes (TANs), of 
which the following are of relevance: - 
 

 Technical Advice Note 2:    Planning and Affordable Housing (2006)  

Page 12

https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-02/planning-policy-wales-edition-10.pdf
https://gov.wales/technical-advice-notes


 Technical Advice Note 5:    Nature Conservation and Planning (2009) 

 Technical Advice Note 11:  Noise (1997)  

 Technical Advice Note 12:  Design (2016)  

 Technical Advice Note 16:  Sport, Recreation and Open Space (2009)  

 Technical Advice Note 18:  Transport (2007)  
 

Local Planning Policies 
 
The Development Plan for the area comprises the Neath Port Talbot Local 
Development Plan which was adopted in January 2016, and within which the 
following policies are of relevance: 
 
Strategic Policies: 
 

 Policy SP1  Climate Change 

 Policy SP2  Health  

 Policy SP3  Sustainable communities 

 Policy SP4 Infrastructure 

 Policy SP5  Development in the Coastal Corridor Strategy Area 

 Policy SP7 Housing Requirement 

 Policy SP8 Affordable Housing 

 Policy SP10 Open Space 

 Policy SP15 Biodiversity and Geodiversity 

 Policy SP16  Environmental Protection 

 Policy SP18  Renewable and Low Carbon Energy 

 Policy SP19  Waste Management 

 Policy SP20 Transport Network 
 

Topic Based Policies :  
 

 Policy SC1 Settlement limits 

 Policy I1  Infrastructure Requirements 

 Policy AH1  Affordable Housing  

 Policy OS1  Open Space Provision  

 Policy OS2  Protection of Existing Open Space 

 Policy TO4  Walking and Cycling Routes 

 Policy EN8  Pollution and Land Stability  

 Policy RE2  Renewable and Low Carbon Energy in New Development 

 Policy W3  Waste Management in New Development 

 Policy TR2  Design and Access of New Development  

 Policy BE1  Design  
 

Supplementary Planning Guidance:  
 

The following SPG is of relevance to this application: - 
 

 Planning Obligations (October 2016) 

 Parking Standards (October 2016) 

 Affordable Housing (October 2016) 

Page 13

https://www.npt.gov.uk/7328
https://www.npt.gov.uk/7328
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=35
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=35
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=37
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=41
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=45
file://///decs-fs1/decsgroup/Planning%20Management/Steve/OFFICER%20REPORTS%20PROJECT/Policy%20SP7%09Housing%20Requirement%09https:/www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf%23PAGE=53
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=56
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=59
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=72
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=74
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=78
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=80
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=83
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=38
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=39
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=57
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=60
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=60
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=69
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=69
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=74
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=80
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=82
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=84
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=87
https://www.npt.gov.uk/pdf/spg_planning_obligations_oct16.pdf
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/spg_parking_standards_oct16.pdf
https://www.npt.gov.uk/pdf/spg_affordable_housing_oct16.pdf


 Pollution (October 2016) 

 Open Space & Greenspace (July 2017) 

 Design (July 2017) 
 
EIA and AA Screening  
 
The application site exceeds the Schedule 2 threshold for development of this type 
as outlined within the Environmental Impact Assessment Regulations. As such the 
application has been screened in accordance with the requirements of Schedule 3 of 
the Regulations.  
 
The findings of the screening report were that the scale and nature of the potential 
impacts associated with the development both alone and in combination with other 
developments within the area would not be of a type that would require the carrying 
out of an Environmental Impact Assessment or the subsequent submission of an 
Environmental Statement in support of the application.  
  
The proposed development is not located within a zone of influence for any SAC, 
CSAC or Ramsar sites and as such it is considered that an Appropriate Assessment 
as set down within the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 is not 
required.  
 
Issues 
 
Having regard to the above, the main issues to consider in this application relate to 
the principle of development, together with the impact on the visual amenity of the 
area, the impact upon resideitnal amenity both from existing residential properties 
and future occupiers of the development; highway safety, land contamination, noise, 
air quality and biodiversity. 
 
Principle of Development 
 
The proposed development is located within the residential settlement of Sandfields 
East as defined by Policy SC1 of the Neath Port Talbot Local Plan, therefore the 
principle of the redevelopment of an existing residential complex (brownfield site) 
would be acceptable subject to an assessment of the acceptability in terms of other 
policies within the LDP, and there being no unacceptable issues with regard to visual 
amenity, residential amenity or highway and pedestrian safety. 
 
Density 
 
Policy BE1 (8a) of the adopted Local Development Plan states that ‘normally a 
minimum of 35 dwellings per hectare in the Coastal Strategy Area or a minimum of 
30 per hectare in the Valleys Strategy Area’ will be required. 
 
This site falls within the Coastal Strategy Area where a minimum of 35 dwellings per 
hectare will be required. The application site as a whole is approximately 2.4 hectares 
in size, so with the additional 55 units the overall site density would increase from 30 
dwellings per hectare (dph) (72 units) to 52.91 dph (127 units).  The density is thus 

Page 14

https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/spg_pollution_oct16.pdf
https://www.npt.gov.uk/media/7239/spg_open_space_july17.pdf
https://www.npt.gov.uk/media/7237/spg_design_july17.pdf
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=87


considerably higher than the minimum required and demonstrates the efficient use of 
land required under Policy BE1. 
 
Affordable Housing 
 
The development will be 100% Affordable housing, this is identified as a key issue 
under Policy AH1 of the adopted Local Development plan and it is also a ministerial 
priority for the Welsh Government. As noted later in the report, a condition will be 
attached requiring a minimum of 25% of the units remain affordable in perpetuity. 
 
Impact on Visual Amenity 
 
Planning Policy Wales emphasises the need to embrace the concept of placemaking 
in order to achieve the creation of sustainable places and improve the well-being of 
communities, noting (at 3.3) that ‘Good design is fundamental to creating sustainable 
places where people want to live, work and socialise. Design is not just about the 
architecture of a building but the relationship between all elements of the natural and 
built environment and between people and places. To achieve sustainable 
development, design must go beyond aesthetics and include the social, economic, 
environmental, cultural aspects of the development, including how space is used, 
how buildings and the public realm support this use, as well as its construction, 
operation, management, and its relationship with the surrounding area’. 
 
Strategic Policy SP21 seeks to conserve and enhance the built environment and 
historic heritage, with Policy BE 1 - Design – expecting all development proposals to 
demonstrate high quality design which fully takes into account the natural, historic 
and built environmental context and contributes to the creation of attractive, 
sustainable places.  The Policy then provides the following criteria which need to be 
met where relevant: - 
 

1. It  complements  and  enhances  the  character  and  appearance  of  the  site,  
building  or  area  in  terms  of  siting,  appearance,  scale,  height,  massing  
and  elevation treatment; 

2. It  respects  the  context  of  the  site  and  its  place  within the local landscape, 
including its impact on  the  important  arterial  gateways  into  the  County  
Borough,  its  effects  on  townscape  and  the  local  historic and cultural 
heritage and it takes account  of  the  site  topography  and  prominent  skylines  
or  ridges; 

3. It utilises materials appropriate to its surroundings  and  incorporates  hard  
and  soft  landscaping  and  screening where appropriate; 

4. It  would  not  have  a  significant  adverse  impact  on  highway safety, the 
amenity of occupiers of adjacent  land or the community; 

5. Important  local  features  (including  buildings,  amenity  areas,  green  spaces  
and  green  infrastructure,  biodiversity  and  ecological  connectivity)  are  
retained and enhanced as far as possible; 

6. It  achieves  and  creates  attractive,  safe  places  and  public spaces, taking 
account of ‘Secured by Design’  principles  (including  where  appropriate  
natural  surveillance,  visibility,  well-lit  environments  and areas of public 
movement); 

Page 15



7. It  plays  a  full  role  in  achieving  and  enhancing  an  integrated transport 
and communications network  promoting  the  interests  of  pedestrians,  
cyclists  and public transport and ensures linkages with the  existing 
surrounding community; 

8. It  uses  resources,  including  land  and  energy,  as  efficiently as possible 
through: 

a. Making  the  best  and  most  efficient  use  of  the  land  available  
through  being  of  appropriate  density  taking  into  account  the  
character  and appearance of the area, normally a minimum of  35 
dwellings per hectare in the Coastal Corridor  Strategy Area or a 
minimum of 30 dwellings per  hectare in the Valleys Strategy Area; 

b. The layout and form of the development does not  preclude  the  
reasonable  use  of  other  adjacent  land; 

c. Developing  brownfield  land  in  preference  to  greenfield land where 
possible; 

d. Minimising building exposure while maximising solar gain. 
9. Its drainage systems are designed to limit surface  water run-of and food risk 

and prevent pollution; 
10. The  layout  and  design  of  the  development  achieves inclusive design by 

ensuring barrier free  environments,  allowing  access  by  all  and  making  full 
provision for people with disabilities. 

 
Technical Advice Note 12: Design, July 2014, also refers to the need to consider local 
context and character, but at a broad level. In reference to the layout of development 
on page 19 states that; 

 
4.11 “Scale - of development in relation to surroundings, including height, 
width and length of each building proposed within the development; how the 
massing of the proposal contributes to the existing hierarchy of development 
to reinforce character; how the mass and height impacts on privacy, sunlight 
and microclimate; and how height impacts on the attractiveness and safety of 
neighbouring public space.” 
 
4.12 “Layout of development - how the layout makes the development 
integrate with its surroundings whilst taking into consideration the orientation 
of the building to maximise energy efficiency and connectivity (the ways in 
which routes and open spaces within the development are provided, situated 
and orientated in relation to each other and to buildings and spaces outside 
the development); how the external area contributes towards the development 
and is used to make the development a more sustainable development; how 
is the chosen site the best location and how it links into adjacent uses.” 
 

Local Planning Authorities should ensure that the proposed developments should not 
have an unacceptable impact upon the character and amenity of an area. 
 
Within this overarching Policy context, and noting especially the need to embrace the 
principles of placemaking, it is clear that this development has at its heart a 
determination to not only improve the visual appearance and energy performance of 
the buildings and site in general, but more importantly to improve the quality and use 
of the spaces between the buildings and create a desirable place to live, which could 

Page 16



foster greater social interaction and community cohesion.  The principles behind such 
a scheme are thus wholeheartedly supported, albeit the assessment below seeks to 
ensure that the general scale, form and finished layout would not only accord with 
such aspirations but also have no unacceptable local impacts. 
Proposed New Build Accommodation 
 
The scale of the proposed new flats has been influenced by the existing residential 
development neighbouring the site, in order to respect the residential amenity of 
residents. Given existing two storey dwellings along the length of Moorland Road and 
the eastern end of Bevin Avenue, the scale of the proposed flats to the ends of the 
blocks will remain two storey in height. The scale of the flats then increases 
incrementally up to 5 storeys towards the western end of Bevin Avenue where the 
area opens up.  
 
The increase in massing and height is shown on the 3D images below, which illustrate 
that both the new 2 and 3 storey elements to the end blocks, together with the larger 
5 storey block in the southern corner of the site, have been sensitively designed 
having regard to the surrounding areas (and comments made by the LPA during pre-
application discussions) to ensure the scheme would have no unacceptable impacts. 
Indeed, views from wider area and even the seafront would likely be greatly improved 
as a result of the proposals. 

 

 
Figure 5 (3 dimensional views of the development) 

Page 17



 
 

Figure 6 Artist impression of the development 

 
While it is noted that the new build accommodation would be sited upon the existing 
wide grass ‘verges’ (incidental open space), when considered as a whole it is 
considered that the new build accommodation would be acceptable in terms of its 
scale and general impact on the amenity of the area, with the development creating 
a sense of place which would have a significant positive impact upon the visual 
character of the application site and wider area. 
 
In reaching this conclusion it is especially notable that the proposals would result in 
a significant visual improvement when compared with the dated design and concrete 
structure of the existing blocks of flats. The proposals help redefine a sense of place, 
thus creating a high quality environment and stronger sense of community. 
 
Materials (Retrofit and New Build) 
 
For both the new build and the retrofit elements of the project there is a choice of 
materials to clad the building in, with the enhanced energy performance of the existing 
accommodation achieved with external insulation. The development will then be 
finished in a combination of bricks, brick slips, various cladding, louvres, anthracite 
upvc windows, anthracite doors in aluminium and upvc, cladded roofs, some with 
solar, and Juliet balconies with safety glass (see example below at figure 7). 

  
Figure 7 materials to Existing and New build blocks 

Page 18



 
Figure 8 Materials New Blocks 

 
 
It is also noteworthy that the scheme has been reviewed by the Design Commission 
for Wales in Sept 2020, with their report stating that “overall, this is an interesting and 
potentially high-quality proposal integrating commitment to the Wellbeing Future 
Generations Act, provision of good quality dwellings, retrofit improvements and 
enhanced building and energy performance.”  
 
It is thus considered that the pallet of innovative materials, and design features 
incorporated within the development provides a modern refreshing look to both 
existing and proposed new build, and that a condition can be imposed to ensure 
further details/samples of the materials are provided to ensure the colours finishes 
are acceptable.   
 
Landscaping 
 
The existing six blocks are split into three ‘groups’ of 2, each with a central area of 
parking, and separated from each other by an open area of incidental open space. 
The ‘frontage’ to Bevin Avenue and Moorland Road also comprises incidental open 
space, which (as identified above) will partly be built upon, as will the open area to 
the southeast which will provide additional car parking areas (and an Active Travel 
route through the site). 
 
Although the development results in the loss of areas of incidental open space, the 
overarching landscaping masterplan seeks to provide significant enhancements to 
the two existing central areas of space (see figure 9 below).   
 
 

Page 19



 
Figure 9: Landscaping Design 

 

Such masterplan takes into account the integration of an innovative sustainable 
drainage system (which will require separate SAB approval) comprising permeable 
paving, rain gardens and bio-basins. These two area of enhanced open space will 
provide a varied recreational environment for all residents to enjoy, with landscaping 
seeking to provide “semi-natural habitats reflecting the open dune environment, 
shady inland woodlands and the transitional landscape between the two”. Plants will 
be selected from a pallet of native and wildlife-friendly species.  
 

In this respect, it is considered that the enhanced large amenity areas for residents 
and planting throughout the site will significantly enhance the areas not only in terms 
of visual amenity but also biodiversity interest (addressed later in this report). It is also 
noted that the increased parking areas have been sensitively designed and broken 
with strategic planting including trees and hedgerows.  These areas will also integrate 
the development into its landscape, helping create the sense of place and enhancing 
the opportunity for residents to utilise these areas and promote greater community 
cohesion.  
 

Bin, Cycle and Mobility Storage 
 

The site plan shows the position of new bin stores and cycle storage, however whilst 
details of siting and appearance have been provided no details of their internal layout 
have been provided. In addition, it is noted that some of the bin storage does not have 
a path leading to them. It is also not clear if any mobile scooter storage has been 
provided, whether this is incorporated into the cycle storage or separate. A condition 
can be imposed to ensure these details are provided and to ensure that they are 
provided prior to the first beneficial use of the site. 
 

Visual Amenity Conclusion 
 

The existing site is undoubtedly ‘of its time’ and the existing residential blocks and 
wider site are in need of investment.  In this regard, while this innovative housing 
development seeks to add a significant amount of new built development, this will be 
undertaken in an acceptable way which in combination with the significant changes 
to the external fabric and appearance of the existing units, and the wider site layout 
and landscaping, will ensure that the overall siting, design and form is appropriate, 
significantly improving the overall character of the site and its contribution to the wider 
area.   

Page 20



The scheme as a whole also reflects the wider placemaking aspirations of Planning 
Policy Wales.  Accordingly, it is concluded that the proposed development will have 
a positive impact upon the character and appearance of the area and be in 
accordance with Policies SP21 and BE1 of the LDP. 
 
Impact on Residential Amenity 
 
Overlooking, overbearing and overshadowing issues with the existing in relation to 
the existing dwellings surrounding the site 
 
The applicant has paid particular regard to the layout and taken advice from Officers 
at pre-application stage, thus ensuring adequate distances between boundaries and 
habitable windows are kept. The impact upon each area is considered below: 

 
Bevin Avenue 
 
In terms of overbearing and overshadowing impacts, blocks 1 to 4 (identified on figure 
10 below) are the nearest to these houses, the proposed new-build development is 
set approximately 18.6m away from the front elevations of these dwelling across an 
intervening road. Blocks 1 to 3 are 2 storeys in height with block 4 increasing to 4 
storeys, with the new block linking 5 and 6 at the far end being 5 storeys. The 5 storey 
block is sited away from nearby dwellings.  
 
Having regard to the relationship with nearby dwellings on Bevin Avenue, it is 
considered that the separation distance between the dwellings and new build blocks, 
especially the 5 storey block, would ensure that there would be no unacceptable 
overshadowing or overbearing impact on the dwellings on Bevin Avenue. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Figure 10*: OS Plan identifying the no. of blocks (for purpose of this assessment) 
 

In terms of potential overlooking, each flat on the end of blocks 1 to 3 which directly 
face the houses on Bevin Avenue has one habitable room window. However this a 
small secondary windows serving an open plan living/kitchen area, and located on 

BLOCK 2 

BLOCK 1 

BLOCK 3 

BLOCK 4 

BLOCK 5 

BLOCK 6 

Page 21



the kitchen side of the room. The main window for this room is much larger and looks 
into the site. As such to prevent any issues of overlooking these secondary windows 
can be obscurely glazed by condition to prevent any issue of overlooking.  
 
The end of block 4 has a corner window which serves a habitable room, which is 
18.5m from the front elevation of the community building on Bevin Avenue. It is 
considered that whilst under the 21m guideline there is an intervening road and front 
gardens that would lessen any impact, furthermore this is a community building and 
not a residential property. As such it is considered that the development would not 
have an unacceptable impact in terms of overlooking. The relationship between the 
development is shown on figure 11 below.  
 

 
Figure 11 Separation distances:  Bevin Avenue, Coronation House and Crompton House 

 
Coronation House and Cardigan House 
 
The side of Coronation house and Cardigan house which are flats within the control 
of Tai Tarian, side onto the development, with both of these blocks having one side 
facing habitable window. In terms of overshadowing and overbearing; the new build 
sections (which are closer than the existing elements) would be approximately 18.5m 
minimum from the side of these buildings, across a car park. It is considered that this 
is sufficient distance to ensure the new build elements would have no unacceptable 
overshadowing or overbearing impact. 
 
In terms of overlooking the window on the side of block 6 serves a habitable room 
and is sited approximately 20.5m away from to the side facing window, a similar 
relationship occurs with a habitable window on the opposite end of block 6 and the 
side facing windows on Coronation House with a separation distance of 20.5m. Whilst 
just under the 21 m guideline this is considered to be acceptable due to the angles 
between the windows.  As such it is considered that there in no unacceptable impact 
in terms of overlooking. (This relationship can also be seen on figure 11 above). 
 
Moorlands Road 
 
In terms of overbearing and overshadowing impacts, the new block at the end of 
blocks 1 to 4 are two storey and at the ends of block 5 and 6 are 3 storey, the same 
as the existing blocks. These are located a minimum distance of 15m from the front 

Page 22



elevation of the houses across. It is considered that the separation distance between 
these new end blocks is sufficient to ensure there is no unacceptable overshadowing 
and overbearing impact on the dwellings on Moorlands Road. 
 
In terms of overlooking, each flat has a secondary window that fronts onto Moorlands 
Road, which would serve a kitchen/living area.  The window is small and on the 
kitchen side of the room, with a larger window also serving this room which looks into 
the site. As such to prevent any issues of overlooking a condition can be imposed to 
ensure these secondary windows are obscurely glazed which will prevent any issues 
of overlooking. As such it is considered that the development would not have an 
unacceptable impact in terms of overlooking. The relationships between the proposed 
developments is shown on figure 12 below.  

 
Figure 12: Separation distances - Moorlands Road and Dalton Road 

 
Dalton Road 
 
The new build sections (which are closer than the existing elements) would be a 
minimum 20.5.m distance from the front elevation from these dwellings. It is 
considered that this is sufficient distance to ensure the proposal will have no 
unacceptable overshadowing or overbearing impact. 
 
In terms of overlooking the window on Moorlands/Dalton side serves a habitable room 
and is sited approximately 24.5m from the front elevation of these dwellings, A similar 
relationship occurs with a habitable window on the opposite end Bevin/Dalton where 
there is another lounge window with a separation distance of 20.5m. Whilst just under 
the 21m guideline this is considered to be acceptable in this instance and is lessened 
due to the busy intervening road and front gardens. As such it is considered there is 
no unacceptable impact in terms of overlooking. (This relationship can also be seen 
on figure 12 above). 

It is noted that an objector has expressed concern that the houses on the other side 
of the proposed buildings get the sunlight from this direction only, and that building 
high rise flats closer to them will deprive them from it.  However, the impact on these 
properties has been assessed in detail above and it is considered that separation 

Page 23



distances are sufficient to ensure there would be no unacceptable impacts in relation 
to overshadowing or overbearing impacts on the existing properties surrounding the 
site. 

Overlooking, overbearing and overshadowing issues within the proposed 
development. 
 
In terms of potential overlooking, the development has been designed to allow an 
acceptable distance between units to ensure that the proposal will safeguard the 
residential amenities of future occupiers. While the relationship between some 
windows fall marginally short of the councils 21m distance between habitable room 
windows, this is similar to those for existing flats and as such this is considered to be 
acceptable. There are some other new habitable windows at 45o angles to each other 
with a separation distance of 7.2m, which is in excess of the 6m distance required (at 
this angle) and as such acceptable. Overall it is considered that the distance between 
habitable rooms is acceptable. 
 
In terms of potential overshadowing and overbearing impacts, for the most part the 
development has been designed to ensure there is no unacceptable impact, however 
the development does present some instances where there is an impact. The main 
impact the development has is where the 5 storey block intersects the existing blocks 
5 and 6, with a habitable room window serving a bedroom located immediately 
adjacent to where the 5 storey building intersects.  This will undoubtedly have a 
detrimental impact upon these rooms, albeit this will lessen at upper floors. This 
relationship is shown on figure 13 below. The applicant has been made aware of 
these issues and it was considered that there is no physical mitigation that can be 
undertaken. Any future tenant of these flats would have the option to refuse them if 
they had any issue with light to this window. Furthermore the Applicant has advised 
that if any of their tenants in the future had any issues with any units they would do 
everything that they could to rectify these matters.  

 

 
Figure 13: Proposed Plan showing the impact upon habitable room windows 

 
 
 

Page 24



Another area of concern, albeit not as significant, is on the end block where the 
bedroom windows on the end have been relocated to the side. (This is shown on 
figure 14 below).  The new blocks at the end have a slight impact upon the 45o line 
of the bedroom windows on these end flats (Fig. 15). You can see from the plan that 
this impact is very minor and would not cause any unacceptable impact to the 
occupiers of these units. 

 
Figure 14:  existing floor plans showing existing bedroom window 

 
 

 
Figure 15 : Proposed floor plans 

 
An objector has stated that “A block of flats is to be built directly adjacent to my 
bathroom window, the building across this will block light into my kitchen and 
bathroom, I will have no privacy at all.” As stated above these issues have been 
looked at however for clarity the plan below (figure 16) shows that the new build 
element is 5m from the habitable room and therefore will not unacceptably overbear 
or overshadow this room and the window and 10m at an angle to the nearest 
habitable room window on the new development this is in excess of the guidance 
(which is 6m when taking into account the angle), as such there will be no 
unacceptable loss of privacy. Furthermore as noted before Tai Tarian has advised if 
any people moving into the development has issues they will do all that they can to 
rectify their concerns. 

 
Figure 16: Plan showing objectors property 

Page 25



Amenity Space 
 
With regard to amenity space, it is considered that the proposed layout provides 
adequate and enhanced shared amenity space for future occupiers. These space are 
also well overlooked providing a safe environment for occupiers which will benefit 
their health and wellbeing. 
 
In response to representations received, the following are noted: - 
 

 A neighbour has objected about the removal of their shed, this would be a 
matter between Tai Tarian who are the landlord and the occupier and not a 
material planning consideration. 

 

 An objector also stated “that the communal gardens are out the front of the 
flats, where there is a busy road, so not safe for our children and grandchildren 
to play, also anyone can walk across the proposed garden’s, so not private at 
all.” The communal gardens are located within the blocks of flats and not next 
to a busy road, whilst there are landscaped areas at the front onto Dalton 
Road, these are to enhance the visual amenity and biodiversity. 

 
Bin storage/ cycle mobility scooter storage 
 
It is envisaged that kerb-side refuse collection will take place at the site, with bin 
stores located within the carry distance of 30m for residents and within a distance of 
25m by which a refuse collection vehicle can obtain access as referenced by Manual 
for Streets (2007). The site plan shows the position of bin stores and cycle storage, 
but whilst details of siting and appearance have been provided no details of their 
internal layout or how they will be used has been provided. It is noted that some of 
the bin storage does not have a path leading to them and one is located in front of 
habitable windows on Dalton Road (shown on figure 17 below). It would be 
considered beneficial to relocate this if possible so that it doesn’t impact upon these 
windows. It is also not clear if any mobile scooter storage has been provided whether 
this is incorporated into the cycle storage or separate.  To address such matters as 
far as practicably, a condition can be imposed to provide final details and siting of the 
bin storage areas. 
 

 
Figure 17: Plan showing location of bin store on Dalton Road 

Page 26



Provision has been made for cycle storage, however further details are required in 
relation to their siting and design to ensure this is sufficient. It is also considered that 
provision be made for mobility scooter storage within the development. A condition 
can also be imposed requiring a scheme to look into this and provide storage areas 
for future residents. 
 
Noise 
 
In terms of noise from construction (which has been raised by an objector), it is 
generally accepted that during construction there would be some disturbance from 
this development to residents however this would be transient in nature. The applicant 
has advised that they will manage the works and ensure there are no resident living 
in the parts of the development they are working on. That being said there will still be 
residents in close proximity to the development, as such a Construction 
Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) can be conditioned to ensure issues such 
as noise disturbance is kept to a minimum. A further condition can also be imposed 
restricting construction times to further protect residential amenity during this time. 
 
The Local Authority’s Environmental Health officer has advised there is minimal 
documentation on the actual construction phasing or methodology. Also that it is 
unclear as to whether the steel framework will require structural underpinning or 
whether on some of the blocks this will amount to curtain walling. As such they have 
recommended a Construction Noise and Vibration Management Plan be provided, 
stipulated working hours, and also recommended a CEMP a piling method statement 
if piling is required. 
 
In respect of potential noise and disturbance from the development it is acknowledged 
that there will be more traffic generated from the development, while the introduction 
of a new parking area to the south of block 6, plus upgraded footpath/cycle route, 
have the potential to increase activities in closer proximity to the residents to the 
south.  Nevertheless, on their own, and in the context of the scheme as a whole, it is 
considered that any noise generated from this development would not be 
unacceptable. 
 
Lighting 
 
In terms of external lighting, no details have been provided with this application. As 
external lighting may be required for such a development, including external areas 
and footpaths, it is necessary to impose a condition to ensure adequate details are 
provided prior to any lighting being installed to ensure any future lighting does not 
have an unacceptable impact upon the amenity of surrounding residential properties.   
This would also ensure that there is no unacceptable light spill onto neighbouring 
properties. 
 
Construction lighting may also cause a nuisance, as such the Construction 
Environmental Management Plan condition will also consider construction lighting. 
 

Page 27



Residential Amenity Conclusion 
 
Having regard to the above, it is concluded that the proposal would introduce new 
blocks that would create some issues relating to overshadowing of habitable widows 
within the development (not outside of the development), however whilst not ideal 
these issues where considered to be at their worst would be upon units within the 
control of the applicant, and unfortunately there is not design alternative to alleviate 
this issue. The applicant is fully aware of this and understand the issues.  
 
However it is considered the overshadowing of some of the units would not be 
sufficient reason to warrant a reason for refusal of the application, notably having 
regard to the numerous other benefits the development would have in relation to the 
innovative housing design, the enhanced fabric of the buildings, the vastly improved 
landscaped open space and public realm and the wider regeneration a project such 
as this would have upon the surrounding area. As such it is considered that the 
proposed redevelopment of this site would have no unacceptable impact on 
residential amenity and would comply with Policies BE1 and EN8 of the LDP. 
 
Parking and Access Requirements and Impact on Highway Safety 
 
Policy TR2 identifies that proposals will only be permitted where appropriate levels of 
parking and cycling facilities are provided and that the development is accessible by 
a range of travel means, including public transport and safe cycle and pedestrian 
routes.  
 
Policy BE1 requires, amongst other things, that new development has no significant 
adverse impact on highway safety, with Policy TR2 emphasising that development 
proposals will only be permitted where all of the stated criteria are satisfied, including 
that “(1) The development does not compromise the safe, effective and efficient use 
of the highway network and does not have an adverse impact on highway safety or 
create unacceptable levels of traffic generation. 
 
The additional 55 flats proposed would bring the total number of dwellings at the site 
to 127.  (69 No. 2 bed and 58 No.1 bed). The development is proposed to be 
accompanied by a total of 93 car parking spaces. A number of vehicular access points 
currently serve the development via Moorland Road, and it is proposed to provide 
one further vehicular access points to the site from Bevin Avenue. This will serve 
parking provision of 28 spaces. In addition, eight parking spaces will be accessed 
from Bevin Avenue directly.  
 
The application has been accompanied by a Transport Assessment which provides 
details of the traffic and transportation issues associated with the development 
proposals and addresses the following issues: 
 

 Exiting conditions 

 Development Proposals 

 Travel Characteristics 

 Impact of the development programme 
 

Page 28



Based on the data and analysis presented within the report, the following conclusions 
have been made: 
 

 This development is appropriate and acceptable in traffic and transport terms. 
It is considered that the traffic movements associated with the development 
proposals will be marginal.  

 The proposal could be accommodated on the highway network and will not 
have a detrimental impact on the free flow of traffic due to the existing volumes 
of traffic using the local highway network and the low level of traffic generation 
forecast. 

 The site is located in a highly sustainable site, within 400m of local schools, 
public transport provision and as well as nearby retail offerings provided on 
Dalton Road. 

 A recent parking survey demonstrated that only 33% of existing occupiers who 
responded to the survey (response rate 67%) own a car, as such this is 
considered there is a low demand for parking on site. 

 
In terms of parking, it is noted that the existing car parking provision at the site is very 
informal in nature (3 areas between blocks 1/2, 3/4, and 5/6), with spaces not 
demarcated and parallel parking often restricting availability of spaces.  This is 
therefore far from ideal to serve the existing units. 
 
The development however will formalise and increase the site car parking allocation 
to 92 spaces which will be spread over 4 car parking areas and 2 small areas off 
Bevin Avenue. The site is also in a highly sustainable location with a large number of 
facilities within close proximity, and both pedestrian and cycle infrastructure of a very 
good standard within the vicinity of the site, and bus stops within the vicinity of the 
site that would provide residents with connections around Port Talbot and further 
afield. It is considered that an important balance can be struck to achieve the 
necessary parking standards required for the residents, without creating a scheme 
which is dominated by parking space. 
 
Furthermore, the submitted Travel Plan seeks to deliver sustainable transport 
objectives reduce car use, encouraging alternative transport choices and reducing 
the need to travel. It sets aims and tangible targets so that ‘real’ change in transport 
behaviour can be achieved i.e. encouraging a modal shift away from single 
occupancy car use to more sustainable means of travel such as public transport, 
walking and cycling. A condition will ensure compliance with the Travel Plan. 
 
Having regard to the existing under-provision, the sustainable location, and also 
noting also the low parking demand at the site currently, the provision of 92 spaces 
to serve the 127 units is considered to be justified at this location. In this respect it is 
also noted that the development would provide a better flat to parking ratio than 
currently exists and also provide a layout that meets parking standards. 
 
In response to comments raised in relation to Active Travel and promoting cycling, 
the applicant has also included a combined cycle way and footway linking Moorlands 
Road to Bevin Avenue, a route which could potentially link up with the sea front 
through future development or initiatives set up by the Local Authority. This provision 
demonstrates the applicant’s commitment to active travel and should the adjacent 

Page 29



development ever be redeveloped in the same way as this development, this link will 
provide excellent opportunities. 
 
The application has been assessed by the Head of Engineering and Transport 
(highways) who has raised no objection subject to: 
 

 Further details are provide in relation to bin stores  

 That the combined cycle and pedestrian link through the site being constructed 
and remaining open for public use thereafter.  

 A scheme is submitted to amend Traffic Regulation Order 

 Pedestrian vision splay are provided 

 That all highway works are to be completed in accordance with the details 
shown on the approved plans. 

 That the car parking spaces have been laid out within the site in accordance 
with the approved plan, and retained as such thereafter. 

 
These can be imposed via suitably worded conditions. 
 
In response to several objection on highway matters, the following comments are 
made: - 

 An objector has stated that “Moorland road particularly between Dalton Rd and 
the Red Dragon restaurant is already congested with parked cars (people have 
several cars per household).”  However, as noted above the amount of parking 
provided is considered to be sufficient for this development.  

 An objector has said “there area there are plenty of blind spots in this area and 
extending the existing building line up to the road will create several potential 
accident spots because of the obscured vision for the cars coming out of these 
buildings.”  In response it is noted that the parking and vision splays have been 
assessed by the highway Officer who has raised no objections on such 
grounds, with the proposal complying with guidelines 

 An objector is concerned that the green area which is the extension of the 
pavement is providing safe walk for children going to school, beach or other 
activities, parents with push chairs, people on wheelchairs, dog walkers, etc. 
The opposite pavement is used for cars pulling in and out of their driveways. 
In response it is emphasised that the application has been assessed by the 
highways Officer who is satisfied, with the pavements surrounding the site 
considered to be acceptable.  Moreover, people should be using the 
pavements to walk on, and not grass verge. 

 Concerns that “Moorland road is like a race track of an evening” are not 
considered to have a material bearing on the conclusions reached above. 

To conclude on highway matters, it is considered that provided appropriate controls 
are imposed through the detailed conditions referred to above, that the development 
would not have an unacceptable impact upon highway and pedestrian safety, and 
that the proposals would accord with Policies SP20 and TR2 of the Neath Port Talbot 
Local Development Plan.  

Page 30



Biodiversity / Ecology 
 
In assessing a planning application the Local Planning Authority must seek to 
maintain and enhance biodiversity in the exercise of functions in relation to Wales, 
and in so doing promote the resilience of ecosystems, so far as consistent with the 
proper exercise of those functions, under the Environment (Wales) Act 2016.  
 
Technical Advice Note 5: Nature Conservation and Planning states that: “Biodiversity, 
conservation and enhancement is an integral part of planning for sustainable 
development. The planning system has an important part to play in nature 
conservation. The use and development of land can pose threats to the conservation 
of natural features and wildlife.” 
 
The existing site is considered to be in poor condition in relation to biodiversity. The 
grassland is regularly mown and structural diversity is lacking; it is also species poor. 
The buildings offer very limited potential for roosting bats but do offer some 
opportunities for breeding birds. 
 
To support the application, the application has submitted the following documents: 
 

 edp5837_d001e Concept Landscape Plan 

 12740_R01_Bat Survey & Assessment 
 
It is considered that the proposed habitat creation will mitigate and enhance the site, 
providing a habitat which is considered to be more botanically diverse than existing 
and increasing biodiversity value. The Local Authority’s Ecologist has assessed the 
proposal and has no objection to the development subject to the following: 
 

 full details of the landscaping, which shall include planting plans; written 
specifications (including cultivation and other operations associated with plant 
and grass establishment); schedules of plants noting species (This should 
contain a majority of native and/or wildlife friendly species), plant supply sizes 
and proposed numbers/densities where appropriate; an implementation 
programme.  

 A landscaping management plan, including long term design objectives, 
management responsibilities and maintenance schedules for all landscape 
areas,  

 Details of artificial nesting sites for birds to compensate for the loss of potential 
bird nesting/foraging habitat. 

 
It is considered that above recommendations can be secured via suitably worded 
conditions.  
 
An objection was received in relation to the loss of some of the green verges. This 
development would lose some grassed verges, however the overall improvements 
and landscaping will vastly improve and enhance the biodiversity of the area and as 
such the loss of some of the grassed verges would not warrant a reason for refusal. 
 

Page 31



Protected Species 
 
To support the application the applicant submitted a Bat observation survey by 
Hawkswood Ecology dated July 2020. This report identified that bats are not using 
the application site as such NRW have no further comments to make on this matter. 
 
The Local Authority’s Ecologist has no objection to the report however have advised 
that the recommendations set out within the report in section 9.2 state “that integral 
bat boxes/ tubes should be used in the new extensions”, as this will contribute 
towards the overall biodiversity enhancements to the site. A condition can be imposed 
to ensure the mitigation recommended is imposed. 
 
To conclude the applicant has demonstrated there is no unacceptable impact upon 
ecology or protected species and has demonstrated that the biodiversity will be 
maintained and enhanced and as such accords with PPW10, Technical Advice Note 
5 (Nature Conservation and Planning) and Policies SP15 and Policies ENV7 of the 
LDP.  
 
Drainage 
 
Surface Water 
 
The proposed new development will require sustainable drainage - built in 
accordance with mandatory standards for sustainable drainage published by Welsh 
Ministers - to manage on-site surface water. These systems must be approved by the 
Council’s Engineering Service acting in its SuDS Approving Body (SAB), and must 
be approved prior to any work commencing.  
 
The application has been assessed by the Head of Engineering and Transport 
(Drainage) who has advised that they have no objection to the proposal subject to 
the applicant obtaining SAB approval 
 
Welsh water have also advised that the site is crossed by combined public sewers 
with their approximate position being marked on the attached Statutory Public Sewer 
Record. Whilst the proposed development would appear to be situated outside the 
protection zone of the sewers, it appears SuDS features are located within and they 
remind that these will need to be repositioned for the purposes of any forthcoming 
SAB application. Alternatively, it may be possible to divert the sewers if the developer 
applies under Section 185 of the Water Industry Act. These matters relate to SAB 
approval and are not a material planning consideration. The applicant has been 
advised of Welsh Water’s comments. Their informative can be noted on the planning 
application 
 
Foul Water 
 
Welsh Water has advised that foul flows can be accommodated within the public 
sewerage system  
 

Page 32



Contaminated Land 
 
A site Investigation report has been submitted by Integral Geotechnique 
(12457/RAH/19/SI; September 2019).  The SI only took samples from 5 locations, as 
such the land contamination officer has advised it is unclear how the sampling 
strategy was derived and whether it was done in accordance with guidance such as 
CLR4 and BS10175. 5 sample locations are considered to be insufficient to 
adequately characterise the site. The sampling regime should adequately cover all 
future landscaped and amenity areas and also within the footprint of the new buildings 
that are proposed. As such the standard set of Land Contamination conditions have 
been requested by the Land Contamination Section.  
 
Natural Resources Wales accept the conclusion made in the report that the risk to 
controlled waters is low and as such has no objection to the proposal. However they 
have specified if gross contamination is found they should be consulted. A condition 
relating to unexpected conditions can be imposed. 
 
It is considered that with the above recommended conditions being imposed, any land 
contamination issues from this site can be adequately addressed. As such the 
proposed development would be considered acceptable in terms of risks from land 
contamination. 
 
Waste 
 
Policy W3 – Waste Management in Development – requires proposals for new build 
development to demonstrate that provision is made for design, layout, storage and 
management of the waste generated by the development both during the construction 
phase and occupation. No details have been provided, however a condition can be 
imposed to address such requirements. 
 
Air Quality 
 
The site lies outside the Port Talbot AQMA and measurements at the nearest 
pollution monitoring station do not show that air quality standards are being breached 
at this location.  Consequently the Local Authority’s Air Quality Officer raised no 
objection. However they have recommended the applicant provide a dust 
management plan, in order to ensure that demolition and construction activities do 
not represent a nuisance or threat to health.  This plan should include mitigation in 
accordance with the relevant IAQM guidance. This can be considered to be part of a 
Construction Environmental Management Plan. 
 
Renewable Energy 
 
Policy RE2 requires the submission of an ‘Energy Assessment’ for any proposal 
where developments result in new floor space of 1,000 square metres or more.  
Schemes that are shown by the assessment to be viable will be required to be 
implemented as part of the development.  In order to meet the requirements of Policy 
RE2, the approved SPG sets out the matters required for an Energy Assessment. 
 

Page 33



It is noted that the applicant is seeking WG funding as part of the ‘Innovative Housing 
Programme’.  An energy assessment (undertaken by Building Energy performance 
Ltd) has been submitted with the application and identifies that significant carbon 
reductions in the order of 52% can be achieved in on-site carbon emissions when 
compared to current Building Regulation new build targets through a mix of passive 
and active low energy design measures and the incorporation of a roof mounted solar 
PV system. 
 
The applicant has identified how they aim to reduce the carbon footprint of this 
development through a mix of passive and active low energy design measures and 
the incorporation of a roof mounted solar PV system.  
 
It should be noted that Welsh Government planning policy recognises an energy 
hierarchy. The Welsh Government expects all new development to mitigate the 
causes of climate change in accordance with the energy hierarchy for planning, as 
set out within planning Policy Wales (edition 10) Reducing energy demand and 
increasing energy efficiency, through the location and design of new development, 
will assist in meeting energy demand with renewable and low carbon sources. This 
is particularly important in supporting the electrification of energy use, such as the 
growing use of electric vehicles as all aspects of the energy hierarchy have their part 
to play, simultaneously, in helping meet decarbonisation and renewable energy 
targets. No details of electric car points have been provided. 
 
As such a condition can be imposed to not only provide further details of the low 
energy design system and solar PV system set out within the renewable energy report 
but also to explore the use of providing electric charging provision within the site and 
incorporating that if feasible to do so. As such with the above conditions it is 
considered the applicant has demonstrated that the development would comply with 
the requirements of Policy RE2 of the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan.  
 
Section 106 Planning Obligations 
 
Local Development Plan Policy SP 4 (Infrastructure) states that “Developments will 
be expected to make efficient use of existing infrastructure and where required make 
adequate provision for new infrastructure, ensuring that there are no detrimental 
effects on the area and community. Where necessary, Planning Obligations will be 
sought to ensure that the effects of developments are fully addressed in order to make 
the development acceptable”. 
 
Policy I1 (Infrastructure Requirements) then states that “In addition to infrastructure 
improvements necessary to make a development acceptable in health, safety and 
amenity terms, additional works or funding may be required to ensure that, where 
appropriate, the impact of new development is mitigated. These requirements will 
include consideration of and appropriate provision for: Affordable housing; Open 
space and recreation facilities; Welsh language infrastructure (in language Sensitive 
Areas); Community facilities including community hubs; Biodiversity, environmental 
and conservation interests; Improving access to facilities and services including the 
provision of walking and cycling routes; Historic and built environment and public 
realm improvements; Community and public transport; Education and training. 
 

Page 34



The Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 came into force on 6th April 
2010 in England and Wales. They introduced limitations on the use of planning 
obligations (Reg. 122 refers). As of 6th April 2010, a planning obligation may only 
legally constitute a reason for granting planning permission if it is:  
 
(a)  necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms;  
(b)  directly related to the development; and  
(c)  fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development.  
 
In this case, the proposal relates to a planning application for the development of 55 
new flats and the refurbishment of the existing accommodation. 
 
In view of the type and form of development proposed in this location, having regard 
to local circumstances and needs arising from the development, the following 
planning obligations are considered necessary to make the development acceptable 
in planning terms and to meet the policy and legislative tests for planning obligations. 
 
Affordable Housing 
 
Policy AH1 of the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan states that all new 
housing developments will be required to contribute to affordable housing provision. 
Within the Port Talbot spatial area, a 25% affordable housing target is sought.  
 
The applicant is a Registered Social Landlord RSL (Tai Tarian) and has indicated that 
all of the residential units proposed, will be social housing. In order to satisfy the 
requirements of Policy AH1 it is necessary to ensure that 25% of the units remain 
affordable in the long term. It is considered that the imposition of a condition would 
be the appropriate mechanism for securing future compliance with this policy should 
the development not be Social Housing Grant Funded. 
 
Education 
 
No response has been received from education however; the majority of the units are 
1 bed and therefore falls below the threshold of a minimum of 10 housing units that 
are of 2 or more bedrooms. 
 
Public Open Space / Children’s Play Facilities 
 
Policy OS1 states where there is a quantitative deficiency in outdoor sport, children’s 
play, informal space or allotments, provision will be sought, including the requirement 
for maintenance in conjunction with all new residential developments of 3 or more 
dwellings, based on the following standards:  
 

Open Space Standard 

Outdoor Sport 1.6 hectares per 1.000 population 
Children’s Play 0.25 hectares per 1,000 population 
Informal Space 0.55 hectares per 1,000 population 
Allotments 0.19 hectares per 1,000 population 

 

Page 35



Having regard to the ‘Open Space Assessment 2013, produced in support of the 
adopted Local Development Plan, it is noted that there are existing ward shortfalls. 
Accordingly, the existing deficiencies would be exacerbated by the increase in 
population arising from the proposed development, and there is a need for the 
development to contribute towards addressing such deficiency.  
 
Outdoor Pitch Sport –  1448sqm     £15,620 

Outdoor Sport Non-Pitch   567sqm     £56,560 

Children’s Play –   6sqm (excluding 1 bedroom units) £855 

Informal –    693sqm     £0 (on site) 

Allotments –    239sqm     £2,640  

Total          £75,765 
 
As part of the application the applicant has provided a unilateral undertaking for the 
sum of £75,765 to address the open space deficiency in the area. 

 
CONCLUSION 
 
The decision to recommend planning permission has been taken in accordance with 
Section 38 of The Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, which requires that, 
in determining a planning application the determination must be in accordance with 
the Development Plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.  The 
Development Plan comprises the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan (2011–
2026) adopted January 2016. 
 
It is considered that the redevelopment of this site, and significant enhancement to 
the quality of existing accommodation, will contribute towards the delivery of 
affordable housing within the County Borough in a sustainable location, and that 
subject to the imposition of conditions and the signing of a Legal Agreement to secure 
a financial contribution of outdoor pitch and non-pitch sports and allotments the 
proposed development would have no unacceptable impacts upon the character and 
appearance of the surrounding area, on residential amenity or on highway and 
pedestrian safety.  Accordingly, the proposed development is considered to accord 
Policies SP1, SP2, SP3, SP4, SP5, SP7, SP8, SP10, SP15, SP16, SP18, SP19 
SP20, SC1, I1, AH1, OS1, T04, EN8, RE2, W3, TR2, and BE1 of the Neath Port 
Talbot Local Development Plan 
 
It is further considered that the decision complies with the Council’s well-being 
objectives and the sustainable development principle in accordance with the 
requirements of the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015. 
 
RECOMMENDATION Approve subject to conditions and subject to the financial 

open space contribution of £75,765 being paid 
(concurrent with the decision notice being issued) as 
stated within the signed unilateral undertaking. 

 
 

Page 36



 
Time Limit 
 
1. The development shall begin no later than five years from the date of this 

decision.  
 Reason:  

To comply with the requirements of Section 91 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990. 

 
Approved Plans 
 
2. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the following 

approved plans: 
 

175-DHA-XX-RF-A-DR-0001-02 Location Plan 
175-DHA-ZZ-00-A-DR-0002-13. Site Masterplan 
175-DHA-ZZ-00-A-DR-0003-08. Masterplan Ground Floor 
175-DHA-ZZ-01-A-DR-0004-07 Masterplan - First Floor 
175-DHA-ZZ-02-A-DR-0005-08 Masterplan - Second Floor 
175-DHA-ZZ-03-A-DR-0006-08 Masterplan - Third Floor 
175-DHA-ZZ-04-A-DR-0007-08 Masterplan - Fourth Floor 
175-DHA-ZZ-05-A-DR-0008-09 Masterplan - Roof Plan 
175-DHA-ZZ-00-A-DR-0125-06 Blocks 01 02 - Proposed Ground Floor 
175-DHA-ZZ-01-A-DR-0126-06 Blocks 01 02 - Proposed First Floor 
175-DHA-ZZ-02-A-DR-0127-07 Blocks 01 02 - Proposed Second Floor 
175-DHA-ZZ-03-A-DR-0128-07 Blocks 01 02 - Proposed Roof Plan 
175-DHA-ZZ-00-A-DR-0129-06 Blocks 03 04 - Proposed Ground Floor 
175-DHA-ZZ-01-A-DR-0130-06 Blocks 03 04 - Proposed First Floor 
175-DHA-ZZ-02-A-DR-0131-07 Blocks 03 04 - Proposed Second Floor 
175-DHA-ZZ-03-A-DR-0132-07 Blocks 03 04 - Proposed Third Floor 
175-DHA-ZZ-04-A-DR-0133-07 Blocks 03 04 - Proposed Roof Plan 
175-DHA-ZZ-00-A-DR-0134-07 Blocks 05 06 07 - Proposed Ground Floor 
175-DHA-ZZ-01-A-DR-0135-07 Blocks 05 06 07 - Proposed First Floor 
175-DHA-ZZ-02-A-DR-0136-07 Blocks 05 06 07 - Proposed Second Floor 
175-DHA-ZZ-03-A-DR-0137-08 Blocks 05 06 07 - Proposed Third Floor 
175-DHA-ZZ-04-A-DR-0138-08 Blocks 05 06 07 - Proposed Fourth Floor 
175-DHA-ZZ-05-A-DR-0139-08 Blocks 05 06 07 - Proposed Roof Plan 
175-DHA-ZZ-XX-A-DR-0225-09 Proposed Elevations 
175-DHA-ZZ-XX-A-DR-0226-08 Blocks 01 02 - Elevations 12 
175-DHA-ZZ-XX-A-DR-0227-08 Blocks 01 02 - Elevations 22 
175-DHA-ZZ-XX-A-DR-0228-08 Blocks 03 04 - Elevations 12 
175-DHA-ZZ-XX-A-DR-0229-08 Blocks 03 04 - Elevations 22 
175-DHA-ZZ-XX-A-DR-0230-08 Blocks 05 06 07 - Elevations 12 
175-DHA-ZZ-XX-A-DR-0231-08 Blocks 05 06 07 - Elevations 22 
edp5837_d001-F-Concept Landscape Plan 
edp5837_d002-E-Concept Site Layout 
1141 Flat Type A02 
1142 Flat Type A03 
1143 Flat Type A04 
1144 Flat Type A05 

Page 37



1146 Flat Type A07 
1145 Flat Type A06 
1147 Flat Type A08 
1148 Flat Type A09 
1149 Flat Type A10 
1150 Flat Type A11 
1151 Flat Type A12 
1152 Flat Type B01 
1153 Flat Type B02 
1154 Flat Type C01 
1155 Flat Type C02 
1156 Flat Type D01 
1157 Flat Type D02 
1158 Flat Type E01 
1159 Flat Type E02 
1160 Flat Type F01 
1161 Flat Type G01 
1162 Flat Type G02 
1163 Flat Type H01 
1164 Flat Type H02 
1165 Flat Type J01 
1166 Flat Type J02 
Travel Plan 
 
Reason:  
In the interests of clarity. 

 
Pre commencement 
 
3. Before beginning any development at the site, you must do the following: - 
 

a) Notify the Local Planning Authority in writing that you intend to commence 
development by submitting a Formal Notice under Article 24B of the Town and 
Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) (Wales) Order 2012 
(DMPWO) in the form set out in Schedule 5A (a newly inserted Schedule) of 
the DMPWO (or in a form substantially to the like effect); and  

  
b) Display a Site Notice (as required by Section 71ZB of the 1990 Act) in the 
form set out in Schedule 5B (a newly inserted Schedule) of the DMPWO (or in 
a form substantially to the like effect), such Notice to be firmly affixed and 
displayed in a prominent place, be legible and easily visible, and be printed on 
durable material. Such Notice must thereafter be displayed at all times when 
development is being carried out.  

 
 Reason:  

To comply with procedural requirements in accordance with Article 24B of the 
Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) (Wales) 
Order 2012 (DMPWO) and Section 71ZB of the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990. 

 

Page 38



4. No development shall commence (including any site clearance), until a 
Demolition & Construction Environmental Management Plan has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
Demolition and Construction Environmental Management Plan shall be in 
accordance with the requirements of British Standard BS5228-1:2009 - “Code 
of practice for noise and vibration control on construction and open sites”.  The 
approved Statement shall be adhered to throughout the demolition and 
construction phases. The Statement shall provide for: 

 
a) Construction methods: details of the extent and phasing of development; 
details of construction materials or techniques to be used; details for the 
storage and management of plant and materials used in constructing the 
development; a scheme for recycling/disposing of waste resulting from 
demolition and construction works;  
b) General Site Management: details of the construction programme including 
timetable; details of site clearance; details for erection and maintenance of 
security hoarding including decorative displays and facilities for public viewing; 
details of complaint investigation procedures. 
c) Control of Nuisances: Identification of the significant construction and 
demolition noise & vibration sources; details of physical and operational 
management controls necessary to mitigate noise & vibration emissions; 
details odour control measures; a dust management plan (This plan should 
include mitigation in accordance with the relevant IAQM guidance); and 
measures to control light spill. 
d)Traffic Management: : details of site deliveries; details for the loading and 
unloading of plant and materials; details of wheel wash facilities; details for the 
parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors.  
e) Hours of working on site, including specified hours for deliveries; details of 
restrictions to be applied during construction and demolition works (including 
timing, duration and frequency of works) to prevent noise or nuisance amenity 
issues to surrounding properties. 
f) Responsible Persons: details of the persons and bodies responsible for 
activities associated with the CEMP and emergency contact details 
Reason: 
In the interest of highway and pedestrian safety, the environment, and the 
amenity of residents, and to ensure accordance with Policies BE1, EN8 and 
TR2 of the adopted Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan. 

 
5. No development shall take place until a Construction Noise and Vibration 

Management Plan has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the local 
planning authority. The approved Noise Management Plan shall identify all 
significant noise sources; detail the physical and operational management 
controls necessary to mitigate emissions from these noise sources; hours of 
working on site, and specified hours for deliveries; and any elements of 
operation that could lead to amenity issues from noise and disturbance to 
surrounding properties. The Construction Noise and Vibration Management 
Plan shall also detail any noise complaint investigation procedures. The 
approved Construction Noise and Vibration Management Plan shall be 
adhered to throughout the operation of the approved use.  

Page 39



Reason:  
In the interest of the environment, and the amenity of residents, and to ensure 
accordance with Policies BE1, EN8 and TR2 of the adopted Neath Port Talbot 
Local Development Plan. 

 
6. Notwithstanding the submitted information, no development shall commence 

on site until an assessment of the nature and extent of contamination affecting 
the application site area has been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. This assessment must be carried out by or under the 
direction of a suitably qualified competent person in accordance with BS10175 
(2011) ‘Investigation of Potentially Contaminated Sites Code of Practice’ and 
shall assess any contamination on the site, whether or not it originates on the 
site. The report of the findings shall include: 

 
(i) a desk top study to identify all previous uses at the site and potential 
contaminants associated with those uses and the impacts from those 
contaminants on land and controlled waters. The desk study shall establish a 
‘conceptual site model’ (CSM) which identifies and assesses all identified 
potential source, pathway, and receptor linkages; 
(ii) an intrusive investigation to assess the extent, scale and nature of 
contamination which may be present, if identified as required by the desk top 
study; 
(iii) an assessment of the potential risks to: 
-  human health, 
-  groundwater and surface waters 
-  adjoining land, 
-  property (existing or proposed) including buildings, crops, livestock, pets, 
woodland and service lines and pipes,-  ecological systems, 
-  archaeological sites and ancient monuments; and 
-  any other receptors identified at (i) 
(iv) an appraisal of remedial options, and justification for the preferred remedial 
option(s). 
 
Reason: 
To ensure that information provided for the assessment of the risks from land 
contamination to the future users of the land, neighbouring land, controlled 
waters, property and ecological systems is sufficient to enable a proper 
assessment, and to ensure compliance with Policies SP16 and EN8 of the 
Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan. 

 
7. No development shall commence on site until a remediation scheme to bring 

the site to a condition suitable for the intended use by removing any 
unacceptable risks to human health, buildings, other property and the natural 
and historic environment shall be prepared and submitted to and agreed in 
writing with the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall include all works 
to be undertaken, proposed remediation objectives, remediation criteria and 
site management procedures. The measures proposed within the remediation 
scheme shall be implemented in accordance with an agreed programme of 
works.  

Page 40



Reason:  
To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land 
and neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, 
property and ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can be 
carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other 
offsite receptors, and to ensure compliance with Policies SP16 and EN8 of the 
Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan 

 
8. Notwithstanding the submitted plans, no development shall take place until 

details of both hard and soft landscape works have been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. These details shall 
include: 

 
a) A statement setting out the design objectives and how these will be 

delivered; 
b) Details of delivery and timing and implementation; 
c) earthworks showing existing and proposed finished levels or contours;  
d) means of enclosure and retaining structures; 
e) other vehicle and pedestrian access and circulation areas; 
f) hard surfacing materials; 
g) minor artefacts and structures (e.g. furniture, play equipment, signs, etc.), 

and  
h) water features. 

 
Soft landscape works shall include: planting plans; written specifications 
(including cultivation and other operations associated with plant and grass 
establishment); schedules of plants noting species, plant supply sizes and 
proposed numbers/densities where appropriate; an implementation 
programme (including phasing of work where relevant). The landscaping 
works shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details in 
accordance with the agreed implementation program.  
Reason:  
In the interests of maintaining a suitable scheme of landscaping to protect the 
visual amenity of the area, to maintain the special qualities of the landscape 
and habitats through the protection, creation and enhancement of links 
between sites and their protection for amenity, landscape and biodiversity 
value, and to ensure the development complies with Policies SP15 and BE1 
of the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan. 

 
9. No development shall take place until a scheme to provide artificial nesting 

sites for birds and bat tube/bricks has been be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the local planning authority. The scheme shall include detail and 
locations of bird nesting boxes and bat bricks to new build elements or at other 
appropriate locations around the site.  All approved artificial nesting sites/ and 
bat brick/tubes shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details 
prior to the first occupation of each building to which it relates. 
Reason 
In the interest of Biodiversity and mitigation for the loss of habitat within the 
site and to accord with Policy SP15 of the adopted Neath Port Talbot Local 
Development Plan. 

Page 41



 
10. No development shall commence until, a Waste Management Plan for the 

control, management, storage and disposal of any waste material generated 
during the demolition and construction of the development shall be submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. All waste shall be 
treated in accordance with the agreed waste plan. The plan shall be 
implemented as approved. 
Reason: 
To ensure the appropriate disposal of any waste arising from the development 
in terms of protection of the environment and to ensure the sustainability 
principles are adopted during development and complies with Policy W3 of the 
Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan. 

 
Action Conditions 
 
11. Prior to the first occupation of any dwelling unit hereby approved, a landscape 

management plan, including the long term design objectives, management 
responsibilities and maintenance schedules, for all landscaped areas, shall 
have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The landscape management plan shall be implemented and 
adhered to in accordance with the approved details thereafter. 
Reason: 
In the interest of visual amenity, and to ensure the long term management and 
maintenance of all landscaped areas within the site and to ensure the 
development complies with Policies SP15 and BE1 of the Neath Port Talbot 
Local Development Plan 

 
12. If piling is to be undertaken on site, no piling activities for the construction of 

the authorised development may commence until a piling method statement 
has been submitted to and approved by the local planning authority. Piling 
shall be carried out in accordance with the approved method statement.  
Reason:  
In the interest of, the environment, and the amenity of residents, and to ensure 
accordance with Policies BE1, EN8 and TR2 of the adopted Neath Port Talbot 
Local Development Plan. 

 
13. Prior to the first beneficial use of any new dwelling unit within blocks 5, 6 and 

7 blocks, the combined footway/cycle route through the site linking Moorland 
Road and Bevin Avenue shown on 175-DHA-ZZ-00-DR-A-0002 Site 
Masterplan shall be constructed and lit in accordance with a scheme which 
shall first have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority, with such route thereafter retained open and maintained and free for 
public use. 
Reason 
To promote Active Travel Routes and in the interest of highway and pedestrian 
safety and to ensure compliance with Policy TR2 of the Neath Port Talbot 
Local Development Plan.  

 
 
 

Page 42



14. Prior to the construction of any dwelling unit details of the passive and active 
low energy design measures and the roof mounted solar PV system outlined 
within the Renewable and Low carbon Energy Statement shall be submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall 
provide full details of any external materials/ apparatus required including 
elevations, floor plan and site plan where required, and details of how the 
system will operate. The development shall be constructed in accordance with 
the agreed details prior to the first beneficial use of the development and 
retained as such thereafter 
Reason 
In the interest of providing low carbon energy generation within the 
development to accord with the requirements of Policy RE2 of the Local 
development Plan. 

 
15. Prior to the first beneficial use of the development a scheme shall be submitted 

to and approved in writing detailing the feasibility and provision of Electric 
Vehicle Charging Points to serve the development. The scheme shall include 
a minimum of 5 spaces and shall also include details how future electric 
charging points can be delivered. The scheme as agreed shall be fully 
implemented prior to the first beneficial use of the development and shall be 
retained for such use thereafter. 
Reason 
In the interest of highway and pedestrian safety and to ensure compliance with 
Planning Policy Wales 10, and policies BE1 and TR1 of the Neath Port Talbot 
Local Development Plan  

 
16. Prior to the installation of any permanent external lighting on the site, a detailed 

lighting scheme for the site shall be submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority detailing the location of all proposed lights, the 
specification, intensity of illumination, predicted lighting contours (lux plots), 
together with proposed hours of operation and any mitigation measures 
required (including measures to reduce as far as practicable light spillage onto 
the adjoining residential properties) . The approved lighting shall be 
implemented on site in accordance with the approved scheme only, and 
retained as such thereafter.  
Reason:  
In the interest of residential amenity and to prevent any unacceptable light 
spillage, and to ensure compliance with Policies SP16, EN8 and BE1 of the 
Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan. 

 
17. Prior to first beneficial use of the development, a scheme detailing a refuse 

and recycling strategy shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. The scheme, as approved, shall be implemented 
prior to the first beneficial use of the development, and retained as such 
thereafter. 
Reason : 
In the interest of highway and pedestrian safety, the environment, and the 
amenity of residents, and to ensure accordance with Policies BE1 and TR2 of 
the adopted Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan. 

 

Page 43



18. Prior to their use in the construction of the development hereby permitted, 
details and samples of the materials to be used in the construction of the 
external surfaces of the development shall have been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Development shall be 
carried out in accordance with the approved details. 
Reason: 
In the interest of the visual amenity of the area and to ensure the development 
complies with Policy BE1 of the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan. 

 

19. Prior to first beneficial use of the proposed development, a verification report 
which demonstrates the effectiveness of the agreed remediation works carried 
out in accordance with condition 7 shall have been submitted to and agreed in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority.  
Reason:  
To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land 
and neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, 
property and ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can be 
carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other 
offsite receptors and to ensure compliance with Policies SP16 and EN8 of the 
Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan. 

 

20. In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out the 
approved development that was not previously identified, work on site shall 
cease immediately and shall be reported in writing to the Local Planning 
Authority. A Desk Study, Site Investigation, Risk Assessment and where 
necessary a Remediation Strategy must be undertaken in accordance with the 
following document:- Land Contamination: A Guide for Developers (WLGA, 
WAG & EAW, July 2006). This document shall be submitted to and agreed in 
writing with the Local Planning Authority. Prior to occupation of the 
development, a verification report which demonstrates the effectiveness of the 
agreed remediation, shall be submitted to and agreed in writing with the Local 
Planning Authority.  

 Reason:  
To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land 
and neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, 
property and ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can be 
carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other 
off site receptors, and to ensure compliance with Policies SP16 and EN8 of 
the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan. 

 

21. Notwithstanding the details submitted, prior to the first beneficial use of each 
flat to which the windows hereby approved relate, the front facing windows on 
the elevations fronting Bevin Avenue and Moorlands Road serving the open 
plan living and Kitchen area shall be fitted with obscured glazing, and any part 
of the windows that is less than 1.7m above the floor of the room in which it is 
installed shall be non-opening. The windows shall be permanently retained as 
such thereafter. 
Reason: 
In the interest of the amenities of the adjoining properties, and to ensure 
accordance with Policy BE1 of the adopted Neath Port Talbot Local 
Development Plan. 

Page 44



22. Notwithstanding the submitted plan and prior to the first beneficial use of the 
development, a scheme shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority detailing the siting, design and internal layouts of bin 
storage areas, cycle storage and mobility scooter storage. Neath Port Talbot 
Council operate a kerbside collection refuse and recycling scheme.  Therefore, 
the bin store areas should be located adjacent to the adopted public highway, 
shall not cause obstruction to either vehicular or pedestrian visibility with no 
doors allowed to open out over the public highway. The bin stores, cycle 
storage and mobility scooter storage as agreed shall be provided in 
accordance with the approved scheme prior to the first beneficial use of the 
development and retained as such thereafter. 
Reason:   
In the interest of visual amenity, residential amenity and to ensure adeqaute 
bin storage, cycle storage and mobility storage is provided for future residents 
and to ensure compliance with Policy BE1 and EN8 of the Neath Port Talbot 
Local Development Plan. 

 
23. No additional dwelling unit hereby approved shall be brought into beneficial 

use until such time as a scheme detailing the amendment of the existing orders 
on Bevin Avenue to facilitate the new vehicular access to the parking area 
adjacent to Coronation House has been submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority, and such scheme has been implemented in 
full. The approved scheme shall thereafter be retained. 
Reason: 
In the interest of highway and pedestrian safety and to ensure compliance with 
Policy TR2 of the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan. 

 
Regulatory 
 
24. Each vehicular access point shall be provided with a pedestrian vision splay 

measured at 2.4 metres x 2.4 metres behind back of footway and shall be 
retained thereafter so that nothing over 600 mm in height above back of 
footway level is erected or allowed to grow within these areas. 
Reason: 
In the in interest of highway and pedestrian safety and to ensure compliance 
with Policy TR2 of the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan 

 
25. If the entire scheme is not Social Housing Grant Funded a scheme for the 

provision of affordable housing as part of the development shall be submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The affordable 
housing shall be provided in accordance with the approved scheme and shall 
meet the definition of affordable housing in Annex B of TAN 2 or any future 
guidance that replaces it. The scheme shall include: 

 
i) the numbers, type, tenure and location on the site of the affordable housing 

provision to be made which shall consist of not less than 25 %of housing 
units; 

ii) the timing of the construction of the affordable housing and its phasing in 
relation to the occupancy of the market housing; 

Page 45



iii) the arrangements for the transfer of the affordable housing to an affordable 
housing provider [or the management of the affordable housing (if no RSL 
involved)]; 

iv) the arrangements to ensure that such provision is affordable for both first 
and subsequent occupiers of the affordable housing; and 

v) the occupancy criteria to be used for determining the identity of occupiers 
of the affordable housing and the means by which such occupancy criteria 
shall be enforced. 

 
Reason:  
In order to secure an appropriate level of affordable housing in accordance 
with Policies AH1 and I1 of the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan 

 
26. There shall be no outside storage of bins and recycling equipment except 

within the designated bin storage areas. 
Reason:   
In the interest of visual amenity and to ensure compliance with Policy BE1 of 
the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan. 

 
27. Construction operations shall be limited to 08:00-18:00 Mon-Fri, 08:00-13:00 

Saturdays, and no construction operations shall take place on Sunday and 
Public Holidays without the prior approval of the Local Planning Authority. 
Reason:   
To protect the amenity of the locality, especially for people living and/or 
working nearby, and to ensure accordance with Policies BE1 and EN8 of the 
adopted Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan. 

 
28. The car parking courts hereby approved shall be constructed in accordance 

with drawing number 175-DHA-ZZ-00-DR-A-0002 Site Masterplan, prior to the 
first beneficial use of the development and retained for access and parking of 
residents’ vehicles only thereafter. 
Reason: 
In the interest of highway and pedestrian safety, to ensure that the 
development is served by sufficient parking and to ensure compliance with 
Policy TR2 of the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan. 

 
29. The development hereby approved shall be connected to the mains sewerage 

system prior to the first beneficial use of the flats and retained as such 
thereafter. 
Reason: 
In the interest of satisfactory drainage of the site, and ensure the development 
complies with Policy SP16 and BE1 of the Neath Port Talbot Local 
Development Plan. 

 
30. All measures identified within the Travel Plan hereby approved shall be 

implemented in accordance with the approved details, with full monitoring 
reports submitted to the Local Planning Authority following each monitoring 
period, with a final report and updated Travel Plan submitted after year 5, for 
the approval of the Local Planning Authority, which shall seek to address any 
issues that have failed to reduce the use of the car and meet the agreed targets 

Page 46



set in the travel plan.   
 

Reason: 
In the interests of promoting sustainable transport and to ensure the 
development complies with Policy SP20 of the Neath Port Talbot Local Plan. 

 
31. All highway works are to be completed in accordance with the details shown 

on the approved plans prior to the fist beneficial use of the development and 
retained as such thereafter 
Reason: 
In the in interest of highway and pedestrian safety and to ensure compliance 
with Policy TR2 of the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan 
 

 

Page 47



This page is intentionally left blank



SECTION A – MATTERS FOR DECISION 
 
Planning Applications Recommended For Approval 

 

APPLICATION NO: P2020/1071 DATE: 23rd February 2021 

PROPOSAL: Construction of 4 x detached bungalows and 2 x semi-detached 
dwellings (Outline application with all matters reserved) 

LOCATION: Land at Heol Tabor, Cwmafan, SA12 9PS 

APPLICANT: Mr Wayne Goodridge 

TYPE: Outline 

WARD: Bryn and Cwmafan 

 
BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
 
This application is being reported to Planning Committee as it is a departure from the 
Local Development Plan. 
 
SITE AND CONTEXT 
 
The application site is located on land at Heol Tabor, Cwmafan. 
 
The application site measures approximately 0.22 hectares in area and is gently 
sloping in profile from west up to the east, and from the south up to the north. It is 
currently vacant land which has been re-profiled in recent times, and there are some 
earth mounds remaining on site. It is partly enclosed with fencing.  
 
The site (edged red on the OS plan below) is located outside of the settlement limits 
of Cwmafan, these being identified on the aerial plan below, but is bounded by 
residential dwellings to the east and west, with Heol Tabor to the south (off which 
access is gained), and open countryside to the north. 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 49

Agenda Item 5



DESCRIPTION OF DEVELOPMENT 
 
This is an outline planning application (with all matters reserved) for the construction 
of 4 x detached bungalows and 2 x semi-detached dwellings (6 units in total).  
 
In support of the application an indicative block plan has been provided indicating the 
size and siting of the proposed dwellings comprising a pair of semi-detached two-
storey dwellings (Plots 1-2) on the eastern side of the site, with the remaining (Plots 
3-6) being detached bungalows. Each plot has off-street car parking and garden areas 
to the front and rear. 
 
The illustrative site layout is shown below, while to accord with the outline 
requirements the agent has provided the scale parameters for the properties as 
follows: 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
All plans / documents submitted in respect of this application can be viewed on the 
Council’s online register. 
 
NEGOTIATIONS 
 
An amended plan was requested from the agent in respect of vision splays for the 
driveway of plot 6 and this was duly provided. 
 
PLANNING HISTORY 
 
The application site does not have any relevant planning history. 
 
  

 Houses Bungalows 

Height 7.2-7.7m 5-5.5m 

Width 5.5-6m 8-8.5m 

Depth 8-8.5m 9-9.4m 

Page 50

http://appsportal.npt.gov.uk/ords/idocs12/f?p=Planning:2:0::NO::P2_REFERENCE:P2020/1071


CONSULTATIONS 
 
Head of Engineering & Transport (Highways): No objection, subject to conditions. 
 
Head of Engineering & Transport (Drainage): No objection, subject to a condition. 
 
Welsh Water: No objection, subject to conditions. 
 
Biodiversity Unit: No objection, subject to conditions. 
 
Contaminated Land Unit: No objection, subject to conditions. 
 
Coal Authority: No objection, subject to conditions. 
 
REPRESENTATIONS 
 
The neighbouring properties were consulted on 04/12/2020.  A site notice was 
displayed on 03/12/2020, with the application also advertised in the press (as a 
departure from the Development Plan) on 16/12/2020. 
 
In response, to date 4 no. representations have been received, with the issues raised 
summarised as follows: - 
 

 Concerns over the lack of visibility splays from the site along Heol 
Mabon/Tabor. 

 Concerns that bungalows would be out-of-keeping with the area and the 
existing properties along Heol Mabon and Heol Tabor. 

 Concerns regarding water diversion from the applicant’s summerhouse and 
lane discharging over the highway. 

 Concerns regarding drainage of the site (and potential flooding) since it has 
been cleared and also in relation to the culvert. 

 Concerns regarding sewerage capacity in the area. 

 Concerns regarding coal mining legacy on the site. 

 Concerns regarding the site address and advertising of the application site. 
 
REPORT 
 
The Well-being of Future Generations Act (Wales) 2015 places a duty on the Council 
to take reasonable steps in exercising its functions to meet its sustainable 
development (or wellbeing) objectives. This report has been prepared in consideration 
of the Council’s duty and the “sustainable development principle”, as set out in the 
2015 Act. In reaching the recommendation set out below, the Council has sought to 
ensure that the needs of the present are met without compromising the ability of future 
generations to meet their own needs. 
 
National Planning Policy: 
 
Planning Policy Wales (Edition 10) was extensively revised and restructured at the 
end of 2018 to take into account the themes and approaches set out in the Well-being 
of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015, and to deliver the vision for Wales that is set 
out therein.  
 

Page 51

https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-02/planning-policy-wales-edition-10.pdf


PPW10 takes the seven Well-being Goals and the five Ways of Working as 
overarching themes and embodies a placemaking approach throughout, with the aim 
of delivering Active and Social Places, Productive and Enterprising Places and 
Distinctive and Natural Places. It also identifies the planning system as one of the main 
tools to create sustainable places, and that placemaking principles are a tool to 
achieving this through both plan making and the decision making process. 
 
The following guidance is of particular relevance in the assessment of this planning 
application: 
 
PPW is supported by a series of more detailed Technical Advice Notes (TANs), of 
which the following are of relevance: - 
 

 Technical Advice Note 12: Design  
 
Local Planning Policies 
 
The Development Plan for the area comprises the Neath Port Talbot Local 
Development Plan which was adopted in January 2016, and within which the following 
policies are of relevance: 
 
Strategic Policies: 
 

 Policy SP4 Infrastructure 

 Policy SP5  Development in the Coastal Corridor Strategy Area 

 Policy SP7 Housing Requirement 

 Policy SP8 Affordable Housing 

 Policy SP10 Open Space 

 Policy SP14  The Countryside and the Undeveloped Coast 

 Policy SP15 Biodiversity and Geodiversity 

 Policy SP16  Environmental Protection 

 Policy SP17  Minerals 

 Policy SP18  Renewable and Low Carbon Energy 

 Policy SP19  Waste Management 

 Policy SP20 Transport Network 
 

Topic Based Policies: 
 

 Policy SC1 Settlement limits 

 Policy I1  Infrastructure Requirements 

 Policy AH1  Affordable Housing  

 Policy OS1  Open Space Provision  

 Policy EN6 Important Biodiversity and Geodiversity Sites  

 Policy EN7  Important Natural Features 

 Policy EN8  Pollution and Land Stability  

 Policy M1  Development in Mineral Safeguarding Areas  

 Policy M2  Surface Coal Operations  

 Policy TR2  Design and Access of New Development  

 Policy BE1  Design  
 

Page 52

https://gov.wales/technical-advice-notes
https://www.npt.gov.uk/7328
https://www.npt.gov.uk/7328
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=41
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=45
file://///decs-fs1/decsgroup/Planning%20Management/Steve/OFFICER%20REPORTS%20PROJECT/Policy%20SP7%09Housing%20Requirement%09https:/www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf%23PAGE=53
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=56
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=59
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=70
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=72
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=74
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=76
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=78
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=80
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=83
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=38
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=39
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=57
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=60
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=73
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=73
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=74
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=77
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=77
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=84
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=87


Supplementary Planning Guidance: 
 
The following SPG is of relevance to this application: - 
 

 Planning Obligations (October 2016) 

 Parking Standards (October 2016) 

 Affordable Housing (October 2016) 

 Pollution (October 2016) 

 Open Space & Greenspace (July 2017) 

 Design (July 2017) 

 Biodiversity and Geodiversity (May 2018) 
 
Issues 
 
Having regard to the above, the main issues to consider in this application relate to 
the principle of development, together with the impact on the visual amenity of the 
area, the amenities of neighbouring residents and highway safety. 
 
Principle of Development 
 
As the application site is located outside the settlement limits defined by Policy SC1 
of the adopted Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan (LDP), there would 
ordinarily be a presumption against the principle of a residential development at this 
location – in order to protect the open countryside from inappropriate development.  
Indeed, as the site is located outside of the settlement limits, and does not accord with 
any of the 12 stated exceptions in Policy SC1, the proposal is as a matter of fact 
contrary to the Development Plan.  
 
It therefore follows that there must be other material considerations of sufficient weight 
to outweigh the failure to accord with the Development Plan. 
 
In considering such material considerations, it is noted that this site is unusual in that 
it is surrounded by the settlement limit of Cwmafan on three sides (east, west and 
south).  It is understood that this area was excluded from the LDP settlement limits 
due to historic coal mining legacy issues (which are explored in further detail below). 
As such, there is an argument that the development would comprise ‘infill’ 
development.  
 
In support of this application the agent has provided a detailed planning statement. 
This references a number of appeal decisions in relation to ‘infill development’ 
including APP/3154507 for 4 dwellings on land off The Mews, Lydiard Millicent, 
Swindon SN5 3NR. Within this reference is given to the Inspector’s decision in 
formulating test criteria. These are detailed as follows: 
 

 Does the site form a gap in an otherwise built up frontage? 

 Does the proposal respect the existing settlement pattern? 

 Does the proposal elongate the existing settlement pattern? 

 Does the proposal extend the development into a sensitive landscape area? 

 Does the proposal consolidate loose knit areas of development? 
 
Whilst these are not definitive ‘tests’, they are a good starting point for assessment 
(with the first ’test’ already considered above) and are explored in further detail below: 
 Page 53

https://www.npt.gov.uk/pdf/spg_planning_obligations_oct16.pdf
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/spg_parking_standards_oct16.pdf
https://www.npt.gov.uk/pdf/spg_affordable_housing_oct16.pdf
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/spg_pollution_oct16.pdf
https://www.npt.gov.uk/media/7239/spg_open_space_july17.pdf
https://www.npt.gov.uk/media/7237/spg_design_july17.pdf
https://www.npt.gov.uk/media/9003/spg_biodiversity_geodiversity_may18.pdf
https://acp.planninginspectorate.gov.uk/ViewDocument.aspx?fileid=20055143


Existing Settlement Pattern 
 
It is noted that the existing settlement pattern consists of residential development 
along and either side of Heol Mabon, which then leads into Heol Tabor. It is also noted 
that the settlement limit extends beyond Heol Tabor into Cornish Row and Heol-Y-
Graig.  
 
As such, the application site would relate well to the settlement and would not be ‘edge’ 
of settlement. As such, the proposal for residential development on this site would 
comply with this element as it would not result in encroachment any further than the 
existing residential development on either side. 
 
Elongation of Existing Settlement Pattern 
 
As stated above, the site is located within the northern side of the settlement limit of 
Cwmafan and would not result in the elongation of the settlement pattern further into 
the countryside. It is therefore considered that the proposal would comply with this 
element. 
 
Sensitive Landscape Area? 
 
It is noted that the site is not is within a Sensitive Landscape Area. 
 
Consolidation of Loose-knit Area? 
 
It is noted that the development of this site would not result in the consolidation of 
loose-knit areas as the site is bounded on three sides by existing residential 
development. As such, the proposal would comply with this element. 
 
SC1 Summary 
 
As identified above the proposal does not fit into any of the identified exceptions to 
Policy SC1 and is therefore contrary to the Development Plan. The above assessment, 
however, has considered whether the development would amount to appropriate infill 
development, and it has been considered that, in this particular instance, the proposal 
would be acceptable as a ‘departure’ from the LDP. This is because the site is 
surrounded by residential development on three sides and would comprise an ‘infill’ 
site in the area, which would not encroach into the open countryside any further than 
the existing residential development on either side. It would also provide much needed 
‘small windfall’ housing which would assist in meeting local housing needs, including 
Affordable Housing, as well as providing a financial contribution to open space in the 
Bryn and Cwmafan Ward. 
 
Turning to Policy BE1 and the proposed density of the site specifically, criterion 8(a) 
requires the efficient use of land available through being of appropriate density taking 
into account the character and appearance of the area, with “normally a minimum of 
35 dwellings per hectare (dph) in the Coastal Corridor Strategy Area” to be achieved. 
 
It has been calculated that the 14 dwellings along the northern side of Heol Tabor have 
a total site area of approximately 0.3612 hectares, which equate to a density of 38 
dph. On the western side, at Park Row, there is a site area of approximately 0.6227 
hectares and 5 residential units which equates to a low density of 8 dph. It is noted 
that the submitted scheme of 6 units on a site area of 0.22 hectares equates to a 

Page 54



density of 27.2 dph. Although this is below the recommendation of 35 dph, it is 
considered that it would be in-between the low density of developments along Park 
Row and higher density of Heol Tabor and, given the potential restrictions due to Coal 
Mining Legacy (see below), the density would be acceptable in this instance. 
 
Having regard to the above conclusion that the principle of residential development 
outside of the defined settlement limit is acceptable, it is noted that Policy SC1 requires 
that “where development is permitted outside settlement limits, any new buildings must 
be located adjacent to existing buildings or settlements wherever possible and be of 
an appropriate scale and form”. Such matters are considered further below. 
 
Impact on Visual Amenity 
 
Although development of this site would result in the loss of its current open 
appearance, given the conclusions above on the principle of development it is 
considered that no objections should be raised to its loss in terms of visual amenity. 
 
It is noted that this application seeks outline permission for 4 detached bungalows and 
a pair of two-storey semi-detached dwellings. It is also noted that the existing 
properties along Heol Tabor comprise two-storey semi-detached dwellings, plus a 
block of flats, whilst the properties along Park Row comprise larger detached 
dwellings, plus a smaller block of flats beyond them. As such, it is noted that there is 
variety in the designs and layouts in the area.  
 
Although there are no bungalows in the immediate vicinity, it is considered that the 
principle of the introduction of ‘infill’ residential development, subject to detailed design 
at reserved matters stage, would not have a detrimental impact upon the character 
and appearance of the surrounding area, open countryside or street-scene.  
 
Impact on Residential Amenity 
 
In respect of potential overlooking, it is noted that the application is in outline only, so 
no detailed floor plans have been submitted. Nevertheless, provided the main 
habitable room windows face north and south only, it is considered that the principle 
of the proposal would not create any unacceptable overlooking issues as these 
windows would overlook the existing street-scene to the south or open land to the 
north. 
 
Turning to potential overbearing and overshadowing impacts, it is considered that the 
only property which could potentially be affected would be Number 1 to the east. 
However, given the likely separation distance of 9m and the fact that Number 1 is 
angled away, it is considered that the proposed two-storey dwelling on Plot 1 could be 
designed in a way which would not give rise to any unacceptable issues. 
 
Impact on Mineral Resource 
 
It is noted that the site is located within a Mineral Safeguarding Area (Coal) under 
Policy M1 of the adopted LDP. Policy M1 looks to safeguard mineral resources as they 
are finite and any development will need to meet criteria which ensure they are not 
sterilised or their extraction hindered.  
 
Notwithstanding the above, it is also noted that the site is within the area defined by 
Policy M2. As such, it would preclude any surface development within 500m of the 

Page 55



settlement limit. Moreover, given the site’s close proximity to the settlement limits, it is 
very unlikely that any mineral extraction would be acceptable in this location, while in 
any event there is no longer Welsh Government policy support for extraction of coal. 
Accordingly, there is no objection to the principle of development on mineral 
safeguarding / Policy M1 and M2 grounds.  
 
Parking and Access Requirements and Impact on Highway Safety 
 
It is noted that each dwelling is proposed to have off-street car parking accessed off 
Heol Tabor. The Head of Engineering and Transport (Highways Section) raised some 
initial concerns with the visibility for Plot 6, due to the existing fence and landscaping 
to the applicant’s property to the west (Ty Ni). However, an amended plan was 
provided (extract below) indicating that they had control over this land (which is edged 
in blue) and can therefore provide the necessary vision splays.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Provided that the requested conditions from the Highways Section are imposed on the 
application – which require the vision splay for Plot 6 to be provided on site before 
commencement of development (including the removal or re-location of any boundary 
structure, gate or vegetation/hedge greater than 600mm in height behind the marked 
vision-splay), and thereafter its retention – it is considered that the principle of the 
residential development would not have a detrimental impact upon highway or 
pedestrian safety such that the proposal would therefore accord with Policy BE1 of the 
Local Development Plan. 
 
Biodiversity / Ecology 
 
An Ecological Walk-over survey was submitted in support of the application. This has 
been assessed in detail by the Biodiversity Officer. As they offer no objection, subject 
to conditions, it is therefore considered that the proposal would be acceptable in terms 
of ecology. 
 
Contaminated Land 
 
It should be noted that the site has been identified as potentially contaminated land. 
However, as the Contaminated Land Unit offers no objection to the proposal, subject 

Page 56



to conditions, it is considered that existing and future users of the site would not be 
adversely affected by ground contamination in terms of exposure to pollution. 
 
Coal Mining Legacy 
 
The site is located within a High Risk Coal Mining Area, and therefore a detailed Coal 
Mining Risk Assessment (CMRA) has been submitted in support of the application. 
This has been assessed in detail by The Coal Authority, who note that within the site 
and surrounding area there are coal mining features and hazards which need to be 
considered in relation to the determination of this planning application. 
 
The Coal Authority’s records indicate that a mine entry (adit, CA ref. 278192-003) is 
present adjacent to the north western boundary of the site, with its associated potential 
zone of influence extending across the site. The adit is oriented to the north. They 
advise that they hold no details of any treatment of this former coal mining related 
feature and, due to potential plotting inaccuracies, the adit could deviate from its 
plotted positon by several metres. In addition, the site lies in an area of outcropping 
coal seam, which may have been subject to unrecorded working in the past. They 
note, however, that the planning application is accompanied by an Assessment of 
Land Quality/ Preliminary Risk Assessment (Desk Study) (October 2020, prepared by 
Quantum Geotechnic Limited), Section 6.0 of which provides a Coal Mining Risk 
Assessment. 
 
Based on a review of appropriate sources of coal mining and geological information, 
the submitted report identifies the potential for the site to be affected by unrecorded 
surface extraction/crop workings, and potentially shallow underground mine workings 
that could pose a risk to surface instability. It also notes the presence of the recorded 
adit and assumes that this feature remains untreated. 
 
They further note that Section 7.2 of the report goes on to make appropriate 
recommendations for the carrying out of intrusive site investigations, in the form of the 
drilling of rotary probe holes and trenching, in order to investigate the shallow coal 
mining situation, and to locate and establish the condition of the recorded adit. 
 
The Coal Authority advises that the applicant should ensure that the exact form of any 
intrusive site investigation is designed by a competent person. The findings of these 
intrusive site investigations should then inform any mitigation measures, such as 
grouting and capping stabilisation works and foundation solutions, which may be 
required in order to remediate mining legacy affecting the site and to ensure the safety 
and stability of the proposed development. In addition, they advise that any form of 
development over or within the influencing distance of a mine entry can be dangerous 
and raises significant safety and engineering risks and exposes all parties to potential 
financial liabilities.  
 
The Coal Authority has adopted a policy where, as a general precautionary principle, 
the building over or within the influencing distance of a mine entry, even when treated, 
should wherever possible be avoided. In light of their adopted policy, the Coal 
Authority therefore expect the intrusive site investigation works to be undertaken prior 
to the formulation of any Reserved Matters details relating to the proposed site layout. 
Once the recommended site investigation works have located the adit and established 
its associated zone of influence, an appropriate ‘no-build’ zone should be defined 
around the adit, with the detailed layout of development designed in a manner which 
avoids this area. Notwithstanding the above however, they offer no objection to this 

Page 57



application subject to the imposition of detailed conditions in respect of detailed on-
site investigation and remedial measures.  
 
Having regard to the above, while the investigations will be required to be undertaken 
before and to inform the reserved matters submissions – and thus may affect the 
layout of development – such matters can be controlled by condition and through the 
subsequent reserved matters application(s). It is therefore considered that the 
principle of residential development would be acceptable in terms of coal mining 
legacy. 
 
Section 106 Planning Obligations 
 
Local Development Plan Policy SP 4 (Infrastructure) states that “Developments will 
be expected to make efficient use of existing infrastructure and where required make 
adequate provision for new infrastructure, ensuring that there are no detrimental 
effects on the area and community. Where necessary, Planning Obligations will be 
sought to ensure that the effects of developments are fully addressed in order to make 
the development acceptable”. 
 
Policy I1 (Infrastructure Requirements) then states that “In addition to infrastructure 
improvements necessary to make a development acceptable in health, safety and 
amenity terms, additional works or funding may be required to ensure that, where 
appropriate, the impact of new development is mitigated. These requirements will 
include consideration of and appropriate provision for: Affordable housing; Open 
space and recreation facilities; Welsh language infrastructure (in language Sensitive 
Areas); Community facilities including community hubs; Biodiversity, environmental 
and conservation interests; Improving access to facilities and services including the 
provision of walking and cycling routes; Historic and built environment and public 
realm improvements; Community and public transport; Education and training. 
 
The Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 came into force on 6th April 2010 
in England and Wales. They introduced limitations on the use of planning obligations 
(Reg. 122 refers). As of 6th April 2010, a planning obligation may only legally constitute 
a reason for granting planning permission if it is:  
 
(a)  necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms;  
(b)  directly related to the development; and  
(c)  fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development.  
 
In this case, the proposal relates to a planning application for the development of 6 
residential units. 
 
In view of the type and form of development proposed in this location, having regard 
to local circumstances and needs arising from the development, the following planning 
obligations are considered necessary to make the development acceptable in planning 
terms and to meet the policy and legislative tests for planning obligations. 
 
Affordable Housing 
 
Policy AH1 of the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan states that all new 
housing developments will be required to contribute to affordable housing provision. 
Within the Port Talbot spatial area, a 25% affordable housing target is sought. As this 
application is in outline form with all matters reserved, a suitably worded condition 

Page 58



would normally be sufficient requiring a 25% contribution towards affordable housing, 
which would need to be agreed at reserved matters stage.  
 
However, as the 25% would in this case equate to 1.5 dwellings – with one unit to be 
provided on site (transferred to an RSL at 40% of market value), plus a financial 
contribution for the remaining 0.5 unit – this would need to be controlled through a 
Section 106 as financial contributions can only be secured through legal agreement. 
 
Subject to the above agreement, it is considered that the development would comply 
with Policy AH1 of the LDP. 
 
Public Open Space / Children’s Play Facilities 
 
Policy OS1 states where there is a quantitative deficiency in outdoor sport, children’s 
play, informal space or allotments, provision will be sought, including the requirement 
for maintenance in conjunction with all new residential developments of 3 or more 
dwellings, based on the following standards:  
 

Open Space Standard 

Outdoor Sport 1.6 hectares per 1.000 population 
Children’s Play 0.25 hectares per 1,000 population 
Informal Space 0.55 hectares per 1,000 population 
Allotments 0.19 hectares per 1,000 population 

 
Having regard to the ‘Open Space Assessment 2013, produced in support of the 
adopted Local Development Plan, it is noted that there are existing ward shortfalls, as 
detailed below. Accordingly, the existing deficiencies would be exacerbated by the 
increase in population arising from the proposed development, and there is a need for 
the development to contribute towards addressing such deficiency.  
 
It should be noted that the site lies within the Bryn and Cwmafan ward, where there 
are existing ward shortfalls in all categories of open space, with the exception of 
informal open space.  
 
The development, therefore, has the following open space requirements: 
Pitch sport - 158sqm 
Non pitch sport - 62sqm 
Children’s play - 34sqm 
Informal open space - 76sqm  
Allotments - 26sqm 
 
Potential S106 Capital costs for Public Open Space are as follows: 
Pitch sport - £1,704 
Non pitch sport - £6,180 
Children’s play - £5,130 
Informal - £0 (as overprovision) 
Allotments - £288 
 
Total - £13,302 
 
This contribution can be secured through a legal agreement. 
 

Page 59



Other Matters 
 
As identified earlier in this report, a number of objections were received in response 
following the publicity exercise. In response to the main issues raised which have not 
been addressed elsewhere in this report, the following comments are made: 
 

 In respect of the concerns regarding water diversion from the applicant’s 
summerhouse and lane discharging over the highway, it should be noted that this 
is an existing problem. However, the amendments to the fence/hedging to provide 
the required vision splays should, hopefully, address this issue. 

 In respect of potential drainage and flooding issues, including the existing culvert 
on site, it should be noted that the Head of Engineering and Transport (Drainage 
Section) offers no objection to the proposal, subject to conditions including a 
surface water drainage strategy. It should also be noted that, prior to the 
commencement of any works on site, the developer will also be required to obtain 
SAB Drainage Consent from the Authority, which will deal with the detailed 
drainage of the site. It is therefore considered that the principle of the development 
would be acceptable in terms of drainage. 

 Turning to the concerns regarding sewerage capacity in the area, it should be noted 
that Welsh Water offer no objection to the proposal, subject to a condition in respect 
of a foul drainage scheme. As they have not raised any capacity issues it is 
therefore considered that the proposal for up to 6 units would not create any 
unacceptable capacity issues. 

 Finally, in respect of the concern regarding the address and advertising of the 
application these are noted. The address on the planning system has been 
changed to “Land at Heol Tabor” rather than “Land at 3 Heol Tabor”. It should be 
noted that the address is used purely to help identify the site, particularly when it 
relates to ‘land’ rather than buildings. Nevertheless, it should be noted that the 
application site is defined by the site/land edged in red on the submitted location 
plan. It is therefore considered that the application has been advertised sufficiently 
in the form of neighbours letters, site notices and a Press Notice. 

 
CONCLUSION 
 
The decision to recommend planning permission has been taken in accordance with 
Section 38 of The Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, which requires that, 
in determining a planning application the determination must be in accordance with 
the Development Plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.  The 
Development Plan comprises the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan (2011–
2026) adopted January 2016. 
 
While the proposal would constitute a ‘departure’ from the Local Development Plan, 
there are considered to be material considerations which justify approval of the 
application, notably that the Coal Mining Legacy issued have been suitably addressed 
and the site is surrounded by residential development on three sides, which in this 
particular instance allow a conclusion that the development would amount to 
appropriate ‘infill’ development. In addition, it would not have a detrimental impact 
upon residential amenity or upon the character and appearance of the surrounding 
area/open countryside, and there would be no adverse impact upon highway and 
pedestrian safety. Accordingly, while the proposal would be contrary to Policy SC1, it 
would otherwise comply with Policies AH1, OS1, EN6, EN7, EN8, M1, M2, TR2 and 
BE1 of the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan.  

Page 60



 
It is further considered that the decision complies with the Council’s well-being 
objectives and the sustainable development principle in accordance with the 
requirements of the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015. 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION   

That the application is approved, subject to the following conditions, and a legal 
agreement under Section 106 with the following Heads of Terms: 
 

(1) That 25% affordable housing is provided in the form of one unit on the site and 
a financial contribution equivalent to 0.5 of a unit (in accordance with the 
Council’s approved Affordable Housing SPG); 
 

(2) Prior to the first beneficial occupation of any dwellings on site a financial 
contribution of £13,302 shall be provided for off-site Open Space contribitions 
within the Bryn and Cwmafan Ward; and  

 
(3) If within 3 months of the date of this resolution the S106 Agreement is not 

signed, the application shall be refused for the following reason: 
 

“Through the failure to sign the required S106 agreement to secure the required 
Affordable Housing and Open Space contributions the application fails to 
accord with Policies I1, AH1 and OS1 of the Neath Port Talbot Local 
Development Plan”. 

 

CONDITIONS:-  

 

Time Limit Conditions 

 
 1 Details of the access, appearance, landscaping, layout, and scale, (hereinafter 

called "the reserved matters") shall be submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority before any development begins and the 
development shall be carried out as approved. 

  
 Reason: 
 
 The application was made for outline planning permission. 
 
 
 
 2 The development shall begin either before the expiration of five years from the 

date of this permission or before the expiration of two years from the date of 
approval of the last of the reserved matters to be approved, whichever is the 
later. 

  
 Reason: 
 To comply with the requirements of Section 92 of the Town and Country Planning 

Act 1990. 
 

Page 61



List of Approved Plans 
 
 3 The development shall be carried out in accordance with the following approved 

plans and documents:  
 Dwg. No. A100 Rev C. 
 Dwg. No. A101 Rev A. 
 Planning Statement. 
 Ecological Walkover (Koru Ecology Associates - Oct 2020). 
 Assessment of Land Quality/Preliminary Risk Assessment (Q0353/DS - Oct 

2020). 
  
 Reason:  
 In the interests of clarity. 
 
Pre-Commencement Conditions 
 
 4 As part of the first reserved matters application, a scheme shall be provided 

indicating the provision of a 2.4m x 33m visibility splay for plot 6 as identified on 
Dwg. No. A100 Rev C, including details of the removal or re-location of any 
boundary structure, gate or vegetation/hedge greater than 600mm in height 
behind the marked vision-splay, together with the finished appearance of such 
cleared area. No development shall commence on site until such time as the 
vision splay for Plot 6, as detailed on Dwg. No. A100 Rev C, has been provided 
on site in accordance with the approved details, with the  vision splay thereafter 
retained and maintained in accordance with the approved details in perpetuity 
thereafter. 

  
 Reason: 
 In the interest of highway and pedestrian safety and to comply with Policy TR2 

of the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan. 
 
 5 Notwithstanding the submitted details and as part of the first reserved matters 

application an assessment of the nature and extent of contamination affecting 
the application site area shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. This assessment must be carried out by or under the 
direction of a suitably qualified competent person in accordance with BS10175 
(2011) 'Investigation of Potentially Contaminated Sites Code of Practice' and 
shall assess any contamination on the site, whether or not it originates on the 
site. The report of the findings shall include: 

  
 (i) a desk top study to identify all previous uses at the site and potential 

contaminants associated with those uses and the impacts from those 
contaminants on land and controlled waters. The desk study shall establish a 
'conceptual site model' (CSM) which identifies and assesses all identified 
potential source, pathway, and receptor linkages; 

 (ii) an intrusive investigation to assess the extent, scale and nature of 
contamination which may be present, if identified as required by the desk top 
study; 

 (iii) an assessment of the potential risks to: 
 -  human health, 
 -  groundwater and surface waters 
 -  adjoining land, 

Page 62



 -  property (existing or proposed) including buildings, crops, livestock, pets, 
woodland and service lines and pipes, 

 -  ecological systems, 
 -  archaeological sites and ancient monuments; and-  any other receptors 

identified at (i) 
 (iv) an appraisal of remedial options, and justification for the preferred remedial 

option(s). 
  
 Reason: 
 To ensure that information provided for the assessment of the risks from land 

contamination to the future users of the land, neighbouring land, controlled 
waters, property and ecological systems is sufficient to enable a proper 
assessment, and to ensure compliance with Policies SP16 and EN8 of the Neath 
Port Talbot Local Development Plan. 

 
6 No development shall commence on site until a remediation scheme to bring the 

site to a condition suitable for the intended use by removing any unacceptable 
risks to human health, buildings, other property and the natural and historic 
environment shall be prepared and submitted to and approved in writing with the 
Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall include all works to be undertaken, 
proposed remediation objectives, remediation criteria and site management 
procedures. The measures proposed within the remediation scheme shall be 
implemented in accordance with an agreed programme of works.  

  
 Reason:  
 To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and 

neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, 
property and ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can be 
carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other 
offsite receptors, and to ensure compliance with Policies SP16 and EN8 of the 
Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan. 

 
 7 The first reserved matters application seeking approval of a detailed layout of 

development for the site shall be accompanied by the results of  a detailed 
scheme for intrusive investigations which shall have been carried out on site in 
accordance with the recommendations contained in the supporting Assessment 
of Land Quality/ Preliminary Risk Assessment (Desk Study) , in order to establish 
the exact situation in respect of coal mining legacy at the site. The intrusive site 
investigations shall be carried out in accordance with authoritative UK guidance. 
Any reserved matters application seeking approval of a detailed layout of 
development for the site, shall include as a minimum the following details for 
consideration and approval by the Local Planning Authority: 

 (i) A report of findings arising from the intrusive site investigations; 
 (ii) The submission of a proposed layout plan which: - identifies the positions of 

the recorded mine entry; identifies the potential zones of influence of the mine 
entry; and defines a suitable 'no build' zone around this feature; and the 
submission of details of remedial / mitigatory measures required to protect the 
development and site from the effects of coal mining related land instability, 
together with a timetable for their implementation. 

  
 The scheme, as approved, including the remedial / mitigatory measures required 

to protect the development and site from the effects of coal mining related land 

Page 63



instability shall be fully implemented on site in accordance with the agreed 
timetable and retained as such thereafter. 

  
 Reason: 
 As the application site is located within a High Risk Coal Mining Legacy and to 

establish the exact situation in respect of coal mining legacy at the site in 
compliance with Policy BE1 of the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan. 

 
8 Prior to the commencement of works on site commencing, the Fallopia Japonica 

(Japanese Knotweed) that is located on the site shall be treated and controlled 
in accordance with the Environment Agency Knotweed Code of Practice. 

  
 Reason:  
 In the interests of amenity, and to ensure that the treatment is carried out in 

accordance with recognised good practice and to accord with Policy SP15 of the 
adopted Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan. 

 
9 Prior to the commencement of any works on site including site clearance, and in 

accordance with the Ecological Report (Koru Ecology Associates - October 
2020), an Ecological Walkover shall be undertaken on site by a suitably 
competent Ecological Clerk of Works (ECoW). The ECoW will conduct a finger-
tip search for common reptile and amphibian species, as well as small mammals, 
and these shall be removed to a suitable location. 

  
 Reason: 
 In the interest of Biodiversity and to comply with Policies EN6 and EN7 of the 

Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan. 
 
Action Conditions 
 
10 As part of the first reserved matters application a detailed scheme shall be 

submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority detailing the 
provision of a 2m wide footway across the frontage of the application site, plus 
vehicle footway cross-over for the respective drive areas. The scheme, as 
approved, shall be fully implemented on site prior to the first beneficial occupation 
of any dwelling, and shall be retained open and free for public use thereafter. 

  
 Reason: 
 In the interest of highway and pedestrian safety and to comply with Policy TR2 

of the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan. 
 
 
11 As part of the first reserved matters application a scheme shall be submitted to 

and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority detailing the provision of 
obstruction-free (i.e. nothing greater then 600mm in height shall be constructed 
or planted) pedestrian vision splays of 2.4m by 2.4m (measured from the back of 
footway) each side of the respective drive access. The approved scheme shall 
be fully implemented on site prior to the occupation of the respective dwelling, 
and retained as such thereafter. 

  

 Reason: 
 In the interest of highway and pedestrian safety and to comply with Policy TR2 

of the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan. 

Page 64



  
12 As part of the first reserved matters application a scheme shall be submitted to 

and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority detailing the provision of 
one off-street parking space per bedroom, up to a maximum of three per dwelling. 
Each drive shall be a minimum length of 6.0 metres from back of footway to front 
of garage structure, 3.6 metres minimum width and shall be surfaced to its 
finished level to a maximum gradient of 1 in 9, with no surface water allowed to 
flow out onto the Public Highway. The scheme, as approved, shall be provided 
on site prior to the first beneficial occupation of the respective dwelling, and 
retained for such use thereafter. 

  

 Reason: 
 In the interest of highway and pedestrian safety and to comply with Policy TR2 

of the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan. 
 
13 As part of the first reserved matters application a surface water drainage strategy 

shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority 
detailing the existing watercourses within and that discharge within the boundary 
of the site, together with overland flow routes for the land to the western boundary 
of the site. This strategy shall also include any easements that may be deemed 
necessary to maintain the existing culvert inlet grill by the Lead Local Flood 
Authority. The submitted scheme shall also include a timetable for 
implementation on site. The scheme, as approved, shall be fully implemented on 
site prior to the first beneficial occupation of any dwelling, and retained as such 
thereafter. 

  

 Reason: 
 In the interest of adequate drainage of the site and to comply with Policy BE1 of 

the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan. 
 
14 Prior to beneficial use of the proposed development commencing, a verification 

report which demonstrates the effectiveness of the agreed remediation works 
carried out in accordance with Condition 6 shall have been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  

   

 Reason:  
 To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and 

neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, 
property and ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can be 
carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other 
offsite receptors and to ensure compliance with Policies SP16 and EN8 of the 
Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan. 

15 In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out the 
approved development that was not previously identified, work on site shall 
cease immediately and shall be reported in writing to the Local Planning 
Authority. A Desk Study, Site Investigation, Risk Assessment and where 
necessary a Remediation Strategy must be undertaken in accordance with the 
following document:- Land Contamination: A Guide for Developers (WLGA, WAG 
& EAW, July 2006). This document shall be submitted to and agreed in writing 
with the Local Planning Authority. Prior to occupation of the development, a 
verification report which demonstrates the effectiveness of the agreed 
remediation, shall be submitted to and agreed in writing with the Local Planning 
Authority.  

    
Page 65



 Reason:  
 To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and 

neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, 
property and ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can be 
carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other 
off site receptors, and to ensure compliance with Policies SP16 and EN8 of the 
Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan. 

 
16 As part of the first reserved matters application a scheme indicating the positions, 

height, design, materials and type of boundary treatment to be erected to all 
boundaries shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.  The boundary treatment shall be completed, as approved, prior the 
first beneficial use is of the respective dwelling and retained as such thereafter. 

  
 Reason:   
 In the interest of visual amenity and to ensure compliance with Policy BE1 of the 

Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan. 
 
17 As part of the first reserved matters application details of proposed ground levels 

and finished floor levels shall be submitted to and approved in writing with the 
Local Planning Authority. The development shall be carried out in accordance 
with the approved details and retained as such thereafter. 

  
 Reason:   
 In the interest of visual amenity and to ensure compliance with Policy BE1 of the 

Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan. 
 
18 As part of the first reserved matters application, a foul water drainage scheme 

for the site shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The scheme shall provide for the disposal of foul water flows and 
thereafter implemented in accordance with the approved details prior to the 
occupation of any dwelling, and retained as such thereafter.   

  
 Reason:  
 To prevent hydraulic overloading of the public sewerage system, to protect the 

health and safety of existing residents and ensure no pollution of or detriment to 
the environment, and ensure the development complies with Policy SP16 and 
BE1 of the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan. 

 
19 Prior to their use in the construction of the development hereby permitted, details 

and samples of the materials to be used in the construction of the external 
surfaces of the development shall have been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. Development shall be carried out in 
accordance with the approved details. 

  
 Reason: 
 In the interest of the visual amenity of the area and to ensure the development 

complies with Policy BE1 of the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan. 
 
  

Page 66



20 As part of the first reserved matters application a detailed scheme shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority detailing the 
provision of artificial nesting sites for birds, together with roosting opportunities 
for bats in the form of manufactured bat boxes onto the buildings or incorporation 
of manufactured bat bricks into the building. These scheme, as approved, shall 
be fully implemented on site prior to the first beneficial occupation of the 
respective dwelling, and retained as such thereafter. 

  
 Reason: 
 In the interest of Biodiversity as the proposals will remove potential bird 

nesting/foraging habitats which must be mitigated for under the Habitat 
Regulations 2017, together with Biodiversity enhancement for bats,  in order to 
comply with Policies EN6 and EN7 of the Neath Port Talbot Local Development 
Plan. 

  
 Regulatory Conditions 
 
21 Any gates provided across the access drive(s) shall be of a type which open 

inward only and can be seen through, and shall be retained as such thereafter. 
  
 Reason: 
 In the interest of highway and pedestrian safety and to ensure compliance with 

Policy TR2 of the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan. 
 
22 Notwithstanding the provisions of Schedule 2, Part 1, Class E of the Town and 

Country Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 1995 (as amended 
for Wales) (or any order revoking and re-enacting that order with or without 
modification), no buildings shall be erected other than those expressly authorised 
by this permission and identified on the approved drawings. 

  
 Reason:  
 In order to safeguard the amenities of the area by enabling the Local Planning 

Authority to consider whether planning permission should be granted for garages 
or outbuildings having regard to the particular layout and design of the 
development, residential amenity, and Coal Mining Legacy, and to accord with 
Policies BE1 and SC1 of the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan. 

 
23 Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General 

Permitted Development) Order 1995 (as amended for Wales) (or any order 

revoking and re-enacting that Order with or without modification), there shall be 

no extension or external alteration to any building forming part of the 

development hereby permitted without the prior grant of planning permission in 

that behalf.   

 Reason:  
 In order to safeguard the amenities of the area by enabling the Local Planning 

Authority to consider whether planning permission should be granted for 
extensions, having regard to the particular layout and design of the development 
and need to protect the amenity of nearby properties, and Coal Mining Legacy, 
and to accord with Policies BE1 and SC1 of the Neath Port Talbot Local 
Development Plan. 

 

Page 67



24 Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General 
Permitted Development) Order 1995 (as amended for Wales) (or any order 
revoking and re-enacting that Order with or without modification), no fences, 
gates or walls shall be erected to the frontage of the site greater than 600mm in 
height. 

  
 Reason: 
 In the interest of highway and pedestrian safety and to comply with Policy TR2 

of the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan. 
 
 
                                                                                                                                                   
 
 
 

Page 68



Page 1 of 18   

SECTION A – MATTERS FOR DECISION 
 
Planning Applications Recommended For Approval 

 

APPLICATION NO: P2020/1041 

PROPOSAL: Change of use from Convenience Store (Use Class A1) 
and associated 4-Bed Flat (Use Class C3) into 8-Bed 
HMO (Sui Generis Use Class), including installation of 
new windows 

LOCATION: 45 Victoria Road, Sandfields, SA12 6QG  

APPLICANT: Mr James Stevens 

TYPE: Full 

WARD: Sandfields East 

 
BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
 
This application was requested by Cllrs Latham and Crowley on 26/01/2021 to 
be determined at Planning Committee due to concerns with parking and the 
impact on residential amenity. 
 
The ‘call-in’ Panel agreed on 27/01/2021 that the application should be 
determined at Planning Committee. 
 
SITE AND CONTEXT 
 
The application site is located at 45 Victoria Road, Sandfields, Port Talbot and 
comprises a two-storey end-of-terrace property currently used as a retail 
premises (Use Class A1) on the ground-floor with large four bedroom first-floor 
flat above (with kitchen/dining at rear of ground floor).  
 
The plot measures approximately 0.018 hectares in area and is bounded by a 
rear access lane to the north, residential dwelling to the east, Victoria Road to 
the south, and Hospital Road to the west. 
 
DESCRIPTION OF DEVELOPMENT 
 
This is a full planning application for the change of use of the property from 
Convenience Store (Use Class A1) and associated 4-Bed Flat (Use Class C3) 
into an 8-Bed large HMO (Sui Generis Use1). In addition, alterations are 
proposed to the windows, front elevation and creation of a front forecourt with 
boundary wall. 
 
 

                                           
1 Use Class C4 are ‘small’ HMOs for between 3 and 6 unrelated individuals who share basic 
amenities.  Large houses in multiple occupation (those with more than six people sharing) are 
unclassified by the Use Classes Order and in planning terms are therefore considered to be 
‘sui generis’ (of their own kind). 

Page 69

Agenda Item 6



Page 2 of 18   

The proposed development will involve the change of use of the existing 
ground-floor shop into 4-bedrooms (all en-suite) with a snug/lounge area and 
kitchen. The rear garage/store is proposed to be used for bin and cycle storage. 
On the first-floor a further 4-bedrooms are proposed (all en-suite).  
 
Externally, the existing entrance door to the shop is proposed to be changed 
into a window, the ATM removed and the window re-instated, plus the walls 
rendered. Additional windows are also proposed on the ground-floor side and 
rear elevations. Furthermore, a new side-facing window is proposed on the first-
floor serving the ‘middle’ bedroom. 
 
To the front of the property it is proposed to create a front forecourt by 
constructing a 1.6m high wall with railings and side access gate. 
 
It should be noted that the Case Officer has not visited the internal yard of the 
site due to COVID-19 restrictions. However, he has viewed the site from the 
surrounding street, together with an examination of Google Street-view and 
aerial images. The agent has also provided photographs. It is considered that 
these are sufficient for a detailed assessment to be made of the impacts of the 
development. 
 
All plans / documents submitted in respect of this application can be viewed on 
the Council’s online register. 
 
NEGOTIATIONS 
 
Amended plans were requested from the Agent in respect of the internal layout 
in order to satisfy Environmental Health requirements, including the removal of 
1 no. bedroom. Further amended plans were also requested from the developer 
in respect of the rendering of the front elevation and creation of a front forecourt. 
 
PLANNING HISTORY 
 
The application site has the following relevant planning history: - 
 

 T1983/4527 Renew Mains Extension to Existing Shop. Approved 
15/02/84. 
 

 P2003/0016 Boundary wall to be built up and roof covered with 
single-door to secure rear of premises. Approved 
12/02/03. 
 

 P2013/0761 Internally-illuminated ATM collar advertisement. 
Approved 26/09/13. 
 

 P2013/0778 External alteration comprising of enlarged window to 
facilitate ATM and security panel. Approved 
26/09/13. 

 

Page 70

http://appsportal.npt.gov.uk/ords/idocs12/f?p=Planning:2:0::NO::P2_REFERENCE:P2020/1041


Page 3 of 18   

CONSULTATIONS 
 
Head of Engineering & Transport (Highways): No objection, subject to a 
condition. 
 
Contaminated Land Section: No objection. 
 
Environmental Health Section: No objection, subject to conditions. 
 
Welsh Water: No objection. 
 
REPRESENTATIONS 
 
The neighbouring properties were consulted on 04/12/2020 and 19/01/2021, 
with a site notice also displayed on 03/12/2020 and 19/01/2021.   
 
In response, to date, 86 no. representations (including a petition of 404+ 
signatures) have been received, together with 1 letter of support. The objections 
are summarised as follows: 
 

 Concerns regarding parking provision, the lack of on-street parking 
availability and indiscriminate parking – particularly on a busy traffic-light 
controlled junction. 

 Concerns regarding the future occupiers of the property. 

 Concerns that the proposal is out-of-keeping with the current residential 
character of the area. 

 Concerns regarding the size of the en-suite facilities and hand-washing, 
the size of the communal kitchen and snug facilities for 8+ people. 

 Concerns regarding 8 people to be contained within a ‘bubble’ under the 
current pandemic. 

 Concerns that the proposal will decrease property values. 

 Concerns regarding the vacant shop opposite, which could also turn into 
an HMO if this is approved. 

 Concerns regarding bin storage, which could potentially obstruct the 
footway and/or lane. 

 Concerns regarding anti-social behaviour from HMOs, such as litter from 
needles and cans. 

 Concerns regarding the safety of children. 

 Concerns regarding loud music. 

 Will there be a reduction in Council Tax if this is approved, due to 
decrease in property values and having to clean up rubbish and mess? 

 The site should be converted into a small parking lot due to the lack of 
parking in the area. 

 Concerns regarding the location of the site opposite a pharmacy, near a 
school (Tywyn) and playground (Vivian Park) is not a good idea. 

 Concerns that the last tenant did not give up the shop voluntarily, so 
there is no excuse that it had to close because of lack of trade. 

 The submitted information states that the nearby Nisa store has a Post 
Office and ATM. However, this out of date and they are no longer 
present. 

Page 71



Page 4 of 18   

 Controls needs to be put in place, such as making the rooms available 
to people of 50 years or older, like the Coastal Flats nearby, which do 
not have any anti-social problems. 

 Is there a NPT Council planning policy on the number of HMO allowed 
in a specific area? If not why? 

 Concerns that there are very few commercial food/convenience outlets 
in the area for people who don't drive etc., so losing the commercial 
license on this building is a mistake. 

 Do the developers have any qualifications that will help the tenants as 
many living in HMO accommodation have complex needs and need to 
be helped, monitored and looked after? 

 Concerns regarding disabled access to the property due to the short 
pavements and shape of the building. 

 Potential increase in crime in the area with many residents already 
needing to erect CCTV cameras. 

 Potential loss of light and air for local residents. 

 Concerns regarding parking provision, as the development on The 
Grove PH needed to have a minimum of two parking spaces for each 
flat. There appears to be one rule for one, and a different rule for another. 

 HMOs are generally poorly managed and maintained, and will attract 
numerous problems. 

 A consultation with local residents are needed. 

 There are existing problems with the current HMO in the area and an 
additional one will exacerbate these. 

 
The on-line petition of 400+ signatures states: 
 
“There is a planning application to build an 8 bed HMO in Victoria Road, the 
residents of Victoria Road are in opposition to this as a HMO in a residential 
street will have an effect on the value of our properties, it will also cause more 
car parking issues than there already is, as well as the issue of not knowing the 
people they plan to house in there. We are concerned that there may be people 
such as those being released from prison with drug/alcohol issues which we do 
not want living next to our children. Noise pollution and lack of privacy is also a 
concern for the houses in close proximity”. 
 
REPORT 
 
The Well-being of Future Generations Act (Wales) 2015 places a duty on the 
Council to take reasonable steps in exercising its functions to meet its 
sustainable development (or wellbeing) objectives. This report has been 
prepared in consideration of the Council’s duty and the “sustainable 
development principle”, as set out in the 2015 Act. In reaching the 
recommendation set out below, the Council has sought to ensure that the needs 
of the present are met without compromising the ability of future generations to 
meet their own needs. 

Page 72



Page 5 of 18   

 
National Planning Policy: 
 
Planning Policy Wales (Edition 10) was extensively revised and restructured at 
the end of 2018 to take into account the themes and approaches set out in the 
Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015, and to deliver the vision 
for Wales that is set out therein.  
 
PPW10 takes the seven Well-being Goals and the five Ways of Working as 
overarching themes and embodies a placemaking approach throughout, with 
the aim of delivering Active and Social Places, Productive and Enterprising 
Places and Distinctive and Natural Places. It also identifies the planning system 
as one of the main tools to create sustainable places, and that placemaking 
principles are a tool to achieving this through both plan making and the decision 
making process. 
 
PPW is supported by a series of more detailed Technical Advice Notes (TANs), 
of which the following are of relevance: - 
 

 Technical Advice Note 12: Design  

 Technical Advice Note 15: Development and Flood Risk 
 
Local Planning Policies 
 
The Development Plan for the area comprises the Neath Port Talbot Local 
Development Plan which was adopted in January 2016, and within which the 
following policies are of relevance: 
 
Strategic Policies: 
 

 Policy SP7 Housing Requirement 

 Policy SP12  Retail 

 Policy SP20 Transport Network 
 
Topic Based Policies: 
 

 Policy SC1 Settlement limits 

 Policy SC2  Protection of Existing Community Facilities 

 Policy TR2  Design and Access of New Development  

 Policy BE1  Design  
 
Supplementary Planning Guidance: 
 
The following SPG is of relevance to this application: - 
 

 Parking Standards (October 2016) 

 Design (July 2017) 
 

Page 73

https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-02/planning-policy-wales-edition-10.pdf
https://gov.wales/technical-advice-notes
https://www.npt.gov.uk/7328
https://www.npt.gov.uk/7328
file://///decs-fs1/decsgroup/Planning%20Management/Steve/OFFICER%20REPORTS%20PROJECT/Policy%20SP7%09Housing%20Requirement%09https:/www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf%23PAGE=53
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=65
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=83
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=38
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=38
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=84
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=87
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/spg_parking_standards_oct16.pdf
https://www.npt.gov.uk/media/7237/spg_design_july17.pdf


Page 6 of 18   

Issues 
 
Having regard to the above, the main issues to consider in this application relate 
to the principle of the development at this location, together with the impact on 
the visual amenity of the area, the amenities of neighbouring residents and 
highway safety. 
 
Principle of Development 
 
Background Information  
 
As background, it is of note that in February 2016 the Welsh Government 
introduced changes to the Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order to 
create a new use class for Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMO) (Class C4). 
The Use Class C4 in broad terms covers shared houses or flats occupied by 
between three and six unrelated individuals who share basic amenities, such 
as the proposals set out within this submission.  
 
The change to the Use Classes Order therefore served to bring the change of 
use of dwellings (which fall in Class C3) to HMO’s within the control of Planning 
Authorities by making such changes subject to planning permission. The 
reason for the change in the Use Class Order followed a recognition that, in 
some parts of the Country, the number of HMOs within an area was having an 
adverse impact upon the character of an area.  
 
It should be noted that large houses in multiple occupation (those with more 
than six people sharing such as is proposed under this application) remain 
unclassified by the Use Classes Order and in planning terms are therefore 
considered to be ‘sui generis’. 
 
Having regard to the above, it is acknowledged that concentrations of HMOs 
can, in some instances, lead to a range of cultural, social and economic 
changes in a community and that high concentrations have the potential to 
create local issues. The Council does not, however, have any specific local 
Policies aimed at preventing the spread of HMOs at present. This is due largely 
to the absence of any significant historical issue in the area, and the introduction 
of the C4 Use Class post adoption of the LDP. 
 
Evolving National Policy Context 
 
The Welsh Government issued Planning Policy Wales Edition 10 in December 
2018 in a substantially revised form developed around the goals embodied in 
the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015.  
 
This includes a significant emphasis on placemaking and the creation of 
sustainable places and their role in improving the wellbeing of communities.  
Indeed, PPW10 emphasises that one of the “Key Planning Principles” is 
“Creating & sustaining communities”, noting that: 
 
“The planning system must work in an integrated way to maximise its 
contribution to well-being. It can achieve this by creating well-designed places 

Page 74

https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-02/planning-policy-wales-edition-10.pdf


Page 7 of 18   

and cohesive rural and urban communities which can be sustained by ensuring 
the appropriate balance of uses and density, making places where people want 
to be and interact with others. Our communities need the right mix of good 
quality/well designed homes, jobs, services, infrastructure and facilities so that 
people feel content with their everyday lives.” 
 
It goes further to add that Social Considerations include: 
 

 who are the interested and affected people and communities;  

 how does the proposal change a person’s way of life, which can include:  
o how people live, for example how they get around and access 

services;  
o how people work, for example access to adequate employment;  
o how people socialise, for example access to recreation activities; and  
o how people interact with one another on a daily basis  

 who will benefit and suffer any impacts from the proposal;  

 what are the short and long-term consequences of the proposal on a 
community, including its composition, cohesion, character, how it functions 
and its sense of place; and 

 how does the proposal support development of more equal and more 
cohesive communities.  

 
When referring to housing (at 4.2.1), PPW also emphasises the need for 
Councils to “make informed development management decisions that focus on 
the creation and enhancement of Sustainable Places”. In this regard, it is 
considered that Planning has an important role in ensuring not only that new 
development creates places, and communities, but also that existing 
communities are protected and enhanced, and that cohesive communities are 
retained.  
 
Evolving Local Context 
 
Although it is emphasised that it is not directly relevant to this Authority or its 
decisions, it is also of note that the City & County of Swansea (CCS) adopted 
its LDP in February 2019, which now includes a HMO Policy, accepted by the 
LDP Inspectors, and based on local background evidence, notably a report by 
an independent company called Lichfields. 
 
That background evidence report, while focussing on CCS, is nevertheless of 
relevance insofar as it identifies the wider national context.   
 
That report notes that: - 
 

 HMOs represent an efficient use of building resources, where a single house 
can be fully utilised to provide accommodation for multiple people. 

 Notwithstanding their positive contributions and important socio-economic 
role, areas with high densities of HMOs can also be characterised by 
problems with community cohesion, higher levels of noise and waste 
complaints, and place a strain on services. 

Page 75



Page 8 of 18   

 The positive impacts of HMOs are realised and, with rising pressures from 
the increased number of students, the need for affordable and flexible 
housing tenancies, and the changes to Housing Benefit, their role within the 
housing market is increasingly important. 

 
The analysis undertaken by Lichfields identified a correlation between areas 
with high densities of HMOs and community cohesion issues. These negative 
impacts were summarised as: 
 
1.  Higher levels of transient residents, fewer long term households and 

established families, leading to communities which are not balanced; 
 
2.  Isolation for the remaining family households in areas with very high 

concentrations of HMOs; 
 
3.  Reduction in provision of community facilities for families and children, 

in particular pressure on the viability of schools through falling rolls; 
 
4.  Issues of anti-social behaviour, noise, burglary and other crime; 
 
5.  Increased pressure regarding on-street parking, although this might be 

expected in City Centre fringe locations; 
 
6.  Reduction in the quality of the local environment and street scene as a 

consequence of increased litter, lack of suitable refuse storage, refuse 
left on the street, fly tipping, increased levels of housing disrepair in the 
private rented sector, and high numbers of letting signs. 

 
As a consequence of this research, CCS now has an adopted HMO Policy in 
their LDP. However, the complexity of assessing whether any proposed change 
of use has a harmful impact on local character or community cohesion is 
demonstrated by the varying criterion in their Policy, which includes a 
requirement (outside of their HMO Management areas – these being existing 
areas of high HMO concentration) for any proposal not to result in more than 
10% of all residential  properties within a 50m radius of the proposal being 
HMOs, and within ‘small streets’ for a proposal to not “create a disproportionate 
over-concentration of HMOs within that street”. In addition to specifying % rates 
within designated areas, the policy also requires an assessment of whether the 
development would have an unacceptable adverse impact caused by noise 
nuisance and general disturbance.  
 
The supporting text to their Policy is also relevant to a wider understanding of 
the issue, insofar as it emphasises that there is a need for future HMO provision 
to be managed sustainably in the interests of fostering cohesive communities, 
including avoiding instances of over-concentration of HMO properties to the 
detriment of residential amenity and community balance. These objectives are 
equally pertinent to consideration of this application. 
 
It also emphasises that “National research has identified that 10% is a general 
‘tipping point’ beyond which the evidence indicates that a concentration of 
HMOs can begin to have an adverse impact on the character and balance of a 

Page 76



Page 9 of 18   

community. This tipping point is described as a threshold beyond which a 
community can ‘tip’ from a balanced position in terms of demographic norms 
and impacts, towards a demographic that is noticeably more mixed in terms of 
shared and family households.  
 
Assessment of Current Application 
 
While it is again emphasised that the CCS Policy context described above is 
not directly relevant to this assessment, the approach itself is considered to 
have merit insofar as it is an evidence-based approach that provides a robust 
rationale for applying a 10% threshold for all areas outside their HMO 
Management Area. This does not mean, however, that anything over 10% is 
unacceptable or harmful as a matter of principle - given the need to still 
demonstrate the harm of such concentrations and the absence of a policy within 
NPT.  
 
In the absence of a HMO Policy, this application has to be determined in line 
with current LDP Policies. In this respect, it is emphasised that the application 
site is located within the settlement limits defined by Policy SC1 of the LDP and 
therefore the principle of residential development (albeit a Sui Generis Large 
HMO use, rather than a Class C3 dwelling house) would be acceptable subject 
to an assessment of its general impacts. This includes consideration of any 
potential wider impacts on local character and social / community cohesion 
created by HMO uses, as well as other amenity / highway issues. It is also 
notable that the existing residential accommodation is a large 4-bedroom flat 
split over two floors. 
 
The wider assessment of the principle, however, should have regard to the 
Local and National context described earlier, and it is especially notable that 
there is a need for this Authority to ensure that the years where there is a ‘policy 
vacuum’ between the adoption of our current LDP (in January 2016) and 
conclusion of the review (commencing 2020 and adoption in 2024) is not taken 
advantage of by developers to the extent that applications are progressed 
incrementally to the point where the character and cohesion of the local area 
could be irreparably harmed. 
 
Within this context, based on the information accessible to the Council, whilst 
there are 22 properties within this terraced block within which the application 
site is located, none of them are currently occupied as HMOs. It should be noted 
that Policies or SPGs adopted by other authorities, including Swansea, have 
referred to a 50m buffer zone being drawn around the application site and a 
requirement for consideration of the number of HMOs within that zone. In this 
case there is 1 known HMO within the zone, which is on the opposite site of 
Hospital Road (Number 47 Victoria Road). 
 
Having regard to the guidance in PPW (4.2.1), which emphasises the need for 
Councils to “make informed development management decisions that focus on 
the creation and enhancement of Sustainable Places”, it is considered that 
Planning has an important role in ensuring not only that new development 
creates places, and communities, but also that existing communities are 
protected and enhanced, and that cohesive communities are retained.   

Page 77



Page 10 of 18   

 
In this respect, while it is noted that there is often concern in the local community 
about the potential impact of HMOs on local character and social cohesion, 
there is no known HMO issues in this area, such that even in the absence of a 
specific HMO Policy within the LDP, there are no grounds to refuse this 
application relating to the impact on local character or community cohesion. 
 
Loss of Retail Use 
 
In respect of Policy SC2 (Protection of Existing Community Facilities), it should 
be noted that the existing retail use would be considered a ‘Community Facility’ 
and as such, would be protected under the requirement of this Policy which 
states: 
 

“Any proposals which would result in the loss of an important existing 
community facility will only be permitted where it can be demonstrated that: 

1. The facility is surplus to requirements; or 

2. The existing use is no longer viable”. 

 
In support of the application the developer has submitted a detailed assessment 
which states that “both [points] are applicable to the property because of the 
emergence of a newer convenience store (Nisa Local) which comes with it the 
same facilities (Post Office and ATM), albeit within a larger floor area”. In light 
of this, and following a site visit, it is noted that there is a replacement facility 
(convenience shop) at the other end of this block of terraced properties, as well 
as a pharmacy opposite. It is also noted that the property is not located in any 
designated retail local centre.  
 
Some representations have referred to the Post Office no longer operating in 
the nearby NISA (where it moved to, having previously been located at the 
application premises), and in this regard Members’ are advised  that the Post 
Office website states that the recent closure in January 2021 is a ‘temporary 
closure’ (albeit the letter states that this is following the withdrawal of the 
premises for Post Office use).  Nevertheless, it is emphasised that the Post 
Office is not in the current premises, and no objection could be raised to the 
loss of the retail use on such grounds, with such matters thus not considered to 
affect the conclusions above.   
 
Accordingly, it is considered that the change of use of this property would not 
amount to the loss of an ‘important facility’ in the area and as such, the proposal 
would comply with the requirements of Policy SC2. 
 
Impact on Visual Amenity 
 
It is noted that the external alterations to the property relate to the installation 
of additional windows to the side/rear elevations, plus the removal of the ATM 
and former shop entrance and replacement with windows to the front elevation, 
plus rendering to match the existing side-elevation. The existing fascia sign and 

Page 78

https://www.postofficeviews.co.uk/national-consultation-team/victoria-road-sa12-6qg-496642/supporting_documents/Victoria%20Road%20SA12%206QG%20%20Information%20Letter.pdf
https://www.postofficeviews.co.uk/national-consultation-team/victoria-road-sa12-6qg-496642/supporting_documents/Victoria%20Road%20SA12%206QG%20%20Information%20Letter.pdf


Page 11 of 18   

roller-shutters would also be removed from the property to ensure it would have 
a residential, rather than commercial, appearance.  
 
In addition to the above, it should be noted that amended plans were submitted 
by the agent in respect of the front forecourt. It is proposed to create a new front 
forecourt by construction a 1.6m high brick wall with railings to match the 
existing dwellings along this side of Victoria Road, again, to ensure that the 
property has a residential appearance. 
 
Provided that suitably worded conditions are imposed on the application in 
respect of the front elevation changes – which would also require such changes 
to be made prior to first beneficial use – it is therefore considered that the overall 
proposal would not have a detrimental impact upon the character and 
appearance of the surrounding area or street-scene, and would therefore 
comply with Policies BE1 of the LDP. 
 
Impact on Residential Amenity 
 
In respect of potential overlooking, it is noted that the only additional (new) 
windows would serve the ground-floor rear bedroom, the ground-floor ‘middle’ 
bedroom and the first-floor ‘middle’ bedroom. Fenestration changes at the front 
relate to infilling of the existing door and insertion of window in the existing ATM 
opening. 
 
As the windows to the front would overlook the street, it is considered that these 
would not create any unacceptable overlooking issues. It is also considered that 
the creation of the new forecourt would provide a degree of privacy for the new 
occupiers as it would prevent people walking directly past the front windows. In 
respect of the window to the ground floor rear elevation as it would overlook the 
existing yard area, it is considered that this would not create any unacceptable 
overlooking issues.  
 
In respect of the new side-facing windows at ground and first floor, it is noted 
that they have the potential to overlook into the neighbouring properties. 
However, these windows would overlook the blank-side wall of the existing two-
storey rear wing and/or single-storey extension to the rear of Number 43. As 
such, it is considered that these new windows would not create any 
unacceptable overlooking issues, which at worst would allow some 
oblique/partial views into the neighbouring property. 
 
Turning to potential noise and disturbance, whilst it is acknowledged that the 
use of the property will be for an 8-bedroom HMO, the Environmental Health 
Section has assessed the submitted scheme and notes that it has been 
amended to improve the occupier facilities and the traffic routes through the 
building. They advise that the property is a large building that contains an 8 
bedroom, 8 bathroom HMO, together with a large kitchen/dining room and a 
separate lounge, which far exceeds the requirements of the NPTCBC Space 
and Amenity Standards for HMOs. They have advised that the proposed 
bedrooms are so spacious in fact that this HMO could potentially be occupied 
by up to 24 people and still comply with the NPTCBC Space and Amenity 
Standards for HMOs. However, the standards for kitchen space provision would 

Page 79



Page 12 of 18   

prevent the property from being occupied to this level. With this in mind, they 
therefore offer no objection to the proposal, subject to a condition limiting the 
number of occupants to a maximum of 10 persons. This number of occupants 
is based on the large bedrooms to the front and rear of the first floor being 
occupied by 2 persons each, with all other rooms being occupied by 1 person 
each.  
 
Having regard to the advice from the Environmental Health officer, it is also 
considered that the proposed intensity of use would need to be controlled to 
ensure that there would be no unacceptable impacts on the area and nearby 
residents. The existing use of the property, however, is a mixed use of retail 
and large living accommodation above, and therefore the degree of activity in 
the property (notably at ground floor) is currently quite high.  
 
The proposed layout would introduce two bedrooms on each floor next to the 
adjoining ‘party’ wall, but in light of the existing retail use and the existing 
bedrooms at first floor in these locations, it is considered that there would be 
unlikely to be any additional or unacceptable impact on the adjoining property. 
 
Provided that the requested condition limiting to a maximum of ten occupants 
is imposed on the application, it is therefore considered that the noise and 
disturbance associated with the comings and goings to and from the property 
are unlikely to be different when compared to the existing use of that of a large 
family property. Accordingly, it is considered that the proposed HMO would not 
lead to unacceptable levels of noise, disturbance or nuisance that would 
warrant refusal of this application on such grounds.  
 
In light of the above, it is considered that there are no justifiable grounds to 
refuse planning permission on residential amenity grounds, having particular 
regard to the fact that if any such issues arise in the future, these can be 
addressed by the Environmental Health Section under their statutory nuisance 
powers. 
 
Parking and Access Requirements and Impact on Highway Safety 
 
It is noted that the existing property is located on the corner of Victoria Road 
and Hospital Road, with a mix of both residential and commercial properties - 
the majority of properties being residential. Both roads are governed by Traffic 
Regulation Orders to an extent, with other areas of unrestricted on-street 
parking available at both locations. The existing property comprises a ground-
floor retail unit (approximately 98m2 of floor space) with 4-bedroom flat above 
for which the existing car parking requirements (as quoted within the Parking 
Standards SPG for Zone 3) would require 1 commercial space, plus 2 non-
operational spaces for the retail element (1 space per 60m2), and 1 space per 
bedroom for the flat (which would be a maximum of 3 spaces). The total 
requirement for the existing use would therefore be potentially 6 spaces.  
 
Notwithstanding this, it is noted that there is potentially only 1 parking space on 
site within the existing store/garage at the rear, although this has restricted 
access off the rear lane. So without applying any reduction based on 

Page 80



Page 13 of 18   

sustainability criteria (as per Appendix F of the approved Parking Standards 
SPG) there is an existing deficiency of 5 spaces. 
 
In respect of the proposed use, it is noted that as a ‘residential use’ this would 
require 1 space per bedroom (up to a maximum of 3). The total for the proposed 
use would therefore be 3 spaces. However, as the existing store/garage will be 
used for cycle and bin storage no parking would be provided on site. Although 
the property is in a sustainable location, given the number of bedrooms it is not 
considered appropriate to reduce the required parking levels further using 
Appendix F. Accordingly, there would be a deficiency of 3 spaces (i.e. a 
betterment compared to the existing mixed use). 
 
The Head of Engineering and Transport (Highways Section) has assessed the 
proposal and offers no objection to the development. This is on the basis that 
there is no current HMO classification within the approved Supplementary 
Planning Guidance: Parking Standards (October 2016). The application 
submission has been therefore assessed against the closest Use Class of C3 
(Residential). This would require a maximum provision of 3 parking spaces for 
the proposed change of use. As such, they have no alternative than to offer no 
highway objection, as the existing use of the site offers no ‘useable’ off-street 
parking provision, and would require significantly more parking than the 
proposed use. They have also noted that “the applicant has sufficiently 
demonstrated by submitting in writing their intention to vet their proposed 
tenants with regards to car ownership, which we as the highway authority are 
happy to accept”. 
 
Given the above, and the extent of local concerns on parking grounds, it is 
further emphasised that: - 
 

 Even were the proposed use split into two flats of 4 bedrooms each – 
with a parking requirement of 2 x 3 = 6 spaces -  it would still not be 
possible or reasonable to refuse planning permission on parking grounds 
given the fact that there would be no additional detriment or deficiency 
compared to the existing authorised use of the premises. 
 

 Even considering these to be bedsits (the key difference between an 
HMO and a bedsit is that the term ‘HMO’ refers to the whole building, 
whereas ‘bedsit’ refers to a single self-contained unit (i.e. studio-flat) 
within a building), it would not be reasonable to refuse.  This is because 
the parking requirement for 8 bedsits would be 1 x parking space per 
unit, along with a visitor parking provision of 1 x space per 5 units, which 
would add 1 space to the required 8 spaces giving a total of 9 parking 
spaces required. However, as the site is located within a highly 
sustainable area the sustainability tool would be applied to the proposal, 
with the site accruing 7 points which equates to the reduction of 1 space 
per unit, which would effectively remove any parking provision 
requirement, and refusal could not be substantiated when the existing 
residential element of the use has no existing/useable off-street car 
parking.  

 
 

Page 81

https://www.npt.gov.uk/media/7469/spg_parking_standards_oct16.pdf
https://www.npt.gov.uk/media/7469/spg_parking_standards_oct16.pdf


Page 14 of 18   

 
Turning to the proposed front forecourt boundary, it should be noted that the 
Head of Engineering and Transport (Highways Section) has also confirmed no 
objection to this element, subject to the gate opening inwards. It is noted that 
there is existing street-furniture on the footway outside the application site, 
including a redundant pole, nevertheless the Authority’s Highway Surveyor has 
confirmed that the pole will be removed shortly, as it is no longer required on 
site. Provided this pole is removed, it is therefore considered that the remaining 
footway would be sufficient for pedestrians – albeit smaller than existing.  
 
To summarise, given the existing use and the lack of parking provision on site, 
together with the sustainable location of the site (with potential also that the 
applicant can control car use by their tenants), it is considered that the overall 
proposal would be acceptable in terms of highway and pedestrian safety, and 
refusal of the application on highway/parking grounds could not be 
substantiated at appeal stage. 
 
Contaminated Land 
 
It should be noted that the site has been identified as potentially contaminated 
land. However, as the Contaminated Land Unit offers no objection to the 
proposal, it is considered that existing and future users of the site would not be 
adversely affected by ground contamination in terms of exposure to pollution. 
 
Other Matters 
 
As identified earlier in this report, a number of objections were received in 
response following the publicity exercise. In response to the main issues raised, 
which have not been addressed elsewhere in this report, the following 
comments are made: 
 

 In respect of the concerns regarding the future occupiers of the property it 
should be noted that this is not a material planning consideration, so cannot 
be taken into account when determining this application. 

 With regards to the comments relating to the size of the ‘bubble’ this 
proposal would create under the current pandemic, it should be noted that 
this would not be grounds for refusal in planning terms and could not be 
substantiated at appeal. It should be noted that all residents would need to 
comply with the necessary Government guidance and rules surrounding the 
COVID-19 pandemic. 

 Turning to the comments that the proposal will decrease property values, it 
should be noted that this is not a material planning consideration, so cannot 
be taken into account when determining this application. 

 In respect of the concerns regarding the vacant shop opposite, which could 
also turn into an HMO if this is approved, it should be noted that there is no 
‘precedent’ under Planning and each application is considered on its 
individual merits at the time of the application. Therefore, should this 
application be approved, it does not set a precedent for the property 
opposite. 

Page 82



Page 15 of 18   

 In relation to the comments concerning bin-storage, it should be noted that 
internal bin storage is indicated on the plans, and it would be for the 
landlord/developer to agree the most appropriate bin storage details and 
provision with the Waste/Refuse Section of the Authority (i.e. 1 large 
communal bin or separate smaller bins). It should also be noted that if there 
are any issues with waste storage or distribution then the Waste 
Enforcement Section and/or Environmental Health Section have powers to 
enforce against the landlord as the responsibility lies with them. 

 With regards to the concerns regarding anti-social behaviour from HMOs, 
such as litter from needles and cans it should be noted that this is not a 
material planning consideration and would be a Police matter. 

 Turning to the concerns regarding the safety of children these are noted. 
However, this would not be a planning or justifiable reason to refuse the 
application. 

 In respect of the concerns regarding the potential for loud music this is not 
a planning matter, and would be for Environmental Health to investigate 
under their noise nuisance legislation. 

 With regards to the comments that Council Tax should be reduced if this is 
approved, it should be noted that this is a not a material planning 
consideration and is something that would need to be taken up with the 
Council Tax Section. 

 In relation to the comment that this site should be turned into a car parking 
area, it should be noted that the Local Planning Authority needs to determine 
the application as submitted. In any case, the area may not be suitable for 
car parking given the proximity to the junction. 

 With regards to the comments regarding the location of the site opposite a 
pharmacy, near a school (Tywyn) and playground (Vivian Park) it should be 
noted that these would not be a justifiable reason to refuse the application. 

 Turning to the comments that controls need to be put in place to control the 
occupiers to prevent anti-social problems, it should be noted that there is no 
justifiable planning reason for this, and it would be down to the discretion of 
the landlord/owner. 

 In respect of the query whether the developers have any qualifications that 
will help the tenants it should be noted that this is not a material planning 
consideration. 

 With regards to the comments regarding disabled access, it should be noted 
that this is not a material planning consideration and would be covered 
under Building Regulations. Nevertheless, it is noted that en-suite bedrooms 
are proposed (together kitchen and lounge areas) on the ground-floor and 
ramped access could potentially be provided via the rear. 

 In respect of the concerns that this proposal could increase crime in the area 
it should be noted that this is not a material planning consideration and 
would be a Police matter. 

 In relation to the comments that the proposal would result in the loss of light 
and air for tenants it should be noted that these are not material planning 
considerations in their own right, but the impact upon residential amenity is, 
and is fully detailed above. 

 Turning to the comments regarding that HMOs are generally poorly 
managed and maintained, and will attract numerous problems, it should be 
noted that this would not be a reason for refusal of this application. It should 

Page 83



Page 16 of 18   

be noted that the management of HMOs is monitored and controlled by the 
Environmental Health Section. 

 With regards to the comment that a public consultation with local residents 
is require, it should be noted that the neighbouring property (attached) has 
been consulted by letter and site notices erected. To date, 87 letters have 
been submitted concerning the application. 

 In respect of the comments that there are existing problems with the current 
HMO in the area and an additional one will exacerbate these, it should be 
noted that this would not be a reason for refusal of the application. It should 
also be noted that  

 Finally, in respect of the comments that the existing shop did not close due 
to lack on trade, and that the Post Office and ATM have been removed from 
the nearby Nisa shop, it should be noted that the loss of the community 
facility has been addressed in the report above. 

 
CONCLUSION 
 
The decision to recommend planning permission has been taken in accordance 
with Section 38 of The Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, which 
requires that, in determining a planning application the determination must be 
in accordance with the Development Plan unless material considerations 
indicate otherwise.  The Development Plan comprises the Neath Port Talbot 
Local Development Plan (2011–2026) adopted January 2016. 
 
It is considered that the loss of the existing retail premises is acceptable, and 
that the proposed development would not have an unacceptable impact upon 
residential amenity or upon the character and appearance of the surrounding 
area, and there would be no adverse impact upon highway and pedestrian 
safety. Hence, the proposed development would be in accordance with Policies 
SC1, SC2, TR2 and BE1 of the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan.  
 
It is further considered that the decision complies with the Council’s well-being 
objectives and the sustainable development principle in accordance with the 
requirements of the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015. 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION  Approve subject to conditions 
 
 
Conditions:-  
 
Time Limit Conditions 
 
 1 The development shall begin no later than five years from the date of this 

decision.  
  
 Reason:  
 To comply with the requirements of Section 91 of the Town and Country 

Planning Act 1990. 
 
 

Page 84



Page 17 of 18   

List of Approved Plans 
 
 2 The development shall be carried out in accordance with the following 

approved plans and documents:  
 Dwg. No. U.2/0 Rev 00. 
 Dwg. No. U.2/01 Rev 00. 
 Dwg. No. U.2/02. 
 Dwg. No. U.2/03 Rev 00. 
 Dwg. No. U.2/04 Rev 00. 
 Dwg. No. U.2/05 Rev 00. 
 Dwg. No. U.2/06 Rev 00. 
  
 Reason:  
 In the interests of clarity. 
 
Pre-Commencement Conditions 
 
 3 Prior to the first beneficial use of the House of Multiple Occupation (HMO) 

hereby approved, the ATM, roller-shutters, fascia sign and entrance door 
shall be removed from the site and made good, and the front elevation 
rendered to match the existing building and the front forecourt constructed 
as per Dwg. No. U.2/03 Rev 00, and retained as such thereafter. 

  
 Reason: 
 In the interest of visual amenity of the street-scene and to ensure that the 

property has a domestic (not commercial) appearance, and to comply with 
the requirements of Policy BE1 of the Neath Port Talbot Local 
Development Plan. 

 
Action Conditions 
 
 4 Prior to the first beneficial use of the House of Multiple Occupation (HMO) 

hereby approved a 2m high close-boarded fence or wall shall be provided 
along the common-boundary with Number 43 Victoria Road in the rear 
yard area, and retained as such thereafter. 

  
 Reason:   
 In the interest of residential amenity due to side-facing windows, and to 

ensure compliance with Policy BE1 of the Neath Port Talbot Local 
Development Plan. 

 
Regulatory Conditions 
 
 5 The House of Multiple Occupation (HMO) hereby approved shall be 

restricted to a maximum occupancy of 10 people at any time. 
  
 Reason: 
 In the interest of residential amenity and highway safety, and to comply 

with Policies BE1 and TR2 of the Neath Port Talbot Local Development 
Plan. 

 

Page 85



Page 18 of 18   

 6 The gate hereby approved to the front forecourt shall be of a type which 
open inward only and not over the footway, and shall be retained as such 
thereafter. 

  
 Reason: 
 In the in interest of highway and pedestrian safety and to ensure 

compliance with Policy TR2 of the Neath Port Talbot Local Development 
Plan. 

 

Page 86



SECTION A 
 
ENFORCEMENT NON-EXPEDIENCY REPORT: GOSHEN PARK  
 
Background Information 
 
Members will be very aware of the recent flooding events at and around Goshen 
Park in Skewen which have caused such devastation and impacts to property 
and people’s lives. 
 
One such consequential impact of the Mine Shaft Blow-Out has been to 
preclude all vehicular access to the existing properties at Goshen Park, 
something which the Coal Authority have been urgently working with 
homeowners and Officers from the Council to temporarily address. 
 
The temporary solution has been to create a new access between no’s 36 and 
37 Goshen Park, linking the roundabout at the head of Goshen Park with 
Drumau Road.  The existing residential layout is shown on the OS plan below, 
with the plan below showing the temporary access arrangements.  Such a new 
access requires planning permission. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 87

Agenda Item 7



The new access creates a crossroads with Pennshannel opposite and, being 
located on the inside of a bend in the road, is in highway terms not a form of 
access which would be acceptable other than in the extreme circumstances the 
residents are facing in Goshen Park.  Moreover, such an access will 
undoubtedly have short-term impacts on the amenity of the occupants of the 
properties to either side were these to be occupied while the temporary access 
road was operational. Therefore, such an access can only be accommodated 
on a temporary basis. The Coal Authority is currently designing a scheme to 
cap and stabilise the mine shaft which is located close to the junction between 
Goshen Park and Drummau Road as well as designing a more permanent mine 
water scheme to capture the water which is currently discharging from the 
blowout hole within the driveway of No1 Goshen Park. It is anticipated that 
these works will take approximately three to six months to complete 
respectively. The temporary access road will be required for the duration of this 
period. 
 
Because of the urgency associated with the post-flooding circumstances on the 
ground, i.e. the need to return residents back to their homes, the Coal Authority 
has already undertaken these access works, which are therefore technically 
unauthorised.  The Council and its Highway Officers however are aware of such 
works, with the latter monitoring the access to ensure it does not have 
unacceptable impacts.  The constructed access is shown on the photographs 
below. 
 
 

 
 
 

Page 88



 
 
The purpose of this report is therefore to advise Members of the extent of 
unauthorised works that have been undertaken, and to seek their approval of a 
decision that it would not be expedient for the Authority to take any enforcement 
action against this temporary access. It will however, be essential that such 
works are removed and land, gardens and boundaries etc. are fully reinstated 
once the access is no longer required. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
That Members resolve that it would not be expedient to pursue any enforcement 
action in respect of the unauthorised access works identified in this report, 
provided the Coal Authority reinstate the land to its former condition once the 
original access into Goshen Park is available for pedestrian and vehicular 
traffic. 
 

Page 89



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of the Previous Meeting
	4 Application No. P2020/0992 - Bevin Avenue
	SECTION A – MATTERS FOR DECISION
	Planning Applications Recommended For Approval
	APPLICATION NO: P2020/0992�
	DATE: 25/11/2020�
	PROPOSAL:	Refurbishment of the existing 69 no. 2 bed flats, conversion of 3 no. 2 bed flats to 3 no. new 1 bed flats andthe construction of an additional 1 no. 2 bed and 54 no. 1 bed flats, with associated car parking, landscaping and infrastructure works�
	LOCATION:	Land North of Bevin Avenue�
	APPLICANT:	Tai Tarian�
	TYPE:	Full Plans�
	WARD:	Sandfields East�
	BACKGROUND
	This application is brought before Members for a decision as a ‘major’ application of wider public interest.
	SITE AND CONTEXT
	The remainder of the area is residential; parts of the site are run down and in great need of modernisation with some flts boarded up. The photographs below show how the site currently looks.
	/  / /
	Figure 3: photographs of the existing site
	DESCRIPTION OF DEVELOPMENT
	The development proposes the refurbishment of the existing 72 no. 2 bed flats, including the conversion of 3 no. 2 bed fats to 3 no. new 1 bed flats and the construction of an additional 55 units (1 no. 2 bed and 54 no. 1 bed flats) all of which will be affordable housing. 
	The new build will (in summary) comprise the addition of a mix of 2, 3 and 4-storey ‘end blocks’ to the six existing bloks, plus one of 5-storeys on the south-western corner linking blocks 5 and 6.  Central linking blocks are also proposed between 1 and 2, and 3 and 4.
	/
	Figure 4: Concept Masterplan
	The proposal also includes significant enhancement to the existing blocks through ‘retrofitting’, including replacement ark grey monopitch roofs with PV panels, insulating the buildings to highest standards, making them airtight and installing External Wall Insulation (EWI) and efficient heating systems, plus new anthracite uPVC windows and aluminium louvres and box cladding.
	The existing car parking provision at the site is very informal in nature (3 areas between blocks 1/2, 3/4, and 5/6), wih spaces not demarcated. The development will formalise and increase the site car parking allocation to 92 spaces (which will be spread over 4 car parking areas and 2 small areas off Bevin Avenue).  In addition, it will enhance the remaining 2 amenity areas including a variety of landscaping, plus additional landscaped areas throughout the site, and the provision of cycle and bin storage areas.
	The applicant has advised that the development is seeking grant funding from Welsh Government as part of their innovativ housing programme 
	All plans / documents submitted in respect of this application can be viewed on the Council’s online register. 
	NEGOTIATIONS
	Officers have, prior to statutory pre-application consultation, engaged in extensive dialogue over the development especally in terms of design, scale and massing.
	PRE-APPLICATION CONSULTATION 
	In accordance with the Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) (Wales) (Amendment) Order 2016, stattory Pre-Application Consultation (PAC) was carried out by the developer. 
	The consultation exercise took place between 24th Aug 2020 and the 22nd Sept 2020. The consultation involved notifying lcal residents within the surrounding area, together with Ward members, and specialist consultees. 
	23 representations were received at PAC stage (4 neutral, 19 objecting), which raised issues concerning residential amenty, scale/ visual amenity and highway and pedestrian safety. However, these raised no fundamental issues, with the applicant having sought to address many of these issues during this process.
	PLANNING HISTORY
	The application site has the following relevant planning history: -
	 P1989/7412 – Section 53 application for a satellite dish. Decided 18/11/89. 
	CONSULTATIONS
	Head of Engineering and Transport, (Highways): No objection subject to conditions
	Head of Engineering and Transport, (Drainage): No objection subject to SAB.
	Biodiversity Unit: No objection subject to conditions.
	Natural Resources Wales: No objection subject to condition and informative.
	Contaminated land: No objection subject to conditions.
	Welsh Water: no objection subject to SAB and informative.
	Fire and Rescue Service: The developer should consider the need to provide adequate water supplies for firefighting purpses on the site.
	Wales and West Utilities: Provided standard comments in respect for the need for developers to get a copy of their up-todate gas plans and general conditions before commencing any work.
	Environmental Health (Noise): No objection subject to conditions
	Environmental Health (Air Quality): No objection subject to conditions
	Crime Prevention Design Advisor: No objection, and has made comments, with a view to the development achieving the Securd by Design (SBD) Gold Award which it is required to achieve, under the Welsh Government’s Development Quality Requirements (DQR) for grant funded social housing projects.
	Housing Officer: has advised that the redevelopment is in the Welsh Government Social Housing Grant programme and will cmprise affordable housing.
	REPRESENTATIONS
	The neighbouring properties were consulted on 26/11/2020 and 05/02/2021.  A site notice was displayed on 26/11/2020 and 5/02/2021 with the application also advertised in the press on 28/11/2020.
	In response, to date 3 no. representations have been received (although subsequently one of the objectors withdrew theirobjection). A summary of the remaining two objectors are as follows: - 
	 A block of flats is to be built directly adjacent to my bathroom window, the building across this will block light int y kitchen and bathroom. I will have no privacy at all.
	 An objector’s shed will be taken away to accommodate a proposed block.
	 Why can't the car park go out the front, if you live in a house you park your car out front, gardens are out the back.
	 The communal gardens are out the front of the flats, where there is a busy road, so not safe for our children and grancildren to play, also anyone can walk across the proposed garden’s, so not private at all. 
	 Moorland road is like a race track of an evening.
	 Works will cause disruption and loss of our community is at stake.
	 The green area which is the extension of the pavement is providing safe walk for children going to school, beach or ote activities, parents with push chairs, people on wheelchairs, dog walkers, etc. The opposite pavement is used for cars pulling in and out of their driveways.
	 Moorland Road particularly between Dalton Rd and the Red Dragon restaurant is already congested with parked cars (peopehave several cars per household). Buses going through it makes it even more challenging and awkward. The area is already over built and driving through it is not an easy job particularly in the morning, school time and rush hours.
	 There are plenty of blind spots in this area and extending the existing building line up to the road will create severlpotential accident spots because of the obscured vision for the cars coming out of these buildings. 
	 The houses on the other side of the proposed buildings get the sunlight from this direction only. Therefore, to build ih rising flats closer to them will no doubt deprive them from it 
	 The proposed plan is actually taking away the green part of it which should be protected and even promoted by the couni. 
	 Increasing the number of existing accommodation is obviously full of risks. Therefore, the existing building line mustb protected in this area.�
	REPORT
	The Well-being of Future Generations Act (Wales) 2015 places a duty on the Council to take reasonable steps in exercisin its functions to meet its sustainable development (or wellbeing) objectives. This report has been prepared in consideration of the Council’s duty and the “sustainable development principle”, as set out in the 2015 Act. In reaching the recommendation set out below, the Council has sought to ensure that the needs of the present are met without compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own needs.
	National Planning Policy:
	Planning Policy Wales (Edition 10) was extensively revised and restructured at the end of 2018 to take into account the hemes and approaches set out in the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015, and to deliver the vision for Wales that is set out therein. 
	PPW10 takes the seven Well-being Goals and the five Ways of Working as overarching themes and embodies a placemaking appoach throughout, with the aim of delivering Active and Social Places, Productive and Enterprising Places and Distinctive and Natural Places. It also identifies the planning system as one of the main tools to create sustainable places, and that placemaking principles are a tool to achieving this through both plan making and the decision making process.
	Paragraph 4.2.23 states ‘Development plans must include clear policy criteria against which applications for housing devlopment on unallocated sites will be considered. Infill and windfall sites can make a useful contribution to the delivery of housing. Proposals for housing on infill and windfall sites within settlements should be supported where they accord with the national sustainable place making outcomes
	PPW is supported by a series of more detailed Technical Advice Notes (TANs), of which the following are of relevance: -
	 Technical Advice Note 2:    Planning and Affordable Housing (2006) 
	 Technical Advice Note 5:    Nature Conservation and Planning (2009)
	 Technical Advice Note 11:  Noise (1997) 
	 Technical Advice Note 12:  Design (2016) 
	 Technical Advice Note 16:  Sport, Recreation and Open Space (2009) 
	 Technical Advice Note 18:  Transport (2007) 
	Local Planning Policies
	The Development Plan for the area comprises the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan which was adopted in January 206, and within which the following policies are of relevance:
	Strategic Policies:
	 Policy SP1 	Climate Change
	 Policy SP2 	Health 
	 Policy SP3 	Sustainable communities
	 Policy SP4	Infrastructure
	 Policy SP5 	Development in the Coastal Corridor Strategy Area
	 Policy SP7	Housing Requirement
	 Policy SP8	Affordable Housing
	 Policy SP10	Open Space
	 Policy SP15	Biodiversity and Geodiversity
	 Policy SP16 	Environmental Protection
	 Policy SP18 	Renewable and Low Carbon Energy
	 Policy SP19 	Waste Management
	 Policy SP20	Transport Network
	Topic Based Policies : 
	 Policy SC1	Settlement limits
	 Policy I1		Infrastructure Requirements
	 Policy AH1 	Affordable Housing 
	 Policy OS1 	Open Space Provision 
	 Policy OS2 	Protection of Existing Open Space
	 Policy TO4 	Walking and Cycling Routes
	 Policy EN8 	Pollution and Land Stability 
	 Policy RE2 	Renewable and Low Carbon Energy in New Development
	 Policy W3 	Waste Management in New Development
	 Policy TR2 	Design and Access of New Development 
	 Policy BE1 	Design 
	Supplementary Planning Guidance: 
	The following SPG is of relevance to this application: -
	 Planning Obligations (October 2016)
	 Parking Standards (October 2016)
	 Affordable Housing (October 2016)
	 Pollution (October 2016)
	 Open Space & Greenspace (July 2017)
	 Design (July 2017)
	EIA and AA Screening 
	The application site exceeds the Schedule 2 threshold for development of this type as outlined within the Environmental mpact Assessment Regulations. As such the application has been screened in accordance with the requirements of Schedule 3 of the Regulations. 
	The findings of the screening report were that the scale and nature of the potential impacts associated with the developent both alone and in combination with other developments within the area would not be of a type that would require the carrying out of an Environmental Impact Assessment or the subsequent submission of an Environmental Statement in support of the application. 
	The proposed development is not located within a zone of influence for any SAC, CSAC or Ramsar sites and as such it is cnsidered that an Appropriate Assessment as set down within the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 is not required. 
	Issues
	Having regard to the above, the main issues to consider in this application relate to the principle of development, togeher with the impact on the visual amenity of the area, the impact upon resideitnal amenity both from existing residential properties and future occupiers of the development; highway safety, land contamination, noise, air quality and biodiversity.
	Principle of Development
	The proposed development is located within the residential settlement of Sandfields East as defined by Policy SC1 of theNeath Port Talbot Local Plan, therefore the principle of the redevelopment of an existing residential complex (brownfield site) would be acceptable subject to an assessment of the acceptability in terms of other policies within the LDP, and there being no unacceptable issues with regard to visual amenity, residential amenity or highway and pedestrian safety.
	Density
	Policy BE1 (8a) of the adopted Local Development Plan states that ‘normally a minimum of 35 dwellings per hectare in theCoastal Strategy Area or a minimum of 30 per hectare in the Valleys Strategy Area’ will be required.
	This site falls within the Coastal Strategy Area where a minimum of 35 dwellings per hectare will be required. The appliation site as a whole is approximately 2.4 hectares in size, so with the additional 55 units the overall site density would increase from 30 dwellings per hectare (dph) (72 units) to 52.91 dph (127 units).  The density is thus considerably higher than the minimum required and demonstrates the efficient use of land required under Policy BE1.
	Affordable Housing
	The development will be 100% Affordable housing, this is identified as a key issue under Policy AH1 of the adopted LocalDevelopment plan and it is also a ministerial priority for the Welsh Government. As noted later in the report, a condition will be attached requiring a minimum of 25% of the units remain affordable in perpetuity.
	Impact on Visual Amenity
	Planning Policy Wales emphasises the need to embrace the concept of placemaking in order to achieve the creation of sustinable places and improve the well-being of communities, noting (at 3.3) that ‘Good design is fundamental to creating sustainable places where people want to live, work and socialise. Design is not just about the architecture of a building but the relationship between all elements of the natural and built environment and between people and places. To achieve sustainable development, design must go beyond aesthetics and include the social, economic, environmental, cultural aspects of the development, including how space is used, how buildings and the public realm support this use, as well as its construction, operation, management, and its relationship with the surrounding area’.
	Strategic Policy SP21 seeks to conserve and enhance the built environment and historic heritage, with Policy BE 1 - Desin – expecting all development proposals to demonstrate high quality design which fully takes into account the natural, historic and built environmental context and contributes to the creation of attractive, sustainable places.  The Policy then provides the following criteria which need to be met where relevant: -
	1. It  complements  and  enhances  the  character  and  appearance  of  the  site,  building  or  area  in  terms  of  stig,  appearance,  scale,  height,  massing  and  elevation treatment;
	2. It  respects  the  context  of  the  site  and  its  place  within the local landscape, including its impact on  the imortant  arterial  gateways  into  the  County  Borough,  its  effects  on  townscape  and  the  local  historic and cultural heritage and it takes account  of  the  site  topography  and  prominent  skylines  or  ridges;
	3. It utilises materials appropriate to its surroundings  and  incorporates  hard  and  soft  landscaping  and  screenin were appropriate;
	4. It  would  not  have  a  significant  adverse  impact  on  highway safety, the amenity of occupiers of adjacent  landorthe community;
	5. Important  local  features  (including  buildings,  amenity  areas,  green  spaces  and  green  infrastructure,  biodvesity  and  ecological  connectivity)  are  retained and enhanced as far as possible;
	6. It  achieves  and  creates  attractive,  safe  places  and  public spaces, taking account of ‘Secured by Design’  priciles  (including  where  appropriate  natural  surveillance,  visibility,  well-lit  environments  and areas of public movement);
	7. It  plays  a  full  role  in  achieving  and  enhancing  an  integrated transport and communications network  promotig the  interests  of  pedestrians,  cyclists  and public transport and ensures linkages with the  existing surrounding community;
	8. It  uses  resources,  including  land  and  energy,  as  efficiently as possible through:
	a. Making  the  best  and  most  efficient  use  of  the  land  available  through  being  of  appropriate  density  takng into  account  the  character  and appearance of the area, normally a minimum of  35 dwellings per hectare in the Coastal Corridor  Strategy Area or a minimum of 30 dwellings per  hectare in the Valleys Strategy Area;
	b. The layout and form of the development does not  preclude  the  reasonable  use  of  other  adjacent  land;
	c. Developing  brownfield  land  in  preference  to  greenfield land where possible;
	d. Minimising building exposure while maximising solar gain.
	9. Its drainage systems are designed to limit surface  water run-of and food risk and prevent pollution;
	10. The  layout  and  design  of  the  development  achieves inclusive design by ensuring barrier free  environments,  alowng  access  by  all  and  making  full provision for people with disabilities.
	Technical Advice Note 12: Design, July 2014, also refers to the need to consider local context and character, but at a boad level. In reference to the layout of development on page 19 states that;
	4.11	“Scale - of development in relation to surroundings, including height, width and length of each building proposed wthin the development; how the massing of the proposal contributes to the existing hierarchy of development to reinforce character; how the mass and height impacts on privacy, sunlight and microclimate; and how height impacts on the attractiveness and safety of neighbouring public space.”
	4.12	“Layout of development - how the layout makes the development integrate with its surroundings whilst taking into cosideration the orientation of the building to maximise energy efficiency and connectivity (the ways in which routes and open spaces within the development are provided, situated and orientated in relation to each other and to buildings and spaces outside the development); how the external area contributes towards the development and is used to make the development a more sustainable development; how is the chosen site the best location and how it links into adjacent uses.”
	Local Planning Authorities should ensure that the proposed developments should not have an unacceptable impact upon the haracter and amenity of an area.
	Within this overarching Policy context, and noting especially the need to embrace the principles of placemaking, it is cear that this development has at its heart a determination to not only improve the visual appearance and energy performance of the buildings and site in general, but more importantly to improve the quality and use of the spaces between the buildings and create a desirable place to live, which could foster greater social interaction and community cohesion.  The principles behind such a scheme are thus wholeheartedly supported, albeit the assessment below seeks to ensure that the general scale, form and finished layout would not only accord with such aspirations but also have no unacceptable local impacts.
	Proposed New Build Accommodation
	The scale of the proposed new flats has been influenced by the existing residential development neighbouring the site, i order to respect the residential amenity of residents. Given existing two storey dwellings along the length of Moorland Road and the eastern end of Bevin Avenue, the scale of the proposed flats to the ends of the blocks will remain two storey in height. The scale of the flats then increases incrementally up to 5 storeys towards the western end of Bevin Avenue where the area opens up. 
	The increase in massing and height is shown on the 3D images below, which illustrate that both the new 2 and 3 storey elments to the end blocks, together with the larger 5 storey block in the southern corner of the site, have been sensitively designed having regard to the surrounding areas (and comments made by the LPA during pre-application discussions) to ensure the scheme would have no unacceptable impacts. Indeed, views from wider area and even the seafront would likely be greatly improved as a result of the proposals.
	/
	/
	Figure 5 (3 dimensional views of the development)
	/
	Figure 6 Artist impression of the development
	While it is noted that the new build accommodation would be sited upon the existing wide grass ‘verges’ (incidental openspace), when considered as a whole it is considered that the new build accommodation would be acceptable in terms of its scale and general impact on the amenity of the area, with the development creating a sense of place which would have a significant positive impact upon the visual character of the application site and wider area.
	In reaching this conclusion it is especially notable that the proposals would result in a significant visual improvementwhen compared with the dated design and concrete structure of the existing blocks of flats. The proposals help redefine a sense of place, thus creating a high quality environment and stronger sense of community.
	Materials (Retrofit and New Build)
	For both the new build and the retrofit elements of the project there is a choice of materials to clad the building in, ith the enhanced energy performance of the existing accommodation achieved with external insulation. The development will then be finished in a combination of bricks, brick slips, various cladding, louvres, anthracite upvc windows, anthracite doors in aluminium and upvc, cladded roofs, some with solar, and Juliet balconies with safety glass (see example below at figure 7).
	/ 
	Figure 7 materials to Existing and New build blocks
	/
	Figure 8 Materials New Blocks
	It is also noteworthy that the scheme has been reviewed by the Design Commission for Wales in Sept 2020, with their repot stating that “overall, this is an interesting and potentially high-quality proposal integrating commitment to the Wellbeing Future Generations Act, provision of good quality dwellings, retrofit improvements and enhanced building and energy performance.” 
	It is thus considered that the pallet of innovative materials, and design features incorporated within the development povides a modern refreshing look to both existing and proposed new build, and that a condition can be imposed to ensure further details/samples of the materials are provided to ensure the colours finishes are acceptable.  
	Landscaping
	The existing six blocks are split into three ‘groups’ of 2, each with a central area of parking, and separated from eachother by an open area of incidental open space. The ‘frontage’ to Bevin Avenue and Moorland Road also comprises incidental open space, which (as identified above) will partly be built upon, as will the open area to the southeast which will provide additional car parking areas (and an Active Travel route through the site).
	Although the development results in the loss of areas of incidental open space, the overarching landscaping masterplan seks to provide significant enhancements to the two existing central areas of space (see figure 9 below).  
	/
	Figure 9: Landscaping Design
	Such masterplan takes into account the integration of an innovative sustainable drainage system (which will require sepaate SAB approval) comprising permeable paving, rain gardens and bio-basins. These two area of enhanced open space will provide a varied recreational environment for all residents to enjoy, with landscaping seeking to provide “semi-natural habitats reflecting the open dune environment, shady inland woodlands and the transitional landscape between the two”. Plants will be selected from a pallet of native and wildlife-friendly species. 
	In this respect, it is considered that the enhanced large amenity areas for residents and planting throughout the site wll significantly enhance the areas not only in terms of visual amenity but also biodiversity interest (addressed later in this report). It is also noted that the increased parking areas have been sensitively designed and broken with strategic planting including trees and hedgerows.  These areas will also integrate the development into its landscape, helping create the sense of place and enhancing the opportunity for residents to utilise these areas and promote greater community cohesion. 
	Bin, Cycle and Mobility Storage
	The site plan shows the position of new bin stores and cycle storage, however whilst details of siting and appearance hae been provided no details of their internal layout have been provided. In addition, it is noted that some of the bin storage does not have a path leading to them. It is also not clear if any mobile scooter storage has been provided, whether this is incorporated into the cycle storage or separate. A condition can be imposed to ensure these details are provided and to ensure that they are provided prior to the first beneficial use of the site.
	Visual Amenity Conclusion
	The existing site is undoubtedly ‘of its time’ and the existing residential blocks and wider site are in need of investmnt.  In this regard, while this innovative housing development seeks to add a significant amount of new built development, this will be undertaken in an acceptable way which in combination with the significant changes to the external fabric and appearance of the existing units, and the wider site layout and landscaping, will ensure that the overall siting, design and form is appropriate, significantly improving the overall character of the site and its contribution to the wider area.  
	The scheme as a whole also reflects the wider placemaking aspirations of Planning Policy Wales.  Accordingly, it is concuded that the proposed development will have a positive impact upon the character and appearance of the area and be in accordance with Policies SP21 and BE1 of the LDP.
	Impact on Residential Amenity
	Overlooking, overbearing and overshadowing issues with the existing in relation to the existing dwellings surrounding th site
	The applicant has paid particular regard to the layout and taken advice from Officers at pre-application stage, thus ensring adequate distances between boundaries and habitable windows are kept. The impact upon each area is considered below:
	Bevin Avenue
	In terms of overbearing and overshadowing impacts, blocks 1 to 4 (identified on figure 10 below) are the nearest to thes houses, the proposed new-build development is set approximately 18.6m away from the front elevations of these dwelling across an intervening road. Blocks 1 to 3 are 2 storeys in height with block 4 increasing to 4 storeys, with the new block linking 5 and 6 at the far end being 5 storeys. The 5 storey block is sited away from nearby dwellings. 
	Having regard to the relationship with nearby dwellings on Bevin Avenue, it is considered that the separation distance btween the dwellings and new build blocks, especially the 5 storey block, would ensure that there would be no unacceptable overshadowing or overbearing impact on the dwellings on Bevin Avenue.
	Figure 10*: OS Plan identifying the no. of blocks (for purpose of this assessment)
	In terms of potential overlooking, each flat on the end of blocks 1 to 3 which directly face the houses on Bevin Avenue as one habitable room window. However this a small secondary windows serving an open plan living/kitchen area, and located on the kitchen side of the room. The main window for this room is much larger and looks into the site. As such to prevent any issues of overlooking these secondary windows can be obscurely glazed by condition to prevent any issue of overlooking. 
	The end of block 4 has a corner window which serves a habitable room, which is 18.5m from the front elevation of the comunity building on Bevin Avenue. It is considered that whilst under the 21m guideline there is an intervening road and front gardens that would lessen any impact, furthermore this is a community building and not a residential property. As such it is considered that the development would not have an unacceptable impact in terms of overlooking. The relationship between the development is shown on figure 11 below. 
	/
	Figure 11 Separation distances:  Bevin Avenue, Coronation House and Crompton House
	Coronation House and Cardigan House
	The side of Coronation house and Cardigan house which are flats within the control of Tai Tarian, side onto the developmnt, with both of these blocks having one side facing habitable window. In terms of overshadowing and overbearing; the new build sections (which are closer than the existing elements) would be approximately 18.5m minimum from the side of these buildings, across a car park. It is considered that this is sufficient distance to ensure the new build elements would have no unacceptable overshadowing or overbearing impact.
	In terms of overlooking the window on the side of block 6 serves a habitable room and is sited approximately 20.5m away rom to the side facing window, a similar relationship occurs with a habitable window on the opposite end of block 6 and the side facing windows on Coronation House with a separation distance of 20.5m. Whilst just under the 21 m guideline this is considered to be acceptable due to the angles between the windows.  As such it is considered that there in no unacceptable impact in terms of overlooking. (This relationship can also be seen on figure 11 above).
	Moorlands Road
	In terms of overbearing and overshadowing impacts, the new block at the end of blocks 1 to 4 are two storey and at the eds of block 5 and 6 are 3 storey, the same as the existing blocks. These are located a minimum distance of 15m from the front elevation of the houses across. It is considered that the separation distance between these new end blocks is sufficient to ensure there is no unacceptable overshadowing and overbearing impact on the dwellings on Moorlands Road.
	In terms of overlooking, each flat has a secondary window that fronts onto Moorlands Road, which would serve a kitchen/lving area.  The window is small and on the kitchen side of the room, with a larger window also serving this room which looks into the site. As such to prevent any issues of overlooking a condition can be imposed to ensure these secondary windows are obscurely glazed which will prevent any issues of overlooking. As such it is considered that the development would not have an unacceptable impact in terms of overlooking. The relationships between the proposed developments is shown on figure 12 below. 
	/
	Figure 12: Separation distances - Moorlands Road and Dalton Road
	Dalton Road
	The new build sections (which are closer than the existing elements) would be a minimum 20.5.m distance from the front eevation from these dwellings. It is considered that this is sufficient distance to ensure the proposal will have no unacceptable overshadowing or overbearing impact.
	In terms of overlooking the window on Moorlands/Dalton side serves a habitable room and is sited approximately 24.5m fro the front elevation of these dwellings, A similar relationship occurs with a habitable window on the opposite end Bevin/Dalton where there is another lounge window with a separation distance of 20.5m. Whilst just under the 21m guideline this is considered to be acceptable in this instance and is lessened due to the busy intervening road and front gardens. As such it is considered there is no unacceptable impact in terms of overlooking. (This relationship can also be seen on figure 12 above).
	It is noted that an objector has expressed concern that the houses on the other side of the proposed buildings get the snlight from this direction only, and that building high rise flats closer to them will deprive them from it.  However, the impact on these properties has been assessed in detail above and it is considered that separation distances are sufficient to ensure there would be no unacceptable impacts in relation to overshadowing or overbearing impacts on the existing properties surrounding the site.
	Overlooking, overbearing and overshadowing issues within the proposed development.
	In terms of potential overlooking, the development has been designed to allow an acceptable distance between units to enure that the proposal will safeguard the residential amenities of future occupiers. While the relationship between some windows fall marginally short of the councils 21m distance between habitable room windows, this is similar to those for existing flats and as such this is considered to be acceptable. There are some other new habitable windows at 45o angles to each other with a separation distance of 7.2m, which is in excess of the 6m distance required (at this angle) and as such acceptable. Overall it is considered that the distance between habitable rooms is acceptable.
	In terms of potential overshadowing and overbearing impacts, for the most part the development has been designed to ensue there is no unacceptable impact, however the development does present some instances where there is an impact. The main impact the development has is where the 5 storey block intersects the existing blocks 5 and 6, with a habitable room window serving a bedroom located immediately adjacent to where the 5 storey building intersects.  This will undoubtedly have a detrimental impact upon these rooms, albeit this will lessen at upper floors. This relationship is shown on figure 13 below. The applicant has been made aware of these issues and it was considered that there is no physical mitigation that can be undertaken. Any future tenant of these flats would have the option to refuse them if they had any issue with light to this window. Furthermore the Applicant has advised that if any of their tenants in the future had any issues with any units they would do everything that they could to rectify these matters. 
	/
	Figure 13: Proposed Plan showing the impact upon habitable room windows
	Another area of concern, albeit not as significant, is on the end block where the bedroom windows on the end have been rlocated to the side. (This is shown on figure 14 below).  The new blocks at the end have a slight impact upon the 45o line of the bedroom windows on these end flats (Fig. 15). You can see from the plan that this impact is very minor and would not cause any unacceptable impact to the occupiers of these units.
	/
	Figure 14:  existing floor plans showing existing bedroom window
	/
	Figure 15 : Proposed floor plans
	An objector has stated that “A block of flats is to be built directly adjacent to my bathroom window, the building acros this will block light into my kitchen and bathroom, I will have no privacy at all.” As stated above these issues have been looked at however for clarity the plan below (figure 16) shows that the new build element is 5m from the habitable room and therefore will not unacceptably overbear or overshadow this room and the window and 10m at an angle to the nearest habitable room window on the new development this is in excess of the guidance (which is 6m when taking into account the angle), as such there will be no unacceptable loss of privacy. Furthermore as noted before Tai Tarian has advised if any people moving into the development has issues they will do all that they can to rectify their concerns.
	/
	Figure 16: Plan showing objectors property
	Amenity Space
	With regard to amenity space, it is considered that the proposed layout provides adequate and enhanced shared amenity spce for future occupiers. These space are also well overlooked providing a safe environment for occupiers which will benefit their health and wellbeing.
	In response to representations received, the following are noted: -
	 A neighbour has objected about the removal of their shed, this would be a matter between Tai Tarian who are the landlodand the occupier and not a material planning consideration.
	 An objector also stated “that the communal gardens are out the front of the flats, where there is a busy road, so not ae for our children and grandchildren to play, also anyone can walk across the proposed garden’s, so not private at all.” The communal gardens are located within the blocks of flats and not next to a busy road, whilst there are landscaped areas at the front onto Dalton Road, these are to enhance the visual amenity and biodiversity.
	Bin storage/ cycle mobility scooter storage
	It is envisaged that kerb-side refuse collection will take place at the site, with bin stores located within the carry dstance of 30m for residents and within a distance of 25m by which a refuse collection vehicle can obtain access as referenced by Manual for Streets (2007). The site plan shows the position of bin stores and cycle storage, but whilst details of siting and appearance have been provided no details of their internal layout or how they will be used has been provided. It is noted that some of the bin storage does not have a path leading to them and one is located in front of habitable windows on Dalton Road (shown on figure 17 below). It would be considered beneficial to relocate this if possible so that it doesn’t impact upon these windows. It is also not clear if any mobile scooter storage has been provided whether this is incorporated into the cycle storage or separate.  To address such matters as far as practicably, a condition can be imposed to provide final details and siting of the bin storage areas.
	/
	Figure 17: Plan showing location of bin store on Dalton Road
	Provision has been made for cycle storage, however further details are required in relation to their siting and design t ensure this is sufficient. It is also considered that provision be made for mobility scooter storage within the development. A condition can also be imposed requiring a scheme to look into this and provide storage areas for future residents.
	Noise
	In terms of noise from construction (which has been raised by an objector), it is generally accepted that during constrution there would be some disturbance from this development to residents however this would be transient in nature. The applicant has advised that they will manage the works and ensure there are no resident living in the parts of the development they are working on. That being said there will still be residents in close proximity to the development, as such a Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) can be conditioned to ensure issues such as noise disturbance is kept to a minimum. A further condition can also be imposed restricting construction times to further protect residential amenity during this time.
	The Local Authority’s Environmental Health officer has advised there is minimal documentation on the actual constructionphasing or methodology. Also that it is unclear as to whether the steel framework will require structural underpinning or whether on some of the blocks this will amount to curtain walling. As such they have recommended a Construction Noise and Vibration Management Plan be provided, stipulated working hours, and also recommended a CEMP a piling method statement if piling is required.
	In respect of potential noise and disturbance from the development it is acknowledged that there will be more traffic geerated from the development, while the introduction of a new parking area to the south of block 6, plus upgraded footpath/cycle route, have the potential to increase activities in closer proximity to the residents to the south.  Nevertheless, on their own, and in the context of the scheme as a whole, it is considered that any noise generated from this development would not be unacceptable.
	Lighting
	In terms of external lighting, no details have been provided with this application. As external lighting may be requiredfor such a development, including external areas and footpaths, it is necessary to impose a condition to ensure adequate details are provided prior to any lighting being installed to ensure any future lighting does not have an unacceptable impact upon the amenity of surrounding residential properties.   This would also ensure that there is no unacceptable light spill onto neighbouring properties.
	Construction lighting may also cause a nuisance, as such the Construction Environmental Management Plan condition will aso consider construction lighting.
	Residential Amenity Conclusion
	Having regard to the above, it is concluded that the proposal would introduce new blocks that would create some issues rlating to overshadowing of habitable widows within the development (not outside of the development), however whilst not ideal these issues where considered to be at their worst would be upon units within the control of the applicant, and unfortunately there is not design alternative to alleviate this issue. The applicant is fully aware of this and understand the issues. 
	However it is considered the overshadowing of some of the units would not be sufficient reason to warrant a reason for rfusal of the application, notably having regard to the numerous other benefits the development would have in relation to the innovative housing design, the enhanced fabric of the buildings, the vastly improved landscaped open space and public realm and the wider regeneration a project such as this would have upon the surrounding area. As such it is considered that the proposed redevelopment of this site would have no unacceptable impact on residential amenity and would comply with Policies BE1 and EN8 of the LDP.
	Parking and Access Requirements and Impact on Highway Safety
	Policy TR2 identifies that proposals will only be permitted where appropriate levels of parking and cycling facilities ae provided and that the development is accessible by a range of travel means, including public transport and safe cycle and pedestrian routes. 
	Policy BE1 requires, amongst other things, that new development has no significant adverse impact on highway safety, wit Policy TR2 emphasising that development proposals will only be permitted where all of the stated criteria are satisfied, including that “(1) The development does not compromise the safe, effective and efficient use of the highway network and does not have an adverse impact on highway safety or create unacceptable levels of traffic generation.
	The application has been accompanied by a Transport Assessment which provides details of the traffic and transportation ssues associated with the development proposals and addresses the following issues:
	 Exiting conditions
	 Development Proposals
	 Travel Characteristics
	 Impact of the development programme
	Based on the data and analysis presented within the report, the following conclusions have been made:
	 This development is appropriate and acceptable in traffic and transport terms. It is considered that the traffic movemns associated with the development proposals will be marginal. 
	 The proposal could be accommodated on the highway network and will not have a detrimental impact on the free flow of tafic due to the existing volumes of traffic using the local highway network and the low level of traffic generation forecast.
	 The site is located in a highly sustainable site, within 400m of local schools, public transport provision and as wella nearby retail offerings provided on Dalton Road.
	 A recent parking survey demonstrated that only 33% of existing occupiers who responded to the survey (response rate 67)own a car, as such this is considered there is a low demand for parking on site.
	In terms of parking, it is noted that the existing car parking provision at the site is very informal in nature (3 areasbetween blocks 1/2, 3/4, and 5/6), with spaces not demarcated and parallel parking often restricting availability of spaces.  This is therefore far from ideal to serve the existing units.
	The development however will formalise and increase the site car parking allocation to 92 spaces which will be spread ovr 4 car parking areas and 2 small areas off Bevin Avenue. The site is also in a highly sustainable location with a large number of facilities within close proximity, and both pedestrian and cycle infrastructure of a very good standard within the vicinity of the site, and bus stops within the vicinity of the site that would provide residents with connections around Port Talbot and further afield. It is considered that an important balance can be struck to achieve the necessary parking standards required for the residents, without creating a scheme which is dominated by parking space.
	Furthermore, the submitted Travel Plan seeks to deliver sustainable transport objectives reduce car use, encouraging altrnative transport choices and reducing the need to travel. It sets aims and tangible targets so that ‘real’ change in transport behaviour can be achieved i.e. encouraging a modal shift away from single occupancy car use to more sustainable means of travel such as public transport, walking and cycling. A condition will ensure compliance with the Travel Plan.
	Having regard to the existing under-provision, the sustainable location, and also noting also the low parking demand at he site currently, the provision of 92 spaces to serve the 127 units is considered to be justified at this location. In this respect it is also noted that the development would provide a better flat to parking ratio than currently exists and also provide a layout that meets parking standards.
	In response to comments raised in relation to Active Travel and promoting cycling, the applicant has also included a comined cycle way and footway linking Moorlands Road to Bevin Avenue, a route which could potentially link up with the sea front through future development or initiatives set up by the Local Authority. This provision demonstrates the applicant’s commitment to active travel and should the adjacent development ever be redeveloped in the same way as this development, this link will provide excellent opportunities.
	The application has been assessed by the Head of Engineering and Transport (highways) who has raised no objection subjec to:
	 Further details are provide in relation to bin stores 
	 That the combined cycle and pedestrian link through the site being constructed and remaining open for public use therefer. 
	 A scheme is submitted to amend Traffic Regulation Order
	 Pedestrian vision splay are provided
	 That all highway works are to be completed in accordance with the details shown on the approved plans.
	 That the car parking spaces have been laid out within the site in accordance with the approved plan, and retained as sc thereafter.
	These can be imposed via suitably worded conditions.
	In response to several objection on highway matters, the following comments are made: -
	 An objector has stated that “Moorland road particularly between Dalton Rd and the Red Dragon restaurant is already coneted with parked cars (people have several cars per household).”  However, as noted above the amount of parking provided is considered to be sufficient for this development. 
	 An objector has said “there area there are plenty of blind spots in this area and extending the existing building lineu to the road will create several potential accident spots because of the obscured vision for the cars coming out of these buildings.”  In response it is noted that the parking and vision splays have been assessed by the highway Officer who has raised no objections on such grounds, with the proposal complying with guidelines
	 An objector is concerned that the green area which is the extension of the pavement is providing safe walk for childre oing to school, beach or other activities, parents with push chairs, people on wheelchairs, dog walkers, etc. The opposite pavement is used for cars pulling in and out of their driveways. In response it is emphasised that the application has been assessed by the highways Officer who is satisfied, with the pavements surrounding the site considered to be acceptable.  Moreover, people should be using the pavements to walk on, and not grass verge.
	 Concerns that “Moorland road is like a race track of an evening” are not considered to have a material bearing on the oclusions reached above.
	To conclude on highway matters, it is considered that provided appropriate controls are imposed through the detailed conitions referred to above, that the development would not have an unacceptable impact upon highway and pedestrian safety, and that the proposals would accord with Policies SP20 and TR2 of the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan. 
	Biodiversity / Ecology
	In assessing a planning application the Local Planning Authority must seek to maintain and enhance biodiversity in the eercise of functions in relation to Wales, and in so doing promote the resilience of ecosystems, so far as consistent with the proper exercise of those functions, under the Environment (Wales) Act 2016. 
	Technical Advice Note 5: Nature Conservation and Planning states that: “Biodiversity, conservation and enhancement is anintegral part of planning for sustainable development. The planning system has an important part to play in nature conservation. The use and development of land can pose threats to the conservation of natural features and wildlife.”
	The existing site is considered to be in poor condition in relation to biodiversity. The grassland is regularly mown andstructural diversity is lacking; it is also species poor. The buildings offer very limited potential for roosting bats but do offer some opportunities for breeding birds.
	
	To support the application, the application has submitted the following documents:
	 edp5837_d001e Concept Landscape Plan
	 12740_R01_Bat Survey & Assessment
	It is considered that the proposed habitat creation will mitigate and enhance the site, providing a habitat which is conidered to be more botanically diverse than existing and increasing biodiversity value. The Local Authority’s Ecologist has assessed the proposal and has no objection to the development subject to the following:
	 full details of the landscaping, which shall include planting plans; written specifications (including cultivation andoher operations associated with plant and grass establishment); schedules of plants noting species (This should contain a majority of native and/or wildlife friendly species), plant supply sizes and proposed numbers/densities where appropriate; an implementation programme. 
	 A landscaping management plan, including long term design objectives, management responsibilities and maintenance scheues for all landscape areas, 
	 Details of artificial nesting sites for birds to compensate for the loss of potential bird nesting/foraging habitat.
	It is considered that above recommendations can be secured via suitably worded conditions. 
	An objection was received in relation to the loss of some of the green verges. This development would lose some grassed erges, however the overall improvements and landscaping will vastly improve and enhance the biodiversity of the area and as such the loss of some of the grassed verges would not warrant a reason for refusal.
	Protected Species
	To support the application the applicant submitted a Bat observation survey by Hawkswood Ecology dated July 2020. This rport identified that bats are not using the application site as such NRW have no further comments to make on this matter.
	The Local Authority’s Ecologist has no objection to the report however have advised that the recommendations set out witin the report in section 9.2 state “that integral bat boxes/ tubes should be used in the new extensions”, as this will contribute towards the overall biodiversity enhancements to the site. A condition can be imposed to ensure the mitigation recommended is imposed.
	To conclude the applicant has demonstrated there is no unacceptable impact upon ecology or protected species and has demnstrated that the biodiversity will be maintained and enhanced and as such accords with PPW10, Technical Advice Note 5 (Nature Conservation and Planning) and Policies SP15 and Policies ENV7 of the LDP. 
	Drainage
	Surface Water
	The proposed new development will require sustainable drainage - built in accordance with mandatory standards for sustaiable drainage published by Welsh Ministers - to manage on-site surface water. These systems must be approved by the Council’s Engineering Service acting in its SuDS Approving Body (SAB), and must be approved prior to any work commencing. 
	The application has been assessed by the Head of Engineering and Transport (Drainage) who has advised that they have no bjection to the proposal subject to the applicant obtaining SAB approval
	Welsh water have also advised that the site is crossed by combined public sewers with their approximate position being mrked on the attached Statutory Public Sewer Record. Whilst the proposed development would appear to be situated outside the protection zone of the sewers, it appears SuDS features are located within and they remind that these will need to be repositioned for the purposes of any forthcoming SAB application. Alternatively, it may be possible to divert the sewers if the developer applies under Section 185 of the Water Industry Act. These matters relate to SAB approval and are not a material planning consideration. The applicant has been advised of Welsh Water’s comments. Their informative can be noted on the planning application
	Foul Water
	Welsh Water has advised that foul flows can be accommodated within the public sewerage system 
	Contaminated Land
	A site Investigation report has been submitted by Integral Geotechnique (12457/RAH/19/SI; September 2019).  The SI only ook samples from 5 locations, as such the land contamination officer has advised it is unclear how the sampling strategy was derived and whether it was done in accordance with guidance such as CLR4 and BS10175. 5 sample locations are considered to be insufficient to adequately characterise the site. The sampling regime should adequately cover all future landscaped and amenity areas and also within the footprint of the new buildings that are proposed. As such the standard set of Land Contamination conditions have been requested by the Land Contamination Section. 
	Natural Resources Wales accept the conclusion made in the report that the risk to controlled waters is low and as such hs no objection to the proposal. However they have specified if gross contamination is found they should be consulted. A condition relating to unexpected conditions can be imposed.
	It is considered that with the above recommended conditions being imposed, any land contamination issues from this site an be adequately addressed. As such the proposed development would be considered acceptable in terms of risks from land contamination.
	Waste
	Policy W3 – Waste Management in Development – requires proposals for new build development to demonstrate that provisionis made for design, layout, storage and management of the waste generated by the development both during the construction phase and occupation. No details have been provided, however a condition can be imposed to address such requirements.
	Air Quality
	The site lies outside the Port Talbot AQMA and measurements at the nearest pollution monitoring station do not show thatair quality standards are being breached at this location.  Consequently the Local Authority’s Air Quality Officer raised no objection. However they have recommended the applicant provide a dust management plan, in order to ensure that demolition and construction activities do not represent a nuisance or threat to health.  This plan should include mitigation in accordance with the relevant IAQM guidance. This can be considered to be part of a Construction Environmental Management Plan.
	Renewable Energy
	Policy RE2 requires the submission of an ‘Energy Assessment’ for any proposal where developments result in new floor spae of 1,000 square metres or more.  Schemes that are shown by the assessment to be viable will be required to be implemented as part of the development.  In order to meet the requirements of Policy RE2, the approved SPG sets out the matters required for an Energy Assessment.
	It is noted that the applicant is seeking WG funding as part of the ‘Innovative Housing Programme’.  An energy assessmen (undertaken by Building Energy performance Ltd) has been submitted with the application and identifies that significant carbon reductions in the order of 52% can be achieved in on-site carbon emissions when compared to current Building Regulation new build targets through a mix of passive and active low energy design measures and the incorporation of a roof mounted solar PV system.
	The applicant has identified how they aim to reduce the carbon footprint of this development through a mix of passive an active low energy design measures and the incorporation of a roof mounted solar PV system. 
	It should be noted that Welsh Government planning policy recognises an energy hierarchy. The Welsh Government expects al new development to mitigate the causes of climate change in accordance with the energy hierarchy for planning, as set out within planning Policy Wales (edition 10) Reducing energy demand and increasing energy efficiency, through the location and design of new development, will assist in meeting energy demand with renewable and low carbon sources. This is particularly important in supporting the electrification of energy use, such as the growing use of electric vehicles as all aspects of the energy hierarchy have their part to play, simultaneously, in helping meet decarbonisation and renewable energy targets. No details of electric car points have been provided.
	As such a condition can be imposed to not only provide further details of the low energy design system and solar PV systm set out within the renewable energy report but also to explore the use of providing electric charging provision within the site and incorporating that if feasible to do so. As such with the above conditions it is considered the applicant has demonstrated that the development would comply with the requirements of Policy RE2 of the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan. 
	Section 106 Planning Obligations
	Local Development Plan Policy SP 4 (Infrastructure) states that “Developments will be expected to make efficient use of xisting infrastructure and where required make adequate provision for new infrastructure, ensuring that there are no detrimental effects on the area and community. Where necessary, Planning Obligations will be sought to ensure that the effects of developments are fully addressed in order to make the development acceptable”.
	Policy I1 (Infrastructure Requirements) then states that “In addition to infrastructure improvements necessary to make adevelopment acceptable in health, safety and amenity terms, additional works or funding may be required to ensure that, where appropriate, the impact of new development is mitigated. These requirements will include consideration of and appropriate provision for: Affordable housing; Open space and recreation facilities; Welsh language infrastructure (in language Sensitive Areas); Community facilities including community hubs; Biodiversity, environmental and conservation interests; Improving access to facilities and services including the provision of walking and cycling routes; Historic and built environment and public realm improvements; Community and public transport; Education and training.
	The Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 came into force on 6th April 2010 in England and Wales. They introducd limitations on the use of planning obligations (Reg. 122 refers). As of 6th April 2010, a planning obligation may only legally constitute a reason for granting planning permission if it is: 
	(a)  necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms; 
	(b)  directly related to the development; and 
	(c)  fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development. 
	In this case, the proposal relates to a planning application for the development of 55 new flats and the refurbishment o the existing accommodation.
	In view of the type and form of development proposed in this location, having regard to local circumstances and needs arsing from the development, the following planning obligations are considered necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms and to meet the policy and legislative tests for planning obligations.
	Affordable Housing
	Policy AH1 of the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan states that all new housing developments will be required to ontribute to affordable housing provision. Within the Port Talbot spatial area, a 25% affordable housing target is sought. 
	The applicant is a Registered Social Landlord RSL (Tai Tarian) and has indicated that all of the residential units propoed, will be social housing. In order to satisfy the requirements of Policy AH1 it is necessary to ensure that 25% of the units remain affordable in the long term. It is considered that the imposition of a condition would be the appropriate mechanism for securing future compliance with this policy should the development not be Social Housing Grant Funded.
	Education
	No response has been received from education however; the majority of the units are 1 bed and therefore falls below the hreshold of a minimum of 10 housing units that are of 2 or more bedrooms.
	Public Open Space / Children’s Play Facilities
	Policy OS1 states where there is a quantitative deficiency in outdoor sport, children’s play, informal space or allotmens, provision will be sought, including the requirement for maintenance in conjunction with all new residential developments of 3 or more dwellings, based on the following standards: 
	Open Space�
	Standard�
	Outdoor Sport�
	1.6 hectares per 1.000 population�
	Children’s Play�
	0.25 hectares per 1,000 population�
	Informal Space�
	0.55 hectares per 1,000 population�
	Allotments�
	0.19 hectares per 1,000 population�
	Having regard to the ‘Open Space Assessment 2013, produced in support of the adopted Local Development Plan, it is notedthat there are existing ward shortfalls. Accordingly, the existing deficiencies would be exacerbated by the increase in population arising from the proposed development, and there is a need for the development to contribute towards addressing such deficiency. 
	Outdoor Pitch Sport – 	1448sqm					£15,620
	Outdoor Sport Non-Pitch   567sqm					£56,560
	Children’s Play – 		6sqm (excluding 1 bedroom units)	£855
	Informal – 			693sqm					£0 (on site)
	Allotments – 			239sqm					£2,640	
	Total										£75,765
	As part of the application the applicant has provided a unilateral undertaking for the sum of £75,765 to address the ope space deficiency in the area.
	CONCLUSION
	The decision to recommend planning permission has been taken in accordance with Section 38 of The Planning and Compulsor Purchase Act 2004, which requires that, in determining a planning application the determination must be in accordance with the Development Plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.  The Development Plan comprises the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan (2011–2026) adopted January 2016.
	It is considered that the redevelopment of this site, and significant enhancement to the quality of existing accommodatin, will contribute towards the delivery of affordable housing within the County Borough in a sustainable location, and that subject to the imposition of conditions and the signing of a Legal Agreement to secure a financial contribution of outdoor pitch and non-pitch sports and allotments the proposed development would have no unacceptable impacts upon the character and appearance of the surrounding area, on residential amenity or on highway and pedestrian safety.  Accordingly, the proposed development is considered to accord Policies SP1, SP2, SP3, SP4, SP5, SP7, SP8, SP10, SP15, SP16, SP18, SP19 SP20, SC1, I1, AH1, OS1, T04, EN8, RE2, W3, TR2, and BE1 of the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan
	It is further considered that the decision complies with the Council’s well-being objectives and the sustainable developent principle in accordance with the requirements of the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015.
	RECOMMENDATION	Approve subject to conditions and subject to the financial open space contribution of £75,765 being paid concurrent with the decision notice being issued) as stated within the signed unilateral undertaking.
	Time Limit
	1. The development shall begin no later than five years from the date of this decision. 
	Reason: 
	To comply with the requirements of Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.
	Approved Plans
	2. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the following approved plans:
	175-DHA-XX-RF-A-DR-0001-02 Location Plan
	175-DHA-ZZ-00-A-DR-0002-13. Site Masterplan
	175-DHA-ZZ-00-A-DR-0003-08. Masterplan Ground Floor
	175-DHA-ZZ-01-A-DR-0004-07 Masterplan - First Floor
	175-DHA-ZZ-02-A-DR-0005-08 Masterplan - Second Floor
	175-DHA-ZZ-03-A-DR-0006-08 Masterplan - Third Floor
	175-DHA-ZZ-04-A-DR-0007-08 Masterplan - Fourth Floor
	175-DHA-ZZ-05-A-DR-0008-09 Masterplan - Roof Plan
	175-DHA-ZZ-00-A-DR-0125-06 Blocks 01 02 - Proposed Ground Floor
	175-DHA-ZZ-01-A-DR-0126-06 Blocks 01 02 - Proposed First Floor
	175-DHA-ZZ-02-A-DR-0127-07 Blocks 01 02 - Proposed Second Floor
	175-DHA-ZZ-03-A-DR-0128-07 Blocks 01 02 - Proposed Roof Plan
	175-DHA-ZZ-00-A-DR-0129-06 Blocks 03 04 - Proposed Ground Floor
	175-DHA-ZZ-01-A-DR-0130-06 Blocks 03 04 - Proposed First Floor
	175-DHA-ZZ-02-A-DR-0131-07 Blocks 03 04 - Proposed Second Floor
	175-DHA-ZZ-03-A-DR-0132-07 Blocks 03 04 - Proposed Third Floor
	175-DHA-ZZ-04-A-DR-0133-07 Blocks 03 04 - Proposed Roof Plan
	175-DHA-ZZ-00-A-DR-0134-07 Blocks 05 06 07 - Proposed Ground Floor
	175-DHA-ZZ-01-A-DR-0135-07 Blocks 05 06 07 - Proposed First Floor
	175-DHA-ZZ-02-A-DR-0136-07 Blocks 05 06 07 - Proposed Second Floor
	175-DHA-ZZ-03-A-DR-0137-08 Blocks 05 06 07 - Proposed Third Floor
	175-DHA-ZZ-04-A-DR-0138-08 Blocks 05 06 07 - Proposed Fourth Floor
	175-DHA-ZZ-05-A-DR-0139-08 Blocks 05 06 07 - Proposed Roof Plan
	175-DHA-ZZ-XX-A-DR-0225-09 Proposed Elevations
	175-DHA-ZZ-XX-A-DR-0226-08 Blocks 01 02 - Elevations 12
	175-DHA-ZZ-XX-A-DR-0227-08 Blocks 01 02 - Elevations 22
	175-DHA-ZZ-XX-A-DR-0228-08 Blocks 03 04 - Elevations 12
	175-DHA-ZZ-XX-A-DR-0229-08 Blocks 03 04 - Elevations 22
	175-DHA-ZZ-XX-A-DR-0230-08 Blocks 05 06 07 - Elevations 12
	175-DHA-ZZ-XX-A-DR-0231-08 Blocks 05 06 07 - Elevations 22
	edp5837_d001-F-Concept Landscape Plan
	edp5837_d002-E-Concept Site Layout
	1141 Flat Type A02
	1142 Flat Type A03
	1143 Flat Type A04
	1144 Flat Type A05
	1146 Flat Type A07
	1145 Flat Type A06
	1147 Flat Type A08
	1148 Flat Type A09
	1149 Flat Type A10
	1150 Flat Type A11
	1151 Flat Type A12
	1152 Flat Type B01
	1153 Flat Type B02
	1154 Flat Type C01
	1155 Flat Type C02
	1156 Flat Type D01
	1157 Flat Type D02
	1158 Flat Type E01
	1159 Flat Type E02
	1160 Flat Type F01
	1161 Flat Type G01
	1162 Flat Type G02
	1163 Flat Type H01
	1164 Flat Type H02
	1165 Flat Type J01
	1166 Flat Type J02
	Travel Plan
	Reason: 
	In the interests of clarity.
	Pre commencement
	3. Before beginning any development at the site, you must do the following: -
	a) Notify the Local Planning Authority in writing that you intend to commence development by submitting a Formal Notice nder Article 24B of the Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) (Wales) Order 2012 (DMPWO) in the form set out in Schedule 5A (a newly inserted Schedule) of the DMPWO (or in a form substantially to the like effect); and 
	b) Display a Site Notice (as required by Section 71ZB of the 1990 Act) in the form set out in Schedule 5B (a newly insered Schedule) of the DMPWO (or in a form substantially to the like effect), such Notice to be firmly affixed and displayed in a prominent place, be legible and easily visible, and be printed on durable material. Such Notice must thereafter be displayed at all times when development is being carried out. 
	Reason: 
	To comply with procedural requirements in accordance with Article 24B of the Town and Country Planning (Development Manaement Procedure) (Wales) Order 2012 (DMPWO) and Section 71ZB of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.
	4. No development shall commence (including any site clearance), until a Demolition & Construction Environmental ManagemntPlan has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The Demolition and Construction Environmental Management Plan shall be in accordance with the requirements of British Standard BS5228-1:2009 - “Code of practice for noise and vibration control on construction and open sites”.  The approved Statement shall be adhered to throughout the demolition and construction phases. The Statement shall provide for:
	a) Construction methods: details of the extent and phasing of development; details of construction materials or techniqus to be used; details for the storage and management of plant and materials used in constructing the development; a scheme for recycling/disposing of waste resulting from demolition and construction works; 
	b) General Site Management: details of the construction programme including timetable; details of site clearance; detail for erection and maintenance of security hoarding including decorative displays and facilities for public viewing; details of complaint investigation procedures.
	c) Control of Nuisances: Identification of the significant construction and demolition noise & vibration sources; detail of physical and operational management controls necessary to mitigate noise & vibration emissions; details odour control measures; a dust management plan (This plan should include mitigation in accordance with the relevant IAQM guidance); and measures to control light spill.
	d)Traffic Management: : details of site deliveries; details for the loading and unloading of plant and materials; detail of wheel wash facilities; details for the parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors. 
	e) Hours of working on site, including specified hours for deliveries; details of restrictions to be applied during consruction and demolition works (including timing, duration and frequency of works) to prevent noise or nuisance amenity issues to surrounding properties.
	f) Responsible Persons: details of the persons and bodies responsible for activities associated with the CEMP and emergecy contact details
	Reason:
	In the interest of highway and pedestrian safety, the environment, and the amenity of residents, and to ensure accordanc with Policies BE1, EN8 and TR2 of the adopted Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan.
	5. No development shall take place until a Construction Noise and Vibration Management Plan has been submitted to, and aprved in writing by, the local planning authority. The approved Noise Management Plan shall identify all significant noise sources; detail the physical and operational management controls necessary to mitigate emissions from these noise sources; hours of working on site, and specified hours for deliveries; and any elements of operation that could lead to amenity issues from noise and disturbance to surrounding properties. The Construction Noise and Vibration Management Plan shall also detail any noise complaint investigation procedures. The approved Construction Noise and Vibration Management Plan shall be adhered to throughout the operation of the approved use. 
	Reason: 
	In the interest of the environment, and the amenity of residents, and to ensure accordance with Policies BE1, EN8 and TR of the adopted Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan.
	6. Notwithstanding the submitted information, no development shall commence on site until an assessment of the nature an etent of contamination affecting the application site area has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. This assessment must be carried out by or under the direction of a suitably qualified competent person in accordance with BS10175 (2011) ‘Investigation of Potentially Contaminated Sites Code of Practice’ and shall assess any contamination on the site, whether or not it originates on the site. The report of the findings shall include:
	(i) a desk top study to identify all previous uses at the site and potential contaminants associated with those uses andthe impacts from those contaminants on land and controlled waters. The desk study shall establish a ‘conceptual site model’ (CSM) which identifies and assesses all identified potential source, pathway, and receptor linkages;
	(ii) an intrusive investigation to assess the extent, scale and nature of contamination which may be present, if identifed as required by the desk top study;
	(iii) an assessment of the potential risks to:
	-  human health,
	-  groundwater and surface waters
	-  adjoining land,
	-  property (existing or proposed) including buildings, crops, livestock, pets, woodland and service lines and pipes,-  cological systems,
	-  archaeological sites and ancient monuments; and
	-  any other receptors identified at (i)
	(iv) an appraisal of remedial options, and justification for the preferred remedial option(s).
	Reason:
	To ensure that information provided for the assessment of the risks from land contamination to the future users of the lnd, neighbouring land, controlled waters, property and ecological systems is sufficient to enable a proper assessment, and to ensure compliance with Policies SP16 and EN8 of the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan.
	7. No development shall commence on site until a remediation scheme to bring the site to a condition suitable for the inened use by removing any unacceptable risks to human health, buildings, other property and the natural and historic environment shall be prepared and submitted to and agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall include all works to be undertaken, proposed remediation objectives, remediation criteria and site management procedures. The measures proposed within the remediation scheme shall be implemented in accordance with an agreed programme of works. 
	Reason: 
	To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and neighbouring land are minimised, togethr with those to controlled waters, property and ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors, and to ensure compliance with Policies SP16 and EN8 of the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan
	8. Notwithstanding the submitted plans, no development shall take place until details of both hard and soft landscape wokshave been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. These details shall include:
	a) A statement setting out the design objectives and how these will be delivered;
	b) Details of delivery and timing and implementation;
	c) earthworks showing existing and proposed finished levels or contours; 
	d) means of enclosure and retaining structures;
	e) other vehicle and pedestrian access and circulation areas;
	f) hard surfacing materials;
	g) minor artefacts and structures (e.g. furniture, play equipment, signs, etc.), and 
	h) water features.
	Soft landscape works shall include: planting plans; written specifications (including cultivation and other operations asociated with plant and grass establishment); schedules of plants noting species, plant supply sizes and proposed numbers/densities where appropriate; an implementation programme (including phasing of work where relevant). The landscaping works shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details in accordance with the agreed implementation program. 
	Reason: 
	In the interests of maintaining a suitable scheme of landscaping to protect the visual amenity of the area, to maintain he special qualities of the landscape and habitats through the protection, creation and enhancement of links between sites and their protection for amenity, landscape and biodiversity value, and to ensure the development complies with Policies SP15 and BE1 of the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan.
	9. No development shall take place until a scheme to provide artificial nesting sites for birds and bat tube/bricks has ee be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The scheme shall include detail and locations of bird nesting boxes and bat bricks to new build elements or at other appropriate locations around the site.  All approved artificial nesting sites/ and bat brick/tubes shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details prior to the first occupation of each building to which it relates.
	Reason
	In the interest of Biodiversity and mitigation for the loss of habitat within the site and to accord with Policy SP15 ofthe adopted Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan.
	10. No development shall commence until, a Waste Management Plan for the control, management, storage and disposal of an wate material generated during the demolition and construction of the development shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. All waste shall be treated in accordance with the agreed waste plan. The plan shall be implemented as approved.
	Reason:
	To ensure the appropriate disposal of any waste arising from the development in terms of protection of the environment ad to ensure the sustainability principles are adopted during development and complies with Policy W3 of the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan.
	Action Conditions
	11. Prior to the first occupation of any dwelling unit hereby approved, a landscape management plan, including the long ermdesign objectives, management responsibilities and maintenance schedules, for all landscaped areas, shall have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The landscape management plan shall be implemented and adhered to in accordance with the approved details thereafter.
	Reason:
	In the interest of visual amenity, and to ensure the long term management and maintenance of all landscaped areas withinthe site and to ensure the development complies with Policies SP15 and BE1 of the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan
	12. If piling is to be undertaken on site, no piling activities for the construction of the authorised development may cmmece until a piling method statement has been submitted to and approved by the local planning authority. Piling shall be carried out in accordance with the approved method statement. 
	Reason: 
	In the interest of, the environment, and the amenity of residents, and to ensure accordance with Policies BE1, EN8 and T2 of the adopted Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan.
	13. Prior to the first beneficial use of any new dwelling unit within blocks 5, 6 and 7 blocks, the combined footway/cyce rute through the site linking Moorland Road and Bevin Avenue shown on 175-DHA-ZZ-00-DR-A-0002 Site Masterplan shall be constructed and lit in accordance with a scheme which shall first have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, with such route thereafter retained open and maintained and free for public use.
	Reason
	To promote Active Travel Routes and in the interest of highway and pedestrian safety and to ensure compliance with Polic TR2 of the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan. 
	14. Prior to the construction of any dwelling unit details of the passive and active low energy design measures and the oofmounted solar PV system outlined within the Renewable and Low carbon Energy Statement shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall provide full details of any external materials/ apparatus required including elevations, floor plan and site plan where required, and details of how the system will operate. The development shall be constructed in accordance with the agreed details prior to the first beneficial use of the development and retained as such thereafter
	Reason
	In the interest of providing low carbon energy generation within the development to accord with the requirements of Poliy RE2 of the Local development Plan.
	15. Prior to the first beneficial use of the development a scheme shall be submitted to and approved in writing detailin th feasibility and provision of Electric Vehicle Charging Points to serve the development. The scheme shall include a minimum of 5 spaces and shall also include details how future electric charging points can be delivered. The scheme as agreed shall be fully implemented prior to the first beneficial use of the development and shall be retained for such use thereafter.
	Reason
	In the interest of highway and pedestrian safety and to ensure compliance with Planning Policy Wales 10, and policies BE and TR1 of the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan 
	16. Prior to the installation of any permanent external lighting on the site, a detailed lighting scheme for the site shll e submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority detailing the location of all proposed lights, the specification, intensity of illumination, predicted lighting contours (lux plots), together with proposed hours of operation and any mitigation measures required (including measures to reduce as far as practicable light spillage onto the adjoining residential properties) . The approved lighting shall be implemented on site in accordance with the approved scheme only, and retained as such thereafter. 
	Reason: 
	In the interest of residential amenity and to prevent any unacceptable light spillage, and to ensure compliance with Polcies SP16, EN8 and BE1 of the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan.
	17. Prior to first beneficial use of the development, a scheme detailing a refuse and recycling strategy shall be submited o and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme, as approved, shall be implemented prior to the first beneficial use of the development, and retained as such thereafter.
	Reason :
	In the interest of highway and pedestrian safety, the environment, and the amenity of residents, and to ensure accordanc with Policies BE1 and TR2 of the adopted Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan.
	18. Prior to their use in the construction of the development hereby permitted, details and samples of the materials to e ued in the construction of the external surfaces of the development shall have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details.
	Reason:
	In the interest of the visual amenity of the area and to ensure the development complies with Policy BE1 of the Neath Pot Talbot Local Development Plan.
	19. Prior to first beneficial use of the proposed development, a verification report which demonstrates the effectivenes ofthe agreed remediation works carried out in accordance with condition 7 shall have been submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
	Reason:	
	To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and neighbouring land are minimised, togethr with those to controlled waters, property and ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors and to ensure compliance with Policies SP16 and EN8 of the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan.
	20. In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out the approved development that was not previouly dentified, work on site shall cease immediately and shall be reported in writing to the Local Planning Authority. A Desk Study, Site Investigation, Risk Assessment and where necessary a Remediation Strategy must be undertaken in accordance with the following document:- Land Contamination: A Guide for Developers (WLGA, WAG & EAW, July 2006). This document shall be submitted to and agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority. Prior to occupation of the development, a verification report which demonstrates the effectiveness of the agreed remediation, shall be submitted to and agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority. 
	Reason:	
	To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and neighbouring land are minimised, togethr with those to controlled waters, property and ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other off site receptors, and to ensure compliance with Policies SP16 and EN8 of the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan.
	21. Notwithstanding the details submitted, prior to the first beneficial use of each flat to which the windows hereby aprovd relate, the front facing windows on the elevations fronting Bevin Avenue and Moorlands Road serving the open plan living and Kitchen area shall be fitted with obscured glazing, and any part of the windows that is less than 1.7m above the floor of the room in which it is installed shall be non-opening. The windows shall be permanently retained as such thereafter.
	Reason:
	In the interest of the amenities of the adjoining properties, and to ensure accordance with Policy BE1 of the adopted Neth Port Talbot Local Development Plan.
	22. Notwithstanding the submitted plan and prior to the first beneficial use of the development, a scheme shall be submitedto and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority detailing the siting, design and internal layouts of bin storage areas, cycle storage and mobility scooter storage. Neath Port Talbot Council operate a kerbside collection refuse and recycling scheme.  Therefore, the bin store areas should be located adjacent to the adopted public highway, shall not cause obstruction to either vehicular or pedestrian visibility with no doors allowed to open out over the public highway. The bin stores, cycle storage and mobility scooter storage as agreed shall be provided in accordance with the approved scheme prior to the first beneficial use of the development and retained as such thereafter.
	Reason:  
	In the interest of visual amenity, residential amenity and to ensure adeqaute bin storage, cycle storage and mobility strage is provided for future residents and to ensure compliance with Policy BE1 and EN8 of the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan.
	23. No additional dwelling unit hereby approved shall be brought into beneficial use until such time as a scheme detailig te amendment of the existing orders on Bevin Avenue to facilitate the new vehicular access to the parking area adjacent to Coronation House has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, and such scheme has been implemented in full. The approved scheme shall thereafter be retained.
	Reason:
	In the interest of highway and pedestrian safety and to ensure compliance with Policy TR2 of the Neath Port Talbot LocalDevelopment Plan.
	Regulatory
	24. Each vehicular access point shall be provided with a pedestrian vision splay measured at 2.4 metres x 2.4 metres behnd ack of footway and shall be retained thereafter so that nothing over 600 mm in height above back of footway level is erected or allowed to grow within these areas.
	Reason:
	In the in interest of highway and pedestrian safety and to ensure compliance with Policy TR2 of the Neath Port Talbot Loal Development Plan
	25. If the entire scheme is not Social Housing Grant Funded a scheme for the provision of affordable housing as part of he evelopment shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The affordable housing shall be provided in accordance with the approved scheme and shall meet the definition of affordable housing in Annex B of TAN 2 or any future guidance that replaces it. The scheme shall include:
	i)	the numbers, type, tenure and location on the site of the affordable housing provision to be made which shall consistof not less than 25 %of housing units;
	ii)	the timing of the construction of the affordable housing and its phasing in relation to the occupancy of the market ousing;
	iii)	the arrangements for the transfer of the affordable housing to an affordable housing provider [or the management ofthe affordable housing (if no RSL involved)];
	iv)	the arrangements to ensure that such provision is affordable for both first and subsequent occupiers of the affordabe housing; and
	v)	the occupancy criteria to be used for determining the identity of occupiers of the affordable housing and the means b which such occupancy criteria shall be enforced.
	Reason: 
	In order to secure an appropriate level of affordable housing in accordance with Policies AH1 and I1 of the Neath Port Tlbot Local Development Plan
	26. There shall be no outside storage of bins and recycling equipment except within the designated bin storage areas.
	Reason:  
	In the interest of visual amenity and to ensure compliance with Policy BE1 of the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Pln.
	27. Construction operations shall be limited to 08:00-18:00 Mon-Fri, 08:00-13:00 Saturdays, and no construction operatios sall take place on Sunday and Public Holidays without the prior approval of the Local Planning Authority.
	Reason:  
	To protect the amenity of the locality, especially for people living and/or working nearby, and to ensure accordance wit Policies BE1 and EN8 of the adopted Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan.
	28. The car parking courts hereby approved shall be constructed in accordance with drawing number 175-DHA-ZZ-00-DR-A-000 Sie Masterplan, prior to the first beneficial use of the development and retained for access and parking of residents’ vehicles only thereafter.
	Reason:
	In the interest of highway and pedestrian safety, to ensure that the development is served by sufficient parking and to nsure compliance with Policy TR2 of the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan.
	29. The development hereby approved shall be connected to the mains sewerage system prior to the first beneficial use oftheflats and retained as such thereafter.
	Reason:
	In the interest of satisfactory drainage of the site, and ensure the development complies with Policy SP16 and BE1 of th Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan.
	30. All measures identified within the Travel Plan hereby approved shall be implemented in accordance with the approved etals, with full monitoring reports submitted to the Local Planning Authority following each monitoring period, with a final report and updated Travel Plan submitted after year 5, for the approval of the Local Planning Authority, which shall seek to address any issues that have failed to reduce the use of the car and meet the agreed targets set in the travel plan.  
	Reason:
	In the interests of promoting sustainable transport and to ensure the development complies with Policy SP20 of the NeathPort Talbot Local Plan.
	31. All highway works are to be completed in accordance with the details shown on the approved plans prior to the fist bnefcial use of the development and retained as such thereafter
	Reason:
	In the in interest of highway and pedestrian safety and to ensure compliance with Policy TR2 of the Neath Port Talbot Loal Development Plan

	5 Application No. P2020/1071 - Land at Heol Tabor, Cwmafan
	SECTION A – MATTERS FOR DECISION
	Planning Applications Recommended For Approval
	APPLICATION NO: P2020/1071�
	DATE: 23rd February 2021�
	PROPOSAL:	Construction of 4 x detached bungalows and 2 x semi-detached dwellings (Outline application with all matters rserved)�
	LOCATION:	Land at Heol Tabor, Cwmafan, SA12 9PS�
	APPLICANT:	Mr Wayne Goodridge�
	TYPE:	Outline�
	WARD:	Bryn and Cwmafan�
	BACKGROUND INFORMATION
	This application is being reported to Planning Committee as it is a departure from the Local Development Plan.
	SITE AND CONTEXT
	The application site is located on land at Heol Tabor, Cwmafan.
	The application site measures approximately 0.22 hectares in area and is gently sloping in profile from west up to the est, and from the south up to the north. It is currently vacant land which has been re-profiled in recent times, and there are some earth mounds remaining on site. It is partly enclosed with fencing. 
	The site (edged red on the OS plan below) is located outside of the settlement limits of Cwmafan, these being identifiedon the aerial plan below, but is bounded by residential dwellings to the east and west, with Heol Tabor to the south (off which access is gained), and open countryside to the north.
	DESCRIPTION OF DEVELOPMENT
	This is an outline planning application (with all matters reserved) for the construction of 4 x detached bungalows and 2x semi-detached dwellings (6 units in total). 
	In support of the application an indicative block plan has been provided indicating the size and siting of the proposed wellings comprising a pair of semi-detached two-storey dwellings (Plots 1-2) on the eastern side of the site, with the remaining (Plots 3-6) being detached bungalows. Each plot has off-street car parking and garden areas to the front and rear.
	The illustrative site layout is shown below, while to accord with the outline requirements the agent has provided the scle parameters for the properties as follows:
	Houses�
	Bungalows�
	Height�
	7.2-7.7m�
	5-5.5m�
	Width�
	5.5-6m�
	8-8.5m�
	Depth�
	8-8.5m�
	9-9.4m�
	All plans / documents submitted in respect of this application can be viewed on the Council’s online register.
	NEGOTIATIONS
	An amended plan was requested from the agent in respect of vision splays for the driveway of plot 6 and this was duly prvided.
	PLANNING HISTORY
	The application site does not have any relevant planning history.
	CONSULTATIONS
	Head of Engineering & Transport (Highways): No objection, subject to conditions.
	Head of Engineering & Transport (Drainage): No objection, subject to a condition.
	Welsh Water: No objection, subject to conditions.
	Biodiversity Unit: No objection, subject to conditions.
	Contaminated Land Unit: No objection, subject to conditions.
	Coal Authority: No objection, subject to conditions.
	REPRESENTATIONS
	The neighbouring properties were consulted on 04/12/2020.  A site notice was displayed on 03/12/2020, with the applicatin also advertised in the press (as a departure from the Development Plan) on 16/12/2020.
	In response, to date 4 no. representations have been received, with the issues raised summarised as follows: -
	 Concerns over the lack of visibility splays from the site along Heol Mabon/Tabor.
	 Concerns that bungalows would be out-of-keeping with the area and the existing properties along Heol Mabon and Heol Tao.
	 Concerns regarding water diversion from the applicant’s summerhouse and lane discharging over the highway.
	 Concerns regarding drainage of the site (and potential flooding) since it has been cleared and also in relation to theclvert.
	 Concerns regarding sewerage capacity in the area.
	 Concerns regarding coal mining legacy on the site.
	 Concerns regarding the site address and advertising of the application site.
	REPORT
	The Well-being of Future Generations Act (Wales) 2015 places a duty on the Council to take reasonable steps in exercisin its functions to meet its sustainable development (or wellbeing) objectives. This report has been prepared in consideration of the Council’s duty and the “sustainable development principle”, as set out in the 2015 Act. In reaching the recommendation set out below, the Council has sought to ensure that the needs of the present are met without compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own needs.
	National Planning Policy:
	Planning Policy Wales (Edition 10) was extensively revised and restructured at the end of 2018 to take into account the hemes and approaches set out in the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015, and to deliver the vision for Wales that is set out therein. 
	PPW10 takes the seven Well-being Goals and the five Ways of Working as overarching themes and embodies a placemaking appoach throughout, with the aim of delivering Active and Social Places, Productive and Enterprising Places and Distinctive and Natural Places. It also identifies the planning system as one of the main tools to create sustainable places, and that placemaking principles are a tool to achieving this through both plan making and the decision making process.
	The following guidance is of particular relevance in the assessment of this planning application:
	PPW is supported by a series of more detailed Technical Advice Notes (TANs), of which the following are of relevance: -
	 Technical Advice Note 12: Design 
	Local Planning Policies
	The Development Plan for the area comprises the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan which was adopted in January 206, and within which the following policies are of relevance:
	Strategic Policies:
	 Policy SP4	Infrastructure
	 Policy SP5 	Development in the Coastal Corridor Strategy Area
	 Policy SP7	Housing Requirement
	 Policy SP8	Affordable Housing
	 Policy SP10	Open Space
	 Policy SP14 	The Countryside and the Undeveloped Coast
	 Policy SP15	Biodiversity and Geodiversity
	 Policy SP16 	Environmental Protection
	 Policy SP17 	Minerals
	 Policy SP18 	Renewable and Low Carbon Energy
	 Policy SP19 	Waste Management
	 Policy SP20	Transport Network
	Topic Based Policies:
	 Policy SC1	Settlement limits
	 Policy I1		Infrastructure Requirements
	 Policy AH1 	Affordable Housing 
	 Policy OS1 	Open Space Provision 
	 Policy EN6	Important Biodiversity and Geodiversity Sites 
	 Policy EN7 	Important Natural Features
	 Policy EN8 	Pollution and Land Stability 
	 Policy M1 	Development in Mineral Safeguarding Areas 
	 Policy M2 	Surface Coal Operations 
	 Policy TR2 	Design and Access of New Development 
	 Policy BE1 	Design 
	Supplementary Planning Guidance:
	The following SPG is of relevance to this application: -
	 Planning Obligations (October 2016)
	 Parking Standards (October 2016)
	 Affordable Housing (October 2016)
	 Pollution (October 2016)
	 Open Space & Greenspace (July 2017)
	 Design (July 2017)
	 Biodiversity and Geodiversity (May 2018)
	Issues
	Having regard to the above, the main issues to consider in this application relate to the principle of development, togeher with the impact on the visual amenity of the area, the amenities of neighbouring residents and highway safety.
	Principle of Development
	As the application site is located outside the settlement limits defined by Policy SC1 of the adopted Neath Port Talbot ocal Development Plan (LDP), there would ordinarily be a presumption against the principle of a residential development at this location – in order to protect the open countryside from inappropriate development.  Indeed, as the site is located outside of the settlement limits, and does not accord with any of the 12 stated exceptions in Policy SC1, the proposal is as a matter of fact contrary to the Development Plan. 
	It therefore follows that there must be other material considerations of sufficient weight to outweigh the failure to acord with the Development Plan.
	In considering such material considerations, it is noted that this site is unusual in that it is surrounded by the settlment limit of Cwmafan on three sides (east, west and south).  It is understood that this area was excluded from the LDP settlement limits due to historic coal mining legacy issues (which are explored in further detail below). As such, there is an argument that the development would comprise ‘infill’ development. 
	In support of this application the agent has provided a detailed planning statement. This references a number of appeal ecisions in relation to ‘infill development’ including APP/3154507 for 4 dwellings on land off The Mews, Lydiard Millicent, Swindon SN5 3NR. Within this reference is given to the Inspector’s decision in formulating test criteria. These are detailed as follows:
	 Does the site form a gap in an otherwise built up frontage?
	 Does the proposal respect the existing settlement pattern?
	 Does the proposal elongate the existing settlement pattern?
	 Does the proposal extend the development into a sensitive landscape area?
	 Does the proposal consolidate loose knit areas of development?
	Whilst these are not definitive ‘tests’, they are a good starting point for assessment (with the first ’test’ already cosidered above) and are explored in further detail below:
	Existing Settlement Pattern
	It is noted that the existing settlement pattern consists of residential development along and either side of Heol Mabon which then leads into Heol Tabor. It is also noted that the settlement limit extends beyond Heol Tabor into Cornish Row and Heol-Y-Graig. 
	As such, the application site would relate well to the settlement and would not be ‘edge’ of settlement. As such, the prposal for residential development on this site would comply with this element as it would not result in encroachment any further than the existing residential development on either side.
	Elongation of Existing Settlement Pattern
	As stated above, the site is located within the northern side of the settlement limit of Cwmafan and would not result inthe elongation of the settlement pattern further into the countryside. It is therefore considered that the proposal would comply with this element.
	Sensitive Landscape Area?
	It is noted that the site is not is within a Sensitive Landscape Area.
	Consolidation of Loose-knit Area?
	It is noted that the development of this site would not result in the consolidation of loose-knit areas as the site is bunded on three sides by existing residential development. As such, the proposal would comply with this element.
	SC1 Summary
	As identified above the proposal does not fit into any of the identified exceptions to Policy SC1 and is therefore contrry to the Development Plan. The above assessment, however, has considered whether the development would amount to appropriate infill development, and it has been considered that, in this particular instance, the proposal would be acceptable as a ‘departure’ from the LDP. This is because the site is surrounded by residential development on three sides and would comprise an ‘infill’ site in the area, which would not encroach into the open countryside any further than the existing residential development on either side. It would also provide much needed ‘small windfall’ housing which would assist in meeting local housing needs, including Affordable Housing, as well as providing a financial contribution to open space in the Bryn and Cwmafan Ward.
	Turning to Policy BE1 and the proposed density of the site specifically, criterion 8(a) requires the efficient use of lad available through being of appropriate density taking into account the character and appearance of the area, with “normally a minimum of
	35 dwellings per hectare (dph) in the Coastal Corridor Strategy Area” to be achieved.
	It has been calculated that the 14 dwellings along the northern side of Heol Tabor have a total site area of approximatey 0.3612 hectares, which equate to a density of 38 dph. On the western side, at Park Row, there is a site area of approximately 0.6227 hectares and 5 residential units which equates to a low density of 8 dph. It is noted that the submitted scheme of 6 units on a site area of 0.22 hectares equates to a density of 27.2 dph. Although this is below the recommendation of 35 dph, it is considered that it would be in-between the low density of developments along Park Row and higher density of Heol Tabor and, given the potential restrictions due to Coal Mining Legacy (see below), the density would be acceptable in this instance.
	Having regard to the above conclusion that the principle of residential development outside of the defined settlement liit is acceptable, it is noted that Policy SC1 requires that “where development is permitted outside settlement limits, any new buildings must be located adjacent to existing buildings or settlements wherever possible and be of an appropriate scale and form”. Such matters are considered further below.
	Impact on Visual Amenity
	Although development of this site would result in the loss of its current open appearance, given the conclusions above o the principle of development it is considered that no objections should be raised to its loss in terms of visual amenity.
	It is noted that this application seeks outline permission for 4 detached bungalows and a pair of two-storey semi-detachd dwellings. It is also noted that the existing properties along Heol Tabor comprise two-storey semi-detached dwellings, plus a block of flats, whilst the properties along Park Row comprise larger detached dwellings, plus a smaller block of flats beyond them. As such, it is noted that there is variety in the designs and layouts in the area. 
	Although there are no bungalows in the immediate vicinity, it is considered that the principle of the introduction of ‘ifill’ residential development, subject to detailed design at reserved matters stage, would not have a detrimental impact upon the character and appearance of the surrounding area, open countryside or street-scene. 
	Impact on Residential Amenity
	In respect of potential overlooking, it is noted that the application is in outline only, so no detailed floor plans hav been submitted. Nevertheless, provided the main habitable room windows face north and south only, it is considered that the principle of the proposal would not create any unacceptable overlooking issues as these windows would overlook the existing street-scene to the south or open land to the north.
	Turning to potential overbearing and overshadowing impacts, it is considered that the only property which could potentialy be affected would be Number 1 to the east. However, given the likely separation distance of 9m and the fact that Number 1 is angled away, it is considered that the proposed two-storey dwelling on Plot 1 could be designed in a way which would not give rise to any unacceptable issues.
	Impact on Mineral Resource
	It is noted that the site is located within a Mineral Safeguarding Area (Coal) under Policy M1 of the adopted LDP. Polic M1 looks to safeguard mineral resources as they are finite and any development will need to meet criteria which ensure they are not sterilised or their extraction hindered. 
	Notwithstanding the above, it is also noted that the site is within the area defined by Policy M2. As such, it would prelude any surface development within 500m of the settlement limit. Moreover, given the site’s close proximity to the settlement limits, it is very unlikely that any mineral extraction would be acceptable in this location, while in any event there is no longer Welsh Government policy support for extraction of coal. Accordingly, there is no objection to the principle of development on mineral safeguarding / Policy M1 and M2 grounds. 
	Parking and Access Requirements and Impact on Highway Safety
	It is noted that each dwelling is proposed to have off-street car parking accessed off Heol Tabor. The Head of Engineerig and Transport (Highways Section) raised some initial concerns with the visibility for Plot 6, due to the existing fence and landscaping to the applicant’s property to the west (Ty Ni). However, an amended plan was provided (extract below) indicating that they had control over this land (which is edged in blue) and can therefore provide the necessary vision splays. 
	Provided that the requested conditions from the Highways Section are imposed on the application – which require the visin splay for Plot 6 to be provided on site before commencement of development (including the removal or re-location of any boundary structure, gate or vegetation/hedge greater than 600mm in height behind the marked vision-splay), and thereafter its retention – it is considered that the principle of the residential development would not have a detrimental impact upon highway or pedestrian safety such that the proposal would therefore accord with Policy BE1 of the Local Development Plan.
	Biodiversity / Ecology
	An Ecological Walk-over survey was submitted in support of the application. This has been assessed in detail by the Biodversity Officer. As they offer no objection, subject to conditions, it is therefore considered that the proposal would be acceptable in terms of ecology.
	Contaminated Land
	It should be noted that the site has been identified as potentially contaminated land. However, as the Contaminated LandUnit offers no objection to the proposal, subject to conditions, it is considered that existing and future users of the site would not be adversely affected by ground contamination in terms of exposure to pollution.
	Coal Mining Legacy
	The site is located within a High Risk Coal Mining Area, and therefore a detailed Coal Mining Risk Assessment (CMRA) hasbeen submitted in support of the application. This has been assessed in detail by The Coal Authority, who note that within the site and surrounding area there are coal mining features and hazards which need to be considered in relation to the determination of this planning application.
	The Coal Authority’s records indicate that a mine entry (adit, CA ref. 278192-003) is present adjacent to the north westrn boundary of the site, with its associated potential zone of influence extending across the site. The adit is oriented to the north. They advise that they hold no details of any treatment of this former coal mining related feature and, due to potential plotting inaccuracies, the adit could deviate from its plotted positon by several metres. In addition, the site lies in an area of outcropping coal seam, which may have been subject to unrecorded working in the past. They note, however, that the planning application is accompanied by an Assessment of Land Quality/ Preliminary Risk Assessment (Desk Study) (October 2020, prepared by Quantum Geotechnic Limited), Section 6.0 of which provides a Coal Mining Risk Assessment.
	Based on a review of appropriate sources of coal mining and geological information, the submitted report identifies the otential for the site to be affected by unrecorded surface extraction/crop workings, and potentially shallow underground mine workings that could pose a risk to surface instability. It also notes the presence of the recorded adit and assumes that this feature remains untreated.
	They further note that Section 7.2 of the report goes on to make appropriate recommendations for the carrying out of intusive site investigations, in the form of the drilling of rotary probe holes and trenching, in order to investigate the shallow coal mining situation, and to locate and establish the condition of the recorded adit.
	The Coal Authority advises that the applicant should ensure that the exact form of any intrusive site investigation is dsigned by a competent person. The findings of these intrusive site investigations should then inform any mitigation measures, such as grouting and capping stabilisation works and foundation solutions, which may be required in order to remediate mining legacy affecting the site and to ensure the safety and stability of the proposed development. In addition, they advise that any form of development over or within the influencing distance of a mine entry can be dangerous and raises significant safety and engineering risks and exposes all parties to potential financial liabilities. 
	The Coal Authority has adopted a policy where, as a general precautionary principle, the building over or within the infuencing distance of a mine entry, even when treated, should wherever possible be avoided. In light of their adopted policy, the Coal Authority therefore expect the intrusive site investigation works to be undertaken prior to the formulation of any Reserved Matters details relating to the proposed site layout. Once the recommended site investigation works have located the adit and established its associated zone of influence, an appropriate ‘no-build’ zone should be defined around the adit, with the detailed layout of development designed in a manner which avoids this area. Notwithstanding the above however, they offer no objection to this application subject to the imposition of detailed conditions in respect of detailed on-site investigation and remedial measures. 
	Having regard to the above, while the investigations will be required to be undertaken before and to inform the reservedmatters submissions – and thus may affect the layout of development – such matters can be controlled by condition and through the subsequent reserved matters application(s). It is therefore considered that the principle of residential development would be acceptable in terms of coal mining legacy.
	Section 106 Planning Obligations
	Local Development Plan Policy SP 4 (Infrastructure) states that “Developments will be expected to make efficient use of xisting infrastructure and where required make adequate provision for new infrastructure, ensuring that there are no detrimental effects on the area and community. Where necessary, Planning Obligations will be sought to ensure that the effects of developments are fully addressed in order to make the development acceptable”.
	Policy I1 (Infrastructure Requirements) then states that “In addition to infrastructure improvements necessary to make adevelopment acceptable in health, safety and amenity terms, additional works or funding may be required to ensure that, where appropriate, the impact of new development is mitigated. These requirements will include consideration of and appropriate provision for: Affordable housing; Open space and recreation facilities; Welsh language infrastructure (in language Sensitive Areas); Community facilities including community hubs; Biodiversity, environmental and conservation interests; Improving access to facilities and services including the provision of walking and cycling routes; Historic and built environment and public realm improvements; Community and public transport; Education and training.
	The Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 came into force on 6th April 2010 in England and Wales. They introducd limitations on the use of planning obligations (Reg. 122 refers). As of 6th April 2010, a planning obligation may only legally constitute a reason for granting planning permission if it is: 
	(a)  necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms; 
	(b)  directly related to the development; and 
	(c)  fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development. 
	In this case, the proposal relates to a planning application for the development of 6 residential units.
	In view of the type and form of development proposed in this location, having regard to local circumstances and needs arsing from the development, the following planning obligations are considered necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms and to meet the policy and legislative tests for planning obligations.
	Affordable Housing
	Policy AH1 of the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan states that all new housing developments will be required to ontribute to affordable housing provision. Within the Port Talbot spatial area, a 25% affordable housing target is sought. As this application is in outline form with all matters reserved, a suitably worded condition would normally be sufficient requiring a 25% contribution towards affordable housing, which would need to be agreed at reserved matters stage. 
	However, as the 25% would in this case equate to 1.5 dwellings – with one unit to be provided on site (transferred to anRSL at 40% of market value), plus a financial contribution for the remaining 0.5 unit – this would need to be controlled through a Section 106 as financial contributions can only be secured through legal agreement.
	Subject to the above agreement, it is considered that the development would comply with Policy AH1 of the LDP.
	Public Open Space / Children’s Play Facilities
	Policy OS1 states where there is a quantitative deficiency in outdoor sport, children’s play, informal space or allotmens, provision will be sought, including the requirement for maintenance in conjunction with all new residential developments of 3 or more dwellings, based on the following standards: 
	Open Space�
	Standard�
	Outdoor Sport�
	1.6 hectares per 1.000 population�
	Children’s Play�
	0.25 hectares per 1,000 population�
	Informal Space�
	0.55 hectares per 1,000 population�
	Allotments�
	0.19 hectares per 1,000 population�
	Having regard to the ‘Open Space Assessment 2013, produced in support of the adopted Local Development Plan, it is notedthat there are existing ward shortfalls, as detailed below. Accordingly, the existing deficiencies would be exacerbated by the increase in population arising from the proposed development, and there is a need for the development to contribute towards addressing such deficiency. 
	It should be noted that the site lies within the Bryn and Cwmafan ward, where there are existing ward shortfalls in all ategories of open space, with the exception of informal open space. 
	The development, therefore, has the following open space requirements:
	Pitch sport - 158sqm
	Non pitch sport - 62sqm
	Children’s play - 34sqm
	Informal open space - 76sqm 
	Allotments - 26sqm
	Potential S106 Capital costs for Public Open Space are as follows:
	Pitch sport - £1,704
	Non pitch sport - £6,180
	Children’s play - £5,130
	Informal - £0 (as overprovision)
	Allotments - £288
	Total - £13,302
	This contribution can be secured through a legal agreement.
	Other Matters
	As identified earlier in this report, a number of objections were received in response following the publicity exercise.In response to the main issues raised which have not been addressed elsewhere in this report, the following comments are made:
	 In respect of the concerns regarding water diversion from the applicant’s summerhouse and lane discharging over the hihay, it should be noted that this is an existing problem. However, the amendments to the fence/hedging to provide the required vision splays should, hopefully, address this issue.
	 In respect of potential drainage and flooding issues, including the existing culvert on site, it should be noted that h Head of Engineering and Transport (Drainage Section) offers no objection to the proposal, subject to conditions including a surface water drainage strategy. It should also be noted that, prior to the commencement of any works on site, the developer will also be required to obtain SAB Drainage Consent from the Authority, which will deal with the detailed drainage of the site. It is therefore considered that the principle of the development would be acceptable in terms of drainage.
	 Turning to the concerns regarding sewerage capacity in the area, it should be noted that Welsh Water offer no objectio o the proposal, subject to a condition in respect of a foul drainage scheme. As they have not raised any capacity issues it is therefore considered that the proposal for up to 6 units would not create any unacceptable capacity issues.
	 Finally, in respect of the concern regarding the address and advertising of the application these are noted. The addreson the planning system has been changed to “Land at Heol Tabor” rather than “Land at 3 Heol Tabor”. It should be noted that the address is used purely to help identify the site, particularly when it relates to ‘land’ rather than buildings. Nevertheless, it should be noted that the application site is defined by the site/land edged in red on the submitted location plan. It is therefore considered that the application has been advertised sufficiently in the form of neighbours letters, site notices and a Press Notice.
	CONCLUSION
	The decision to recommend planning permission has been taken in accordance with Section 38 of The Planning and Compulsor Purchase Act 2004, which requires that, in determining a planning application the determination must be in accordance with the Development Plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.  The Development Plan comprises the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan (2011–2026) adopted January 2016.
	While the proposal would constitute a ‘departure’ from the Local Development Plan, there are considered to be material cnsiderations which justify approval of the application, notably that the Coal Mining Legacy issued have been suitably addressed and the site is surrounded by residential development on three sides, which in this particular instance allow a conclusion that the development would amount to appropriate ‘infill’ development. In addition, it would not have a detrimental impact upon residential amenity or upon the character and appearance of the surrounding area/open countryside, and there would be no adverse impact upon highway and pedestrian safety. Accordingly, while the proposal would be contrary to Policy SC1, it would otherwise comply with Policies AH1, OS1, EN6, EN7, EN8, M1, M2, TR2 and BE1 of the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan. 
	It is further considered that the decision complies with the Council’s well-being objectives and the sustainable developent principle in accordance with the requirements of the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015.
	RECOMMENDATION  
	That the application is approved, subject to the following conditions, and a legal agreement under Section 106 with the ollowing Heads of Terms:
	(1) That 25% affordable housing is provided in the form of one unit on the site and a financial contribution equivalent o 05 of a unit (in accordance with the Council’s approved Affordable Housing SPG);
	(2) Prior to the first beneficial occupation of any dwellings on site a financial contribution of £13,302 shall be provied or off-site Open Space contribitions within the Bryn and Cwmafan Ward; and 
	(3) If within 3 months of the date of this resolution the S106 Agreement is not signed, the application shall be refusedforthe following reason:
	“Through the failure to sign the required S106 agreement to secure the required Affordable Housing and Open Space contriutions the application fails to accord with Policies I1, AH1 and OS1 of the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan”.
	CONDITIONS:- 
	Time Limit Conditions
	1	Details of the access, appearance, landscaping, layout, and scale, (hereinafter called "the reserved matters") shall b submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority before any development begins and the development shall be carried out as approved.
	Reason:
	The application was made for outline planning permission.
	2	The development shall begin either before the expiration of five years from the date of this permission or before the xpiration of two years from the date of approval of the last of the reserved matters to be approved, whichever is the later.
	Reason:
	To comply with the requirements of Section 92 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.
	List of Approved Plans
	3	The development shall be carried out in accordance with the following approved plans and documents: 
	Dwg. No. A100 Rev C.
	Dwg. No. A101 Rev A.
	Planning Statement.
	Ecological Walkover (Koru Ecology Associates - Oct 2020).
	Assessment of Land Quality/Preliminary Risk Assessment (Q0353/DS - Oct 2020).
	Reason: 
	In the interests of clarity.
	Pre-Commencement Conditions
	4	As part of the first reserved matters application, a scheme shall be provided indicating the provision of a 2.4m x 33mvisibility splay for plot 6 as identified on Dwg. No. A100 Rev C, including details of the removal or re-location of any boundary structure, gate or vegetation/hedge greater than 600mm in height behind the marked vision-splay, together with the finished appearance of such cleared area. No development shall commence on site until such time as the vision splay for Plot 6, as detailed on Dwg. No. A100 Rev C, has been provided on site in accordance with the approved details, with the  vision splay thereafter retained and maintained in accordance with the approved details in perpetuity thereafter.
	Reason:
	In the interest of highway and pedestrian safety and to comply with Policy TR2 of the Neath Port Talbot Local Developmen Plan.
	5	Notwithstanding the submitted details and as part of the first reserved matters application an assessment of the natur and extent of contamination affecting the application site area shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. This assessment must be carried out by or under the direction of a suitably qualified competent person in accordance with BS10175 (2011) 'Investigation of Potentially Contaminated Sites Code of Practice' and shall assess any contamination on the site, whether or not it originates on the site. The report of the findings shall include:
	(i) a desk top study to identify all previous uses at the site and potential contaminants associated with those uses andthe impacts from those contaminants on land and controlled waters. The desk study shall establish a 'conceptual site model' (CSM) which identifies and assesses all identified potential source, pathway, and receptor linkages;
	(ii) an intrusive investigation to assess the extent, scale and nature of contamination which may be present, if identifed as required by the desk top study;
	(iii) an assessment of the potential risks to:
	-  human health,
	-  groundwater and surface waters
	-  adjoining land,
	-  property (existing or proposed) including buildings, crops, livestock, pets, woodland and service lines and pipes,
	-  ecological systems,
	-  archaeological sites and ancient monuments; and-  any other receptors identified at (i)
	(iv) an appraisal of remedial options, and justification for the preferred remedial option(s).
	Reason:
	To ensure that information provided for the assessment of the risks from land contamination to the future users of the lnd, neighbouring land, controlled waters, property and ecological systems is sufficient to enable a proper assessment, and to ensure compliance with Policies SP16 and EN8 of the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan.
	6	No development shall commence on site until a remediation scheme to bring the site to a condition suitable for the intnded use by removing any unacceptable risks to human health, buildings, other property and the natural and historic environment shall be prepared and submitted to and approved in writing with the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall include all works to be undertaken, proposed remediation objectives, remediation criteria and site management procedures. The measures proposed within the remediation scheme shall be implemented in accordance with an agreed programme of works. 
	Reason: 
	To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and neighbouring land are minimised, togethr with those to controlled waters, property and ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors, and to ensure compliance with Policies SP16 and EN8 of the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan.
	7	The first reserved matters application seeking approval of a detailed layout of development for the site shall be accopanied by the results of  a detailed scheme for intrusive investigations which shall have been carried out on site in accordance with the recommendations contained in the supporting Assessment of Land Quality/ Preliminary Risk Assessment (Desk Study) , in order to establish the exact situation in respect of coal mining legacy at the site. The intrusive site investigations shall be carried out in accordance with authoritative UK guidance. Any reserved matters application seeking approval of a detailed layout of development for the site, shall include as a minimum the following details for consideration and approval by the Local Planning Authority:
	(i) A report of findings arising from the intrusive site investigations;
	(ii) The submission of a proposed layout plan which: - identifies the positions of the recorded mine entry; identifies te potential zones of influence of the mine entry; and defines a suitable 'no build' zone around this feature; and the submission of details of remedial / mitigatory measures required to protect the development and site from the effects of coal mining related land instability, together with a timetable for their implementation.
	The scheme, as approved, including the remedial / mitigatory measures required to protect the development and site from he effects of coal mining related land instability shall be fully implemented on site in accordance with the agreed timetable and retained as such thereafter.
	Reason:
	As the application site is located within a High Risk Coal Mining Legacy and to establish the exact situation in respectof coal mining legacy at the site in compliance with Policy BE1 of the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan.
	8	Prior to the commencement of works on site commencing, the Fallopia Japonica (Japanese Knotweed) that is located on th site shall be treated and controlled in accordance with the Environment Agency Knotweed Code of Practice.
	Reason:	
	In the interests of amenity, and to ensure that the treatment is carried out in accordance with recognised good practiceand to accord with Policy SP15 of the adopted Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan.
	9	Prior to the commencement of any works on site including site clearance, and in accordance with the Ecological Report Koru Ecology Associates - October 2020), an Ecological Walkover shall be undertaken on site by a suitably competent Ecological Clerk of Works (ECoW). The ECoW will conduct a finger-tip search for common reptile and amphibian species, as well as small mammals, and these shall be removed to a suitable location.
	Reason:
	In the interest of Biodiversity and to comply with Policies EN6 and EN7 of the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan.
	Action Conditions
	10	As part of the first reserved matters application a detailed scheme shall be submitted to and approved in writing by he Local Planning Authority detailing the provision of a 2m wide footway across the frontage of the application site, plus vehicle footway cross-over for the respective drive areas. The scheme, as approved, shall be fully implemented on site prior to the first beneficial occupation of any dwelling, and shall be retained open and free for public use thereafter.
	Reason:
	In the interest of highway and pedestrian safety and to comply with Policy TR2 of the Neath Port Talbot Local Developmen Plan.
	11	As part of the first reserved matters application a scheme shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the LocalPlanning Authority detailing the provision of obstruction-free (i.e. nothing greater then 600mm in height shall be constructed or planted) pedestrian vision splays of 2.4m by 2.4m (measured from the back of footway) each side of the respective drive access. The approved scheme shall be fully implemented on site prior to the occupation of the respective dwelling, and retained as such thereafter.
	Reason:
	In the interest of highway and pedestrian safety and to comply with Policy TR2 of the Neath Port Talbot Local Developmen Plan.
	12	As part of the first reserved matters application a scheme shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the LocalPlanning Authority detailing the provision of one off-street parking space per bedroom, up to a maximum of three per dwelling. Each drive shall be a minimum length of 6.0 metres from back of footway to front of garage structure, 3.6 metres minimum width and shall be surfaced to its finished level to a maximum gradient of 1 in 9, with no surface water allowed to flow out onto the Public Highway. The scheme, as approved, shall be provided on site prior to the first beneficial occupation of the respective dwelling, and retained for such use thereafter.
	Reason:
	In the interest of highway and pedestrian safety and to comply with Policy TR2 of the Neath Port Talbot Local Developmen Plan.
	13	As part of the first reserved matters application a surface water drainage strategy shall be submitted to and approve in writing by the Local Planning Authority detailing the existing watercourses within and that discharge within the boundary of the site, together with overland flow routes for the land to the western boundary of the site. This strategy shall also include any easements that may be deemed necessary to maintain the existing culvert inlet grill by the Lead Local Flood Authority. The submitted scheme shall also include a timetable for implementation on site. The scheme, as approved, shall be fully implemented on site prior to the first beneficial occupation of any dwelling, and retained as such thereafter.
	Reason:
	In the interest of adequate drainage of the site and to comply with Policy BE1 of the Neath Port Talbot Local Developmen Plan.
	14	Prior to beneficial use of the proposed development commencing, a verification report which demonstrates the effectivness of the agreed remediation works carried out in accordance with Condition 6 shall have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
	Reason:	
	To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and neighbouring land are minimised, togethr with those to controlled waters, property and ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors and to ensure compliance with Policies SP16 and EN8 of the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan.
	15	In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out the approved development that was not previousy identified, work on site shall cease immediately and shall be reported in writing to the Local Planning Authority. A Desk Study, Site Investigation, Risk Assessment and where necessary a Remediation Strategy must be undertaken in accordance with the following document:- Land Contamination: A Guide for Developers (WLGA, WAG & EAW, July 2006). This document shall be submitted to and agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority. Prior to occupation of the development, a verification report which demonstrates the effectiveness of the agreed remediation, shall be submitted to and agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority. 
	Reason:	
	To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and neighbouring land are minimised, togethr with those to controlled waters, property and ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other off site receptors, and to ensure compliance with Policies SP16 and EN8 of the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan.
	16	As part of the first reserved matters application a scheme indicating the positions, height, design, materials and tye of boundary treatment to be erected to all boundaries shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The boundary treatment shall be completed, as approved, prior the first beneficial use is of the respective dwelling and retained as such thereafter.
	Reason:  
	In the interest of visual amenity and to ensure compliance with Policy BE1 of the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Pln.
	17	As part of the first reserved matters application details of proposed ground levels and finished floor levels shall b submitted to and approved in writing with the Local Planning Authority. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details and retained as such thereafter.
	Reason:  
	In the interest of visual amenity and to ensure compliance with Policy BE1 of the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Pln.
	18	As part of the first reserved matters application, a foul water drainage scheme for the site shall be submitted to an approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall provide for the disposal of foul water flows and thereafter implemented in accordance with the approved details prior to the occupation of any dwelling, and retained as such thereafter.  
	Reason: 
	To prevent hydraulic overloading of the public sewerage system, to protect the health and safety of existing residents ad ensure no pollution of or detriment to the environment, and ensure the development complies with Policy SP16 and BE1 of the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan.
	19	Prior to their use in the construction of the development hereby permitted, details and samples of the materials to b used in the construction of the external surfaces of the development shall have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details.
	Reason:
	In the interest of the visual amenity of the area and to ensure the development complies with Policy BE1 of the Neath Pot Talbot Local Development Plan.
	20	As part of the first reserved matters application a detailed scheme shall be submitted to and approved in writing by he Local Planning Authority detailing the provision of artificial nesting sites for birds, together with roosting opportunities for bats in the form of manufactured bat boxes onto the buildings or incorporation of manufactured bat bricks into the building. These scheme, as approved, shall be fully implemented on site prior to the first beneficial occupation of the respective dwelling, and retained as such thereafter.
	Reason:
	In the interest of Biodiversity as the proposals will remove potential bird nesting/foraging habitats which must be mitiated for under the Habitat Regulations 2017, together with Biodiversity enhancement for bats,  in order to comply with Policies EN6 and EN7 of the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan.
	Regulatory Conditions
	21	Any gates provided across the access drive(s) shall be of a type which open inward only and can be seen through, and hall be retained as such thereafter.
	Reason:
	In the interest of highway and pedestrian safety and to ensure compliance with Policy TR2 of the Neath Port Talbot LocalDevelopment Plan.
	22	Notwithstanding the provisions of Schedule 2, Part 1, Class E of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Devlopment) Order 1995 (as amended for Wales) (or any order revoking and re-enacting that order with or without modification), no buildings shall be erected other than those expressly authorised by this permission and identified on the approved drawings.
	Reason:	
	In order to safeguard the amenities of the area by enabling the Local Planning Authority to consider whether planning pemission should be granted for garages or outbuildings having regard to the particular layout and design of the development, residential amenity, and Coal Mining Legacy, and to accord with Policies BE1 and SC1 of the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan.
	23	Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 1995 (as amende for Wales) (or any order revoking and re-enacting that Order with or without modification), there shall be no extension or external alteration to any building forming part of the development hereby permitted without the prior grant of planning permission in that behalf.  
	Reason:	
	In order to safeguard the amenities of the area by enabling the Local Planning Authority to consider whether planning pemission should be granted for extensions, having regard to the particular layout and design of the development and need to protect the amenity of nearby properties, and Coal Mining Legacy, and to accord with Policies BE1 and SC1 of the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan.
	24	Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 1995 (as amende for Wales) (or any order revoking and re-enacting that Order with or without modification), no fences, gates or walls shall be erected to the frontage of the site greater than 600mm in height.
	Reason:
	In the interest of highway and pedestrian safety and to comply with Policy TR2 of the Neath Port Talbot Local Developmen Plan.

	6 Application No. P2020/1041 - 45 Victoria Road, Sandfields
	SECTION A – MATTERS FOR DECISION
	Planning Applications Recommended For Approval
	APPLICATION NO: P2020/1041�
	PROPOSAL:	Change of use from Convenience Store (Use Class A1) and associated 4-Bed Flat (Use Class C3) into 8-Bed HMO (Si Generis Use Class), including installation of new windows�
	LOCATION:	45 Victoria Road, Sandfields, SA12 6QG �
	APPLICANT:	Mr James Stevens�
	TYPE:	Full�
	WARD:	Sandfields East�
	BACKGROUND INFORMATION
	This application was requested by Cllrs Latham and Crowley on 26/01/2021 to be determined at Planning Committee due to cncerns with parking and the impact on residential amenity.
	The ‘call-in’ Panel agreed on 27/01/2021 that the application should be determined at Planning Committee.
	SITE AND CONTEXT
	The application site is located at 45 Victoria Road, Sandfields, Port Talbot and comprises a two-storey end-of-terrace poperty currently used as a retail premises (Use Class A1) on the ground-floor with large four bedroom first-floor flat above (with kitchen/dining at rear of ground floor). 
	The plot measures approximately 0.018 hectares in area and is bounded by a rear access lane to the north, residential dwlling to the east, Victoria Road to the south, and Hospital Road to the west.
	DESCRIPTION OF DEVELOPMENT
	This is a full planning application for the change of use of the property from Convenience Store (Use Class A1) and assoiated 4-Bed Flat (Use Class C3) into an 8-Bed large HMO (Sui Generis Use�). In addition, alterations are proposed to the windows, front elevation and creation of a front forecourt with boundary wall.
	The proposed development will involve the change of use of the existing ground-floor shop into 4-bedrooms (all en-suite)with a snug/lounge area and kitchen. The rear garage/store is proposed to be used for bin and cycle storage. On the first-floor a further 4-bedrooms are proposed (all en-suite). 
	Externally, the existing entrance door to the shop is proposed to be changed into a window, the ATM removed and the windw re-instated, plus the walls rendered. Additional windows are also proposed on the ground-floor side and rear elevations. Furthermore, a new side-facing window is proposed on the first-floor serving the ‘middle’ bedroom.
	To the front of the property it is proposed to create a front forecourt by constructing a 1.6m high wall with railings ad side access gate.
	It should be noted that the Case Officer has not visited the internal yard of the site due to COVID-19 restrictions. Howver, he has viewed the site from the surrounding street, together with an examination of Google Street-view and aerial images. The agent has also provided photographs. It is considered that these are sufficient for a detailed assessment to be made of the impacts of the development.
	All plans / documents submitted in respect of this application can be viewed on the Council’s online register.
	NEGOTIATIONS
	Amended plans were requested from the Agent in respect of the internal layout in order to satisfy Environmental Health rquirements, including the removal of 1 no. bedroom. Further amended plans were also requested from the developer in respect of the rendering of the front elevation and creation of a front forecourt.
	PLANNING HISTORY
	The application site has the following relevant planning history: -
	 T1983/4527�
	Renew Mains Extension to Existing Shop. Approved 15/02/84.
	 P2003/0016�
	Boundary wall to be built up and roof covered with single-door to secure rear of premises. Approved 12/02/03.
	 P2013/0761�
	Internally-illuminated ATM collar advertisement. Approved 26/09/13.
	 P2013/0778�
	External alteration comprising of enlarged window to facilitate ATM and security panel. Approved 26/09/13.�
	CONSULTATIONS
	Head of Engineering & Transport (Highways): No objection, subject to a condition.
	Contaminated Land Section: No objection.
	Environmental Health Section: No objection, subject to conditions.
	Welsh Water: No objection.
	REPRESENTATIONS
	The neighbouring properties were consulted on 04/12/2020 and 19/01/2021, with a site notice also displayed on 03/12/2020and 19/01/2021.  
	In response, to date, 86 no. representations (including a petition of 404+ signatures) have been received, together with1 letter of support. The objections are summarised as follows:
	 Concerns regarding parking provision, the lack of on-street parking availability and indiscriminate parking – particulry on a busy traffic-light controlled junction.
	 Concerns regarding the future occupiers of the property.
	 Concerns that the proposal is out-of-keeping with the current residential character of the area.
	 Concerns regarding the size of the en-suite facilities and hand-washing, the size of the communal kitchen and snug faclties for 8 people.
	 Concerns regarding 8 people to be contained within a ‘bubble’ under the current pandemic.
	 Concerns that the proposal will decrease property values.
	 Concerns regarding the vacant shop opposite, which could also turn into an HMO if this is approved.
	 Concerns regarding bin storage, which could potentially obstruct the footway and/or lane.
	 Concerns regarding anti-social behaviour from HMOs, such as litter from needles and cans.
	 Concerns regarding the safety of children.
	 Concerns regarding loud music.
	 Will there be a reduction in Council Tax if this is approved, due to decrease in property values and having to clean u ubbish and mess?
	 The site should be converted into a small parking lot due to the lack of parking in the area.
	 Concerns regarding the location of the site opposite a pharmacy, near a school (Tywyn) and playground (Vivian Park) isnt a good idea.
	 Concerns that the last tenant did not give up the shop voluntarily, so there is no excuse that it had to close becauseo lack of trade.
	 The submitted information states that the nearby Nisa store has a Post Office and ATM. However, this out of date and te are no longer present.
	 Controls needs to be put in place, such as making the rooms available to people of 50 years or older, like the CoastalFats nearby, which do not have any anti-social problems.
	 Is there a NPT Council planning policy on the number of HMO allowed in a specific area? If not why?
	 Concerns that there are very few commercial food/convenience outlets in the area for people who don't drive etc., so lsng the commercial license on this building is a mistake.
	 Do the developers have any qualifications that will help the tenants as many living in HMO accommodation have complex eds and need to be helped, monitored and looked after?
	 Concerns regarding disabled access to the property due to the short pavements and shape of the building.
	 Potential increase in crime in the area with many residents already needing to erect CCTV cameras.
	 Potential loss of light and air for local residents.
	 Concerns regarding parking provision, as the development on The Grove PH needed to have a minimum of two parking space or each flat. There appears to be one rule for one, and a different rule for another.
	 HMOs are generally poorly managed and maintained, and will attract numerous problems.
	 A consultation with local residents are needed.
	 There are existing problems with the current HMO in the area and an additional one will exacerbate these.
	The on-line petition of 400+ signatures states:
	“There is a planning application to build an 8 bed HMO in Victoria Road, the residents of Victoria Road are in oppositio to this as a HMO in a residential street will have an effect on the value of our properties, it will also cause more car parking issues than there already is, as well as the issue of not knowing the people they plan to house in there. We are concerned that there may be people such as those being released from prison with drug/alcohol issues which we do not want living next to our children. Noise pollution and lack of privacy is also a concern for the houses in close proximity”.
	REPORT
	The Well-being of Future Generations Act (Wales) 2015 places a duty on the Council to take reasonable steps in exercisin its functions to meet its sustainable development (or wellbeing) objectives. This report has been prepared in consideration of the Council’s duty and the “sustainable development principle”, as set out in the 2015 Act. In reaching the recommendation set out below, the Council has sought to ensure that the needs of the present are met without compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own needs.
	National Planning Policy:
	Planning Policy Wales (Edition 10) was extensively revised and restructured at the end of 2018 to take into account the hemes and approaches set out in the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015, and to deliver the vision for Wales that is set out therein. 
	PPW10 takes the seven Well-being Goals and the five Ways of Working as overarching themes and embodies a placemaking appoach throughout, with the aim of delivering Active and Social Places, Productive and Enterprising Places and Distinctive and Natural Places. It also identifies the planning system as one of the main tools to create sustainable places, and that placemaking principles are a tool to achieving this through both plan making and the decision making process.
	PPW is supported by a series of more detailed Technical Advice Notes (TANs), of which the following are of relevance: -
	 Technical Advice Note 12: Design 
	 Technical Advice Note 15: Development and Flood Risk
	Local Planning Policies
	The Development Plan for the area comprises the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan which was adopted in January 206, and within which the following policies are of relevance:
	Strategic Policies:
	 Policy SP7	Housing Requirement
	 Policy SP12 	Retail
	 Policy SP20	Transport Network
	Topic Based Policies:
	 Policy SC1	Settlement limits
	 Policy SC2 	Protection of Existing Community Facilities
	 Policy TR2 	Design and Access of New Development 
	 Policy BE1 	Design 
	Supplementary Planning Guidance:
	The following SPG is of relevance to this application: -
	 Parking Standards (October 2016)
	 Design (July 2017)
	Issues
	Having regard to the above, the main issues to consider in this application relate to the principle of the development a this location, together with the impact on the visual amenity of the area, the amenities of neighbouring residents and highway safety.
	Principle of Development
	Background Information 
	As background, it is of note that in February 2016 the Welsh Government introduced changes to the Town and Country Plannng (Use Classes) Order to create a new use class for Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMO) (Class C4). The Use Class C4 in broad terms covers shared houses or flats occupied by between three and six unrelated individuals who share basic amenities, such as the proposals set out within this submission. 
	The change to the Use Classes Order therefore served to bring the change of use of dwellings (which fall in Class C3) toHMO’s within the control of Planning Authorities by making such changes subject to planning permission. The reason for the change in the Use Class Order followed a recognition that, in some parts of the Country, the number of HMOs within an area was having an adverse impact upon the character of an area. 
	It should be noted that large houses in multiple occupation (those with more than six people sharing such as is proposedunder this application) remain unclassified by the Use Classes Order and in planning terms are therefore considered to be ‘sui generis’.
	Having regard to the above, it is acknowledged that concentrations of HMOs can, in some instances, lead to a range of cutural, social and economic changes in a community and that high concentrations have the potential to create local issues. The Council does not, however, have any specific local Policies aimed at preventing the spread of HMOs at present. This is due largely to the absence of any significant historical issue in the area, and the introduction of the C4 Use Class post adoption of the LDP.
	Evolving National Policy Context
	The Welsh Government issued Planning Policy Wales Edition 10 in December 2018 in a substantially revised form developed round the goals embodied in the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015. 
	This includes a significant emphasis on placemaking and the creation of sustainable places and their role in improving te wellbeing of communities.  Indeed, PPW10 emphasises that one of the “Key Planning Principles” is “Creating & sustaining communities”, noting that:
	“The planning system must work in an integrated way to maximise its contribution to well-being. It can achieve this by ceating well-designed places and cohesive rural and urban communities which can be sustained by ensuring the appropriate balance of uses and density, making places where people want to be and interact with others. Our communities need the right mix of good quality/well designed homes, jobs, services, infrastructure and facilities so that people feel content with their everyday lives.”
	It goes further to add that Social Considerations include:
	 who are the interested and affected people and communities; 
	 how does the proposal change a person’s way of life, which can include: 
	o how people live, for example how they get around and access services; 
	o how people work, for example access to adequate employment; 
	o how people socialise, for example access to recreation activities; and 
	o how people interact with one another on a daily basis 
	 who will benefit and suffer any impacts from the proposal; 
	 what are the short and long-term consequences of the proposal on a community, including its composition, cohesion, chaater, how it functions and its sense of place; and
	 how does the proposal support development of more equal and more cohesive communities. 
	When referring to housing (at 4.2.1), PPW also emphasises the need for Councils to “make informed development managementdecisions that focus on the creation and enhancement of Sustainable Places”. In this regard, it is considered that Planning has an important role in ensuring not only that new development creates places, and communities, but also that existing communities are protected and enhanced, and that cohesive communities are retained. 
	Evolving Local Context
	Although it is emphasised that it is not directly relevant to this Authority or its decisions, it is also of note that te City & County of Swansea (CCS) adopted its LDP in February 2019, which now includes a HMO Policy, accepted by the LDP Inspectors, and based on local background evidence, notably a report by an independent company called Lichfields.
	That background evidence report, while focussing on CCS, is nevertheless of relevance insofar as it identifies the widernational context.  
	That report notes that: -
	 HMOs represent an efficient use of building resources, where a single house can be fully utilised to provide accommodain for multiple people.
	 Notwithstanding their positive contributions and important socio-economic role, areas with high densities of HMOs can lo be characterised by problems with community cohesion, higher levels of noise and waste complaints, and place a strain on services.
	 The positive impacts of HMOs are realised and, with rising pressures from the increased number of students, the need fraffordable and flexible housing tenancies, and the changes to Housing Benefit, their role within the housing market is increasingly important.
	The analysis undertaken by Lichfields identified a correlation between areas with high densities of HMOs and community chesion issues. These negative impacts were summarised as:
	1. 	Higher levels of transient residents, fewer long term households and established families, leading to communities whch are not balanced;
	2. 	Isolation for the remaining family households in areas with very high concentrations of HMOs;
	3. 	Reduction in provision of community facilities for families and children, in particular pressure on the viability ofschools through falling rolls;
	4. 	Issues of anti-social behaviour, noise, burglary and other crime;
	5. 	Increased pressure regarding on-street parking, although this might be expected in City Centre fringe locations;
	6. 	Reduction in the quality of the local environment and street scene as a consequence of increased litter, lack of suiable refuse storage, refuse left on the street, fly tipping, increased levels of housing disrepair in the private rented sector, and high numbers of letting signs.
	As a consequence of this research, CCS now has an adopted HMO Policy in their LDP. However, the complexity of assessing hether any proposed change of use has a harmful impact on local character or community cohesion is demonstrated by the varying criterion in their Policy, which includes a requirement (outside of their HMO Management areas – these being existing areas of high HMO concentration) for any proposal not to result in more than 10% of all residential  properties within a 50m radius of the proposal being HMOs, and within ‘small streets’ for a proposal to not “create a disproportionate over-concentration of HMOs within that street”. In addition to specifying % rates within designated areas, the policy also requires an assessment of whether the development would have an unacceptable adverse impact caused by noise nuisance and general disturbance. 
	The supporting text to their Policy is also relevant to a wider understanding of the issue, insofar as it emphasises tha there is a need for future HMO provision to be managed sustainably in the interests of fostering cohesive communities, including avoiding instances of over-concentration of HMO properties to the detriment of residential amenity and community balance. These objectives are equally pertinent to consideration of this application.
	It also emphasises that “National research has identified that 10% is a general ‘tipping point’ beyond which the evidenc indicates that a concentration of HMOs can begin to have an adverse impact on the character and balance of a community. This tipping point is described as a threshold beyond which a community can ‘tip’ from a balanced position in terms of demographic norms and impacts, towards a demographic that is noticeably more mixed in terms of shared and family households. 
	Assessment of Current Application
	While it is again emphasised that the CCS Policy context described above is not directly relevant to this assessment, th approach itself is considered to have merit insofar as it is an evidence-based approach that provides a robust rationale for applying a 10% threshold for all areas outside their HMO Management Area. This does not mean, however, that anything over 10% is unacceptable or harmful as a matter of principle - given the need to still demonstrate the harm of such concentrations and the absence of a policy within NPT. 
	In the absence of a HMO Policy, this application has to be determined in line with current LDP Policies. In this respect it is emphasised that the application site is located within the settlement limits defined by Policy SC1 of the LDP and therefore the principle of residential development (albeit a Sui Generis Large HMO use, rather than a Class C3 dwelling house) would be acceptable subject to an assessment of its general impacts. This includes consideration of any potential wider impacts on local character and social / community cohesion created by HMO uses, as well as other amenity / highway issues. It is also notable that the existing residential accommodation is a large 4-bedroom flat split over two floors.
	The wider assessment of the principle, however, should have regard to the Local and National context described earlier, nd it is especially notable that there is a need for this Authority to ensure that the years where there is a ‘policy vacuum’ between the adoption of our current LDP (in January 2016) and conclusion of the review (commencing 2020 and adoption in 2024) is not taken advantage of by developers to the extent that applications are progressed incrementally to the point where the character and cohesion of the local area could be irreparably harmed.
	Within this context, based on the information accessible to the Council, whilst there are 22 properties within this terrced block within which the application site is located, none of them are currently occupied as HMOs. It should be noted that Policies or SPGs adopted by other authorities, including Swansea, have referred to a 50m buffer zone being drawn around the application site and a requirement for consideration of the number of HMOs within that zone. In this case there is 1 known HMO within the zone, which is on the opposite site of Hospital Road (Number 47 Victoria Road).
	Having regard to the guidance in PPW (4.2.1), which emphasises the need for Councils to “make informed development managment decisions that focus on the creation and enhancement of Sustainable Places”, it is considered that Planning has an important role in ensuring not only that new development creates places, and communities, but also that existing communities are protected and enhanced, and that cohesive communities are retained.  
	In this respect, while it is noted that there is often concern in the local community about the potential impact of HMOson local character and social cohesion, there is no known HMO issues in this area, such that even in the absence of a specific HMO Policy within the LDP, there are no grounds to refuse this application relating to the impact on local character or community cohesion.
	Loss of Retail Use
	In respect of Policy SC2 (Protection of Existing Community Facilities), it should be noted that the existing retail use ould be considered a ‘Community Facility’ and as such, would be protected under the requirement of this Policy which states:
	“Any proposals which would result in the loss of an important existing community facility will only be permitted where i can be demonstrated that:

	1. The facility is surplus to requirements; or
	2. The existing use is no longer viable”.
	In support of the application the developer has submitted a detailed assessment which states that “both [points] are appicable to the property because of the emergence of a newer convenience store (Nisa Local) which comes with it the same facilities (Post Office and ATM), albeit within a larger floor area”. In light of this, and following a site visit, it is noted that there is a replacement facility (convenience shop) at the other end of this block of terraced properties, as well as a pharmacy opposite. It is also noted that the property is not located in any designated retail local centre. 
	Some representations have referred to the Post Office no longer operating in the nearby NISA (where it moved to, having reviously been located at the application premises), and in this regard Members’ are advised  that the Post Office website states that the recent closure in January 2021 is a ‘temporary closure’ (albeit the letter states that this is following the withdrawal of the premises for Post Office use).  Nevertheless, it is emphasised that the Post Office is not in the current premises, and no objection could be raised to the loss of the retail use on such grounds, with such matters thus not considered to affect the conclusions above.  
	Accordingly, it is considered that the change of use of this property would not amount to the loss of an ‘important faciity’ in the area and as such, the proposal would comply with the requirements of Policy SC2.
	Impact on Visual Amenity
	It is noted that the external alterations to the property relate to the installation of additional windows to the side/rar elevations, plus the removal of the ATM and former shop entrance and replacement with windows to the front elevation, plus rendering to match the existing side-elevation. The existing fascia sign and roller-shutters would also be removed from the property to ensure it would have a residential, rather than commercial, appearance. 
	In addition to the above, it should be noted that amended plans were submitted by the agent in respect of the front foreourt. It is proposed to create a new front forecourt by construction a 1.6m high brick wall with railings to match the existing dwellings along this side of Victoria Road, again, to ensure that the property has a residential appearance.
	Provided that suitably worded conditions are imposed on the application in respect of the front elevation changes – whic would also require such changes to be made prior to first beneficial use – it is therefore considered that the overall proposal would not have a detrimental impact upon the character and appearance of the surrounding area or street-scene, and would therefore comply with Policies BE1 of the LDP.
	Impact on Residential Amenity
	In respect of potential overlooking, it is noted that the only additional (new) windows would serve the ground-floor rea bedroom, the ground-floor ‘middle’ bedroom and the first-floor ‘middle’ bedroom. Fenestration changes at the front relate to infilling of the existing door and insertion of window in the existing ATM opening.
	As the windows to the front would overlook the street, it is considered that these would not create any unacceptable ovelooking issues. It is also considered that the creation of the new forecourt would provide a degree of privacy for the new occupiers as it would prevent people walking directly past the front windows. In respect of the window to the ground floor rear elevation as it would overlook the existing yard area, it is considered that this would not create any unacceptable overlooking issues. 
	In respect of the new side-facing windows at ground and first floor, it is noted that they have the potential to overloo into the neighbouring properties. However, these windows would overlook the blank-side wall of the existing two-storey rear wing and/or single-storey extension to the rear of Number 43. As such, it is considered that these new windows would not create any unacceptable overlooking issues, which at worst would allow some oblique/partial views into the neighbouring property.
	Turning to potential noise and disturbance, whilst it is acknowledged that the use of the property will be for an 8-bedrom HMO, the Environmental Health Section has assessed the submitted scheme and notes that it has been amended to improve the occupier facilities and the traffic routes through the building.€They advise that the property is a large building that contains an 8 bedroom, 8 bathroom HMO, together with a large kitchen/dining room and a separate lounge, which far exceeds the requirements of the NPTCBC Space and Amenity Standards for HMOs.€They have advised that the proposed bedrooms are so spacious in fact that this HMO could potentially be occupied by up to 24 people and still comply with the NPTCBC Space and Amenity Standards for HMOs. However, the standards for kitchen space provision would prevent the property from being occupied to this level.€With this in mind, they therefore offer no objection to the proposal, subject to a condition limiting the number of occupants to a maximum of 10 persons.€This number of occupants is based on the large bedrooms to the front and rear of the first floor being occupied by 2 persons each, with all other rooms being occupied by 1 person each. 
	Having regard to the advice from the Environmental Health officer, it is also considered that the proposed intensity of se would need to be controlled to ensure that there would be no unacceptable impacts on the area and nearby residents. The existing use of the property, however, is a mixed use of retail and large living accommodation above, and therefore the degree of activity in the property (notably at ground floor) is currently quite high. 
	The proposed layout would introduce two bedrooms on each floor next to the adjoining ‘party’ wall, but in light of the eisting retail use and the existing bedrooms at first floor in these locations, it is considered that there would be unlikely to be any additional or unacceptable impact on the adjoining property.
	Provided that the requested condition limiting to a maximum of ten occupants is imposed on the application, it is therefre considered that the noise and disturbance associated with the comings and goings to and from the property are unlikely to be different when compared to the existing use of that of a large family property. Accordingly, it is considered that the proposed HMO would not lead to unacceptable levels of noise, disturbance or nuisance that would warrant refusal of this application on such grounds. 
	In light of the above, it is considered that there are no justifiable grounds to refuse planning permission on residentil amenity grounds, having particular regard to the fact that if any such issues arise in the future, these can be addressed by the Environmental Health Section under their statutory nuisance powers.
	Parking and Access Requirements and Impact on Highway Safety
	It is noted that the existing property is located on the corner of Victoria Road and Hospital Road, with a mix of both rsidential and commercial properties - the majority of properties being residential. Both roads are governed by Traffic Regulation Orders to an extent, with other areas of unrestricted on-street parking available at both locations. The existing property comprises a ground-floor retail unit (approximately 98m2 of floor space) with 4-bedroom flat above for which the existing car parking requirements (as quoted within the Parking Standards SPG for Zone 3) would require 1 commercial space, plus 2 non-operational spaces for the retail element (1 space per 60m2), and 1 space per bedroom for the flat (which would be a maximum of 3 spaces). The total requirement for the existing use would therefore be potentially 6 spaces. 
	Notwithstanding this, it is noted that there is potentially only 1 parking space on site within the existing store/garag at the rear, although this has restricted access off the rear lane. So without applying any reduction based on sustainability criteria (as per Appendix F of the approved Parking Standards SPG) there is an existing deficiency of 5 spaces.
	In respect of the proposed use, it is noted that as a ‘residential use’ this would require 1 space per bedroom (up to a aximum of 3). The total for the proposed use would therefore be 3 spaces. However, as the existing store/garage will be used for cycle and bin storage no parking would be provided on site. Although the property is in a sustainable location, given the number of bedrooms it is not considered appropriate to reduce the required parking levels further using Appendix F. Accordingly, there would be a deficiency of 3 spaces (i.e. a betterment compared to the existing mixed use).
	The Head of Engineering and Transport (Highways Section) has assessed the proposal and offers no objection to the develoment. This is on the basis that there is no current HMO classification within the approved Supplementary Planning Guidance: Parking Standards (October 2016). The application submission has been therefore assessed against the closest Use Class of C3 (Residential). This would require a maximum provision of 3 parking spaces for the proposed change of use. As such, they have no alternative than to offer no highway objection, as the existing use of the site offers no ‘useable’ off-street parking provision, and would require significantly more parking than the proposed use. They have also noted that “the applicant has sufficiently demonstrated by submitting in writing their intention to vet their proposed tenants with regards to car ownership, which we as the highway authority are happy to accept”.
	Given the above, and the extent of local concerns on parking grounds, it is further emphasised that: -
	 Even were the proposed use split into two flats of 4 bedrooms each – with a parking requirement of 2 x 3 = 6 spaces - i would still not be possible or reasonable to refuse planning permission on parking grounds given the fact that there would be no additional detriment or deficiency compared to the existing authorised use of the premises.
	 Even considering these to be bedsits (the key difference between an HMO and a bedsit is that the term ‘HMO’ refers to h whole building, whereas ‘bedsit’ refers to a single self-contained unit (i.e. studio-flat) within a building), it would not be reasonable to refuse.  This is because the parking requirement for 8 bedsits would be 1 x parking space per unit, along with a visitor parking provision of 1 x space per 5 units, which would add 1 space to the required 8 spaces giving a total of 9 parking spaces required. However, as the site is located within a highly sustainable area the sustainability tool would be applied to the proposal, with the site accruing 7 points which equates to the reduction of 1 space per unit, which would effectively remove any parking provision requirement, and refusal could not be substantiated when the existing residential element of the use has no existing/useable off-street car parking. 
	Turning to the proposed front forecourt boundary, it should be noted that the Head of Engineering and Transport (Highway Section) has also confirmed no objection to this element, subject to the gate opening inwards. It is noted that there is existing street-furniture on the footway outside the application site, including a redundant pole, nevertheless the Authority’s Highway Surveyor has confirmed that the pole will be removed shortly, as it is no longer required on site. Provided this pole is removed, it is therefore considered that the remaining footway would be sufficient for pedestrians – albeit smaller than existing. 
	To summarise, given the existing use and the lack of parking provision on site, together with the sustainable location o the site (with potential also that the applicant can control car use by their tenants), it is considered that the overall proposal would be acceptable in terms of highway and pedestrian safety, and refusal of the application on highway/parking grounds could not be substantiated at appeal stage.
	Contaminated Land
	It should be noted that the site has been identified as potentially contaminated land. However, as the Contaminated LandUnit offers no objection to the proposal, it is considered that existing and future users of the site would not be adversely affected by ground contamination in terms of exposure to pollution.
	Other Matters
	As identified earlier in this report, a number of objections were received in response following the publicity exercise.In response to the main issues raised, which have not been addressed elsewhere in this report, the following comments are made:
	 In respect of the concerns regarding the future occupiers of the property it should be noted that this is not a materilplanning consideration, so cannot be taken into account when determining this application.
	 With regards to the comments relating to the size of the ‘bubble’ this proposal would create under the current pandemi,it should be noted that this would not be grounds for refusal in planning terms and could not be substantiated at appeal. It should be noted that all residents would need to comply with the necessary Government guidance and rules surrounding the COVID-19 pandemic.
	 Turning to the comments that the proposal will decrease property values, it should be noted that this is not a materia lanning consideration, so cannot be taken into account when determining this application.
	 In respect of the concerns regarding the vacant shop opposite, which could also turn into an HMO if this is approved, tshould be noted that there is no ‘precedent’ under Planning and each application is considered on its individual merits at the time of the application. Therefore, should this application be approved, it does not set a precedent for the property opposite.
	 In relation to the comments concerning bin-storage, it should be noted that internal bin storage is indicated on the pas, and it would be for the landlord/developer to agree the most appropriate bin storage details and provision with the Waste/Refuse Section of the Authority (i.e. 1 large communal bin or separate smaller bins). It should also be noted that if there are any issues with waste storage or distribution then the Waste Enforcement Section and/or Environmental Health Section have powers to enforce against the landlord as the responsibility lies with them.
	 With regards to the concerns regarding anti-social behaviour from HMOs, such as litter from needles and cans it shouldb noted that this is not a material planning consideration and would be a Police matter.
	 Turning to the concerns regarding the safety of children these are noted. However, this would not be a planning or jusiiable reason to refuse the application.
	 In respect of the concerns regarding the potential for loud music this is not a planning matter, and would be for Enviomental Health to investigate under their noise nuisance legislation.
	 With regards to the comments that Council Tax should be reduced if this is approved, it should be noted that this is ant a material planning consideration and is something that would need to be taken up with the Council Tax Section.
	 In relation to the comment that this site should be turned into a car parking area, it should be noted that the Local lnning Authority needs to determine the application as submitted. In any case, the area may not be suitable for car parking given the proximity to the junction.
	 With regards to the comments regarding the location of the site opposite a pharmacy, near a school (Tywyn) and playgron (Vivian Park) it should be noted that these would not be a justifiable reason to refuse the application.
	 Turning to the comments that controls need to be put in place to control the occupiers to prevent anti-social problems t should be noted that there is no justifiable planning reason for this, and it would be down to the discretion of the landlord/owner.
	 In respect of the query whether the developers have any qualifications that will help the tenants it should be noted ta this is not a material planning consideration.
	 With regards to the comments regarding disabled access, it should be noted that this is not a material planning considrtion and would be covered under Building Regulations. Nevertheless, it is noted that en-suite bedrooms are proposed (together kitchen and lounge areas) on the ground-floor and ramped access could potentially be provided via the rear.
	 In respect of the concerns that this proposal could increase crime in the area it should be noted that this is not a mtrial planning consideration and would be a Police matter.
	 In relation to the comments that the proposal would result in the loss of light and air for tenants it should be notedtat these are not material planning considerations in their own right, but the impact upon residential amenity is, and is fully detailed above.
	 Turning to the comments regarding that HMOs are generally poorly managed and maintained, and will attract numerous prolms, it should be noted that this would not be a reason for refusal of this application. It should be noted that the management of HMOs is monitored and controlled by the Environmental Health Section.
	 With regards to the comment that a public consultation with local residents is require, it should be noted that the negbouring property (attached) has been consulted by letter and site notices erected. To date, 87 letters have been submitted concerning the application.
	 In respect of the comments that there are existing problems with the current HMO in the area and an additional one wil xacerbate these, it should be noted that this would not be a reason for refusal of the application. It should also be noted that 
	 Finally, in respect of the comments that the existing shop did not close due to lack on trade, and that the Post Offic nd ATM have been removed from the nearby Nisa shop, it should be noted that the loss of the community facility has been addressed in the report above.
	CONCLUSION
	The decision to recommend planning permission has been taken in accordance with Section 38 of The Planning and Compulsor Purchase Act 2004, which requires that, in determining a planning application the determination must be in accordance with the Development Plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.  The Development Plan comprises the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan (2011–2026) adopted January 2016.
	It is considered that the loss of the existing retail premises is acceptable, and that the proposed development would no have an unacceptable impact upon residential amenity or upon the character and appearance of the surrounding area, and there would be no adverse impact upon highway and pedestrian safety. Hence, the proposed development would be in accordance with Policies SC1, SC2, TR2 and BE1 of the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan. 
	It is further considered that the decision complies with the Council’s well-being objectives and the sustainable developent principle in accordance with the requirements of the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015.
	RECOMMENDATION 	Approve subject to conditions
	Conditions:- 
	Time Limit Conditions
	1	The development shall begin no later than five years from the date of this decision. 
	Reason: 
	To comply with the requirements of Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.
	List of Approved Plans
	2	The development shall be carried out in accordance with the following approved plans and documents: 
	Dwg. No. U.2/0 Rev 00.
	Dwg. No. U.2/01 Rev 00.
	Dwg. No. U.2/02.
	Dwg. No. U.2/03 Rev 00.
	Dwg. No. U.2/04 Rev 00.
	Dwg. No. U.2/05 Rev 00.
	Dwg. No. U.2/06 Rev 00.
	Reason: 
	In the interests of clarity.
	Pre-Commencement Conditions
	3	Prior to the first beneficial use of the House of Multiple Occupation (HMO) hereby approved, the ATM, roller-shutters,fascia sign and entrance door shall be removed from the site and made good, and the front elevation rendered to match the existing building and the front forecourt constructed as per Dwg. No. U.2/03 Rev 00, and retained as such thereafter.
	Reason:
	In the interest of visual amenity of the street-scene and to ensure that the property has a domestic (not commercial) apearance, and to comply with the requirements of Policy BE1 of the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan.
	Action Conditions
	4	Prior to the first beneficial use of the House of Multiple Occupation (HMO) hereby approved a 2m high close-boarded fece or wall shall be provided along the common-boundary with Number 43 Victoria Road in the rear yard area, and retained as such thereafter.
	Reason:  
	In the interest of residential amenity due to side-facing windows, and to ensure compliance with Policy BE1 of the NeathPort Talbot Local Development Plan.
	Regulatory Conditions
	5	The House of Multiple Occupation (HMO) hereby approved shall be restricted to a maximum occupancy of 10 people at any ime.
	Reason:
	In the interest of residential amenity and highway safety, and to comply with Policies BE1 and TR2 of the Neath Port Talot Local Development Plan.
	6	The gate hereby approved to the front forecourt shall be of a type which open inward only and not over the footway, an shall be retained as such thereafter.
	Reason:
	In the in interest of highway and pedestrian safety and to ensure compliance with Policy TR2 of the Neath Port Talbot Loal Development Plan.

	7 Enforcement - Non-Expediency Report - Goshen Park Access, Skewen
	SECTION A
	ENFORCEMENT NON-EXPEDIENCY REPORT: GOSHEN PARK 
	Background Information
	Members will be very aware of the recent flooding events at and around Goshen Park in Skewen which have caused such devatation and impacts to property and people’s lives.
	One such consequential impact of the Mine Shaft Blow-Out has been to preclude all vehicular access to the existing propeties at Goshen Park, something which the Coal Authority have been urgently working with homeowners and Officers from the Council to temporarily address.
	The temporary solution has been to create a new access between no’s 36 and 37 Goshen Park, linking the roundabout at thehead of Goshen Park with Drumau Road.  The existing residential layout is shown on the OS plan below, with the plan below showing the temporary access arrangements.  Such a new access requires planning permission.
	/
	The new access creates a crossroads with Pennshannel opposite and, being located on the inside of a bend in the road, isin highway terms not a form of access which would be acceptable other than in the extreme circumstances the residents are facing in Goshen Park.  Moreover, such an access will undoubtedly have short-term impacts on the amenity of the occupants of the properties to either side were these to be occupied while the temporary access road was operational. Therefore, such an access can only be accommodated on a temporary basis. The Coal Authority is currently designing a scheme to cap and stabilise the mine shaft which is located close to the junction between Goshen Park and Drummau Road as well as designing a more permanent mine water scheme to capture the water which is currently discharging from the blowout hole within the driveway of No1 Goshen Park. It is anticipated that these works will take approximately three to six months to complete respectively. The temporary access road will be required for the duration of this period.
	Because of the urgency associated with the post-flooding circumstances on the ground, i.e. the need to return residents ack to their homes, the Coal Authority has already undertaken these access works, which are therefore technically unauthorised.  The Council and its Highway Officers however are aware of such works, with the latter monitoring the access to ensure it does not have unacceptable impacts.  The constructed access is shown on the photographs below.
	The purpose of this report is therefore to advise Members of the extent of unauthorised works that have been undertaken,and to seek their approval of a decision that it would not be expedient for the Authority to take any enforcement action against this temporary access. It will however, be essential that such works are removed and land, gardens and boundaries etc. are fully reinstated once the access is no longer required.
	RECOMMENDATION
	That Members resolve that it would not be expedient to pursue any enforcement action in respect of the unauthorised acces works identified in this report, provided the Coal Authority reinstate the land to its former condition once the original access into Goshen Park is available for pedestrian and vehicular traffic.


